Arithmetic bigness and a uniform Bogomolov-type result

Xinyi Yuan

February 28, 2023

Contents

1	Intr	oduction	3
	1.1	Uniform Bogomolov-type result	3
	1.2	Potential bigness	5
	1.3	Admissible canonical bundle	10
	1.4	Bigness of admissible canonical bundle	11
	1.5	Uniform fiberwise bigness	14
	1.6	Notations and terminology	15
2	Adr	nissible adelic line bundles	16
	2.1	Review on adelic line bundles	16
	2.2	Admissible adelic line bundles	26
		2.2.1 Basics on Jacobian schemes	27
		2.2.2 Admissible extensions	28
		2.2.3 Construction of canonical admissible extensions	30
	2.3	Intersection and pull-back	31
		2.3.1 Adjunction formula and Hodge index theorem	32
		2.3.2 Pull-back formula: general	33
		2.3.3 Pull-back formula: explicit examples	35
3	Big	ness of the admissible canonical bundle	38
	3.1	Basics on the moduli space of curves	39
		3.1.1 Basics on the moduli space	39
		3.1.2 Pull-back to arbitrary families	40

		3.1.3 Stable compactification	2
	3.2	Passing to the relative dualizing sheaf	3
	3.3	Lower bound of the pairing	5
		3.3.1 Zhang's φ -invariant	5
		3.3.2 Globalization $\overline{\Phi}$ of the φ -invariant	6
		3.3.3 The lower bound	7
		3.3.4 Cinkir's bound	9
		3.3.5 A special adelic line bundle	0
	3.4	Bigness in the geometric case	1
	3.5	Bigness in the arithmetic case	2
4	Uni	form Bogomolov-type theorem 5	5
	4.1	Potentially big line bundles	
		4.1.1 A quick criterion	
		4.1.2 Consequence on small points	
	4.2	Three potentially big examples	
	4.3	The uniform Bogomolov-type theorem: statement 6	
		4.3.1 Normalization of the heights	6
		4.3.2 The non-isotriviality condition	
		4.3.3 An easy lower bound $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 7$	0
	4.4	The uniform Bogomolov-type theorem: proof	1
		4.4.1 Part 1: number field	1
		4.4.2 Part 2: function fields $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 7$	4
		4.4.3 Part 3: uniformity of constants	6
	4.5	Uniform fiberwise bigness	8
	4.6	Non-degeneracy and relative Bogomolov conjecture 8	0
		4.6.1 Generality on non-degeneracy	0
		4.6.2 Three non-degeneracy examples	1
		4.6.3 Generality on the relative Bogomolov conjecture 8	4
		4.6.4 Three examples of the relative Bogomolov conjecture . 8	5
A	Adr	nissible metrized line bundles 8	5
	A.1	Arakelov metrics in the complex case	6
	A.2	Zhang metrics in the non-archimedean case	7
	A.3	Admissible metrics	1
	A.4	Construction of the Zhang metrics	3
	A.5	Zhang's construction by graph theory	8
	A.6	General valuation fields	2

1 Introduction

In this paper, we study some positivity properties in Arakelov geometry, and apply them to obtain a uniform Diophantine property on curves. More precisely, the paper achieves the following three goals.

- (1) Extend Zhang's theory of admissible metrics from projective curves to families of projective curves (cf. §2).
- (2) Prove the bigness of the admissible canonical bundle of the universal family over the moduli space of curves introduced in (1) (cf. §3). This is the main theorem of this paper.
- (3) Prove a uniform Bogomolov-type theorem for curves over global fields as a consequence of the bigness result in (2) (cf. §4).

Our whole treatment is based on the recent theory of adelic line bundles of Yuan–Zhang [YZ2], a limit version of the intersection theory in algebraic geometry and the arithmetic intersection theory of Arakelov [Ara] and Gillet–Soulé [GS]. Our proof of the bigness in (2) relies on the results of Zhang [Zha1, Zha3], Cinkir [Cin1] and de Jong [dJo2] on lower bounds of the self-intersection numbers of the admissible canonical bundles of curves over global fields.

Our uniform Bogomolov-type theorem generalizes and strengthens the uniform Bogomolov-type theorem of Dimitrov–Gao–Habegger [DGH1] and Kühne [Kuh]. This gives an alternative proof of their result on the uniform Mordell–Lang problem proposed by Mazur [Maz]. Our approach does not use the o-minimality theory, and works over function fields of arbitrary characteristics, but it relies on more algebraic geometry and Arakelov geometry.

1.1 Uniform Bogomolov-type result

Let C be a smooth projective curve of genus g > 1 over $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$. In our convention, all curves are assumed to be geometrically connected over the base field. The Bogomolov conjecture proved by Ullmo [Ull] asserts that for any divisor α on C of degree 1, there is a constant c > 0 such that

$$#\{x \in C(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}) : \widehat{h}(x-\alpha) \le c\} < \infty.$$

Here $\widehat{h} : J(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}) \to \mathbb{R}$ denotes the Néron–Tate height function on the Jacobian variety J of C. The proof of the loc. cit. is based on the celebrated equidistribution theorem of Szpiro–Ullmo–Zhang [SUZ].

Recently, a uniform version of this theorem was proved by Dimitrov–Gao– Habegger [DGH1] and Kühne [Kuh]. In fact, the new gap principle in [Gao2, Thm. 4.1], as a combination of [DGH1, Prop. 7.1] and [Kuh, Thm. 3], asserts that there are constants $c_1, c_2 > 0$ depending only on g > 1 such that for any smooth projective curve C over $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$ of genus g, and for any $y \in C(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$,

$$\#\{x \in C(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}) : h(x-y) \le c_1 \max\{h_{Fal}(C), 1\}\} \le c_2.$$

Here $h_{\text{Fal}}(C) = h_{\text{Fal}}(J)$ denotes the stable Faltings height of the Jacobian variety J.

The new gap principle has a significant consequence to the uniform Mordell-Lang problem proposed by Mazur [Maz, pp.234]. Recall that the Mordell conjecture was proved by Faltings [Fal1], and a different proof was given by Vojta [Voj]. Vojta's proof was simplified and extended by Faltings [Fal2] to prove the Mordell–Lang conjecture for subvarieties of abelian varieties, and was further simplified by Bombieri [Bom] in the original case of curves. The proofs of [Voj, Fal2, Bom] actually gave an upper bound of the number of points of large heights, which was further refined by de Diego [dDi] and Rémond [Rem]. Combining the upper bound with the new gap principle, we obtain the uniform bound on the number of rational points in [Kuh, Thm. 4], which asserts that there is a constant c > 0 depending only on g > 1such that for any smooth projective curve C of genus g over an algebraically closed field F of characteristic 0, for any $y \in C(F)$, and for any subgroup $\Gamma \subset J(F)$ of finite rank,

$$#\{x \in C(F) : x - y \in \Gamma\} \le c^{1 + \operatorname{rank} \Gamma}$$

Our first result is the following uniform version of the Bogomolov conjecture, which strengthens and generalizes the new gap principle of [DGH1, Kuh].

Theorem 1.1 (Theorem 4.7). Let g > 1 be an integer. Then there are constants $c_1, c_2 > 0$ depending only on g satisfying the following properties. Let K be either a number field or a function field of one variable over a field k. Then for any geometrically integral, smooth and projective curve C of genus g over K, and for any line bundle $\alpha \in \text{Pic}(C_{\overline{K}})$ of degree 1, with the extra assumption that $(C_{\overline{K}}, \alpha)$ is non-isotrivial over \overline{k} in the case that K is a function field of one variable over a field k, one has

$$\#\left\{x\in C(\overline{K}):\widehat{h}(x-\alpha)\leq c_1\left(\max\{h_{\operatorname{Fal}}(C),1\}+\widehat{h}((2g-2)\alpha-\omega_{C/K})\right)\right\}\leq c_2.$$

Here a number field means a finite extension of \mathbb{Q} , and a function field of one variable over k means a finitely generated field extension of k of transcendence degree 1. In the function field case, we say that $(C_{\overline{K}}, \alpha)$ is non-isotrivial over \overline{k} if it is not isomorphic to the base change from \overline{k} to \overline{K} of any pair (C_0, α_0) consisting of a smooth projective curve C_0 over \overline{k} and a line bundle $\alpha_0 \in \operatorname{Pic}(C_0)$ of degree 1. We refer to §4.3.1 for the normalization of the heights involved in the theorem.

Our theorem is stronger and more general than the new gap principle of [DGH1, Kuh] by the following aspects:

- (1) it has an extra non-negative term $\hat{h}((2g-2)\alpha \omega_{C/K})$ in the formula;
- (2) it allows α to be in $\operatorname{Pic}^{1}(C_{\overline{K}})$ instead of just in $C(\overline{K})$;
- (3) it is valid for global fields of all characteristics instead of just number fields, and the constants c_1 and c_2 are uniform for all these fields.

Our proof is very different from that of [DGH1, Kuh], and the key ingredient is a bigness result of adelic line bundles on the universal curve. We will come back to that in the next subsection.

In the function field case, Looper–Silverman–Wilms [LSW, Thm. 1.2] proves a similar bound independently. By Theorem 1.4 below, their bound can be converted to our bound without the extra term $\hat{h}((2g-2)\alpha - \omega_{C/K})$. We refer to the explanation after Theorem 1.4 for more details on their result.

It is also worth noting that an explicit uniform bound on the Mordell– Lang problem over function fields of positive characteristic p > 0 was previously obtained by Buium–Voloch [BV] using jet schemes.

1.2 Potential bigness

Our exposition is based on the theory of adelic line bundles on quasi-projective varieties of Yuan–Zhang [YZ2], which generalizes the projective case of Zhang [Zha2]. In [YZ2], the base ring k is set to be either \mathbb{Z} or an arbitrary field, and the main definitions give a notion of adelic line bundles on X/k for any quasi-projective integral scheme X over k. Roughly speaking, an adelic line

bundle on X is a reasonable limit of a sequence of hermitian line bundles (or usual line bundles if k is a field) on projective models of X over k. As a convention, we only require hermitian line bundles to have continuous metrics (instead smooth metrics). The adelic line bundles have nice functorial properties, analytification properties, intersection theory, positivity properties, and volume theory.

Let k be either \mathbb{Z} or a field. Let S be a quasi-projective and flat normal integral scheme over k. Let $\pi : X \to S$ be a smooth relative curve over S of genus g > 1, i.e., a smooth projective morphism whose fibers are curves of genus g. Denote by $J \to S$ the relative Jacobian scheme over S.

Our Néron–Tate height is based on a canonically defined line bundle Θ on J satisfying the following properties:

- (1) Θ is symmetric and rigidified along the identity section of $J \to S$;
- (2) the restriction of Θ to geometric fibers of $J \to S$ are algebraically equivalent to twice of theta divisors.

As a consequence, Θ is relatively ample. The construction of Θ is known to experts and reviewed in Definition 2.4.

By [YZ2, Thm. 6.1.1], there is a nef adelic line bundle Θ on J/k extending Θ such that $[2]^*\overline{\Theta} = 4\overline{\Theta}$ in $\widehat{\text{Pic}}(J/k)$. Here $\widehat{\text{Pic}}(J/k)$ is the group of adelic line bundles on J/k in the sense of [YZ2], and an adelic line bundle is *nef* if it is the limit of nef hermitian (or usual) line bundles on projective models of J over k in a suitable sense. This generalizes the construction of Zhang [Zha2] from the case $S = \text{Spec }\mathbb{Z}$ to general base S.

Let α be a line bundle on X of degree 1 on fibers of $X \to S$. Then we have an immersion

 $i_{\alpha}: X \longrightarrow J, \quad x \longmapsto x - \alpha.$

We obtain an adelic line bundle $i_{\alpha}^*\overline{\Theta}$ on X by pull-back.

On the other hand, consider the morphism

 $\tau:J\times_S X\longrightarrow J\times_S J,\quad (y,x)\longmapsto (y,y+(2g-2)x-\omega_{X/S}).$

This morphism agrees with the J-morphism

$$i_{\omega-Q}: X_J \longrightarrow J_J, \quad x \longmapsto (2g-2)x - (\omega_{X_J/J} - Q).$$

Here we denote $X_J = J \times_S X$ and $J_J = J \times_S J$, viewed as J-schemes via the first projections $q_1 : X_J \to J$ and $p_1 : J_J \to J$. Here J_J is canonically isomorphic to the Jacobian scheme of X_J over J, and Q is a universal line bundle on $J \times_S X$ in a suitable sense. Denote by $\overline{\Theta}_J = p_2^* \overline{\Theta}$ the adelic line bundle on J_J by the pull-back via the second projection $p_2 : J \times_S J \to J$. Then we obtain an adelic line bundle $\tau^*(\overline{\Theta}_J)$ on X_J by pull-back.

Finally, we have the following bigness result.

Theorem 1.2 (Theorem 4.5). Let k be either \mathbb{Z} or a field. Assume that the family $\pi : X \to S$ has maximal variation. Then the following hold:

(1) The adelic line bundle $\pi_*\langle i^*_{\alpha}\overline{\Theta}, i^*_{\alpha}\overline{\Theta}\rangle$ is nef and big on S.

(2) The adelic line bundle $q_{1*}\langle \tau^*(\overline{\Theta}_J), \tau^*(\overline{\Theta}_J) \rangle$ is nef and big on J.

Here we say that the family $\pi : X \to S$ has maximal variation if the moduli morphism $S \to M_{g,k}$ is generically finite, where $M_{g,k}$ denotes the coarse moduli scheme of smooth curves of genus g over k.

Recall that a nef adelic line bundle is big if its top self-intersection number (as defined in [YZ2, Prop. 4.1.1]) is strictly positive. The notation

$$\pi_*\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle : \widehat{\operatorname{Pic}}(X) \times \widehat{\operatorname{Pic}}(X) \longrightarrow \widehat{\operatorname{Pic}}(S)$$

denotes the Deligne pairing introduced in [YZ2, Thm. 4.1.3].

Let us explain how the bigness result implies our uniform Bogomolovtype theorem in Theorem 1.1. Consider the line bundle $\overline{L} = \tau^*(\overline{\Theta}_J)$ on X_J . Over the *m*-fold fiber product

$$(X_J)_{J}^m = (X_J) \times_J \cdots \times_J (X_J),$$

we have a nef adelic line bundle

$$\overline{L}_m = \overline{L}^{\boxtimes m} = p_1^* \overline{L} + \dots + p_m^* \overline{L}.$$

Denote $d = \dim J$. If $m \ge d$, expand the top self-intersection number

$$\overline{L}_m^{d+m} = (p_1^* \overline{L} + p_2^* \overline{L} + \dots + p_m^* \overline{L})^{d+m}.$$

The expansion includes the term

$$(p_1^*\overline{L})^2 \cdots (p_d^*\overline{L})^2 \cdot (p_{d+1}^*\overline{L}) \cdots (p_m^*\overline{L}) = a^{m-d} (q_{1*} \langle \tau^*(\overline{\Theta}_J), \tau^*(\overline{\Theta}_J) \rangle)^d > 0.$$

Here *a* denotes the degree of \overline{L} on the generic fiber of $q_1 : X_J \to J$, and the top self-intersection number $(q_{1*}\langle \tau^*(\overline{\Theta}_J), \tau^*(\overline{\Theta}_J) \rangle)^d$ on J is strictly positive by Theorem 1.2(2).

Therefore, \overline{L}_m is big on $(X_J)_{/J}^m$ for all integers $m \ge d$. We say that \overline{L} is *potentially big* on $X_J/J/k$ in this situation. We remark that our notion of *potential bigness* has some similarity with the notion of *correlation* of Caporaso–Harris–Mazur [CHM].

With the bigness result, our next key step to prove Theorem 1.1 is to apply the height inequality (and some variants) in [YZ2, Thm. 5.3.5]. To illustrate the idea, we only consider the case that K is a number field (and thus $k = \mathbb{Z}$). Take S to be a fine moduli space of smooth curves of genus g over $\mathbb{Z}[1/N]$ with a suitable full level-N structure, and take $X \to S$ to be the universal curve. Fix an integer $m \ge d$. As a consequence of the height inequality, for any adelic line bundle \overline{M} on J/\mathbb{Z} , there is a non-empty Zariski open subscheme U of $(X_J)_{J}^m$ such that

$$h_{\overline{L}_m}(x) \ge \epsilon h_{\overline{M}}(\pi_m(x)), \quad \forall x \in U(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}).$$

Here $\pi_m: (X_J)_{/J}^m \to J$ denotes the structure morphism.

For convenience, we sketch an idea to prove the height inequality taking advantage of the condition that \overline{L}_m is nef and big. We can first reduce to the case that \overline{M} is nef by [YZ2, Lem. 5.1.6(1)]. Then the key is [YZ2, Thm. 5.2.2(2)], the adelic version of the bigness theorems of Siu [Siu] and Yuan [Yua]. It implies that for any nef adelic line bundle \overline{M} on J, viewed as an adelic line bundle on $(X_J)_{IJ}^m$ via pull-back, we have

$$\widehat{\operatorname{vol}}(\overline{L}_m - \epsilon \overline{M}) \ge \overline{L}_m^{d+m} - (d+m)\overline{L}_m^{d+m-1} \cdot \epsilon \overline{M} > 0$$

for some rational number $\epsilon > 0$. Then some multiple of $\overline{L}_m - \epsilon \overline{M}$ has a nonzero effective section. Away from the zero locus Z of this effective section, we have

$$h_{\overline{L}_m-\epsilon\overline{M}}(x) \ge 0, \quad \forall x \in ((X_J)_{/J}^m \setminus Z)(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$$

Once we have the height inequality, choose the adelic line bundle \overline{M} on J by

$$\overline{M} = \overline{\Theta} + \overline{\lambda}_S + \mathcal{O}(c)$$

Here $\overline{\Theta}$ is as above, $\overline{\lambda}_S$ is the (hermitian) Hodge (line) bundle on S associated to the abelian scheme $J \to S$, and $\mathcal{O}(c)$ with c > 0 is a hermitian line bundle on Spec \mathbb{Z} of arithmetic degree c. Here $\overline{\lambda}_S$ and $\mathcal{O}(c)$ are viewed as adelic line bundles on J/\mathbb{Z} by pull-back. For any point $y \in J(\overline{K})$ with image $s \in S(\overline{K})$, we have

$$h_{\overline{M}}(y) = 2h(y) + h_{\mathrm{Fal}}(X_s) + c.$$

This essentially dominates the term

 $\max\{h_{\operatorname{Fal}}(C),1\} + \widehat{h}((2g-2)\alpha - \omega_{C/K})$

in Theorem 1.1.

Finally, with an induction and some extra arguments, this eventually implies Theorem 1.1. This gives the idea of the proof of the theorem in the number field case.

The function field case is proved similarly by applying the above argument to moduli spaces over k (instead of over \mathbb{Z}) and paying special attention to definitions of height functions and non-isotriviality. The uniformity of (c_1, c_2) on K is obtained by applying the above arguments for all K to a single moduli space over \mathbb{Z} .

There are two other consequences of the bigness of \overline{L}_m for $m \geq \dim J$. The first consequence is that in the arithmetic case $k = \mathbb{Z}$, the morphism $(X_J)_{/J}^m \times_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Q} \to (J_J)_{/J}^m \times_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Q}$ for all integers $m \geq \dim J$ satisfies the relative Bogomolov conjecture proposed by [DGH2, Conj.1.2]. This can be easily seen from the above height inequality. The second consequence of the bigness is that if k is a field of any characteristic, the morphism $(X_J)_{/J}^m \to (J_J)_{/J}^m$ is non-degenerate for all integers $m \geq \dim J$, in terms of the definition of non-degeneracy in [YZ2, §6.2.2].

The morphism $X_{/S}^m \to J_{/S}^m$ also satisfies similar properties for $m \ge \dim S$. Moreover, by a similar method, we deduce that if k is a field, and $\pi : X \to S$ has maximal variation, then the Faltings–Zhang morphism

 $i_{\mathrm{FZ},m}: X_{/S}^{m+1} \longrightarrow J_{/S}^m, \quad (x_0, \cdots, x_m) \longmapsto (x_1 - x_0, \cdots, x_m - x_0)$

is non-degenerate for all $m \ge \dim S + 1$. These non-degeneracy results generalize [Gao1, Thm. 1.2(i), Thm 1.2'] to base fields k of all characteristics. We refer to §4.6 for more details.

The proof of the non-degeneracy in [Gao1] is based on the o-minimality theory and works only in characteristic 0, while our result is valid for families of curves in all characteristics. The proof of the new gap principle in [DGH1, Kuh] depends crucially on the non-degeneracy of the Faltings–Zhang map proved in [Gao1], while our proof of Theorem 1.1 does not need the nondegeneracy, but deduces the non-degeneracy as a consequence of the potential bigness.

Another crucial tool of the proof of [Kuh] is an equidistribution theorem, while our crucial tool is the arithmetic bigness. For a more precise comparison, recall that the original Bogomolov conjecture was proved by Ullmo [Ull] in terms of the equidistribution theorem of [SUZ], and a second proof in terms of bounding the self-intersection number of the admissible canonical bundle was obtained along the line of Zhang [Zha1, Zha3], Cinkir [Cin1] and de Jong [dJo2]. Then the treatment of [Kuh] is a family version of that of [SUZ, Ull], and our treatment is a family version of that of [Zha1, Zha3, Cin1, dJo2].

1.3 Admissible canonical bundle

Let K be a number field or a function field of one variable. Let C be a smooth projective curve of genus g > 1 over K. Let $\omega_{C/K}$ be the relative dualizing sheaf, and $\Delta \subset C^2$ be the diagonal divisor. By the construction of Zhang [Zha1], there are a canonical adelic line bundle $\overline{\omega}_{C/K,a}$ on C extending $\omega_{C/K}$, and a canonical adelic line bundle $\overline{\mathcal{O}}(\Delta)_a$ on C^2 extending $\mathcal{O}(\Delta)$. The metrics of $\overline{\omega}_{C/K,a}$ and $\overline{\mathcal{O}}(\Delta)_a$ at an archimedean place are the Arakelov metrics introduced by Arakelov [Ara], and the metrics of $\overline{\omega}_{C/K,a}$ and $\overline{\mathcal{O}}(\Delta)_a$ at a non-archimedean place are the admissible metrics introduced by Zhang [Zha1].

The adelic line bundles $\overline{\omega}_{C/K,a}$ and $\overline{\mathcal{O}}(\Delta)_a$ satisfy many nice properties. For example, the canonical isomorphism $\mathcal{O}(\Delta)|_{\Delta} \to \omega_{C/K}^{\vee}$ is an isometry. The curvatures of $\overline{\mathcal{O}}(\Delta)_a$ on closed fibers of the projections $p_i : C^2 \to C$ are proportional to the curvature of $\overline{\omega}_{C/K,a}$ on C at all places.

Note that [Zha1] was written before [Zha2], but the treatment works without much difficulty in the terminology of [Zha2] as we review in §A. One goal of this paper is to introduce a family version of the admissible canonical bundle in the terminology of [YZ2].

Let k be either \mathbb{Z} or a field. Let S be a quasi-projective normal scheme over k. Let $\pi : X \to S$ be a smooth relative curve over S of genus g > 1. Let $\omega_{X/S}$ be the relative dualizing sheaf, and $\Delta \subset X_{/S}^2$ be the diagonal divisor. In Theorem 2.3, we will introduce a canonical adelic line bundle $\overline{\omega}_{X/S,a}$ on X extending $\omega_{X/S}$, and a canonical adelic line bundle $\overline{\mathcal{O}}(\Delta)_a$ on $X_{/S}^2$ extending $\mathcal{O}(\Delta)$. The extensions are uniquely determined by the properties that at any point $s \in S$, whose residue field is a number field if $k = \mathbb{Z}$ and is a function field of one variable over k if k is a field, the pull-backs $\overline{\omega}_{X/S,a}|_{X_s}$ and $\overline{\mathcal{O}}(\Delta)_a|_{X_s^2}$ are canonically isomorphic to the admissible adelic line bundles $\overline{\omega}_{X_s/s,a}$ on X_s and $\overline{\mathcal{O}}(\Delta_s)_a$ on X_s^2 of [Zha1].

While the construction of Zhang [Zha1] uses graph theory, our construction uses the canonical metrics of line bundles on the relative Jacobian scheme. In fact, we can define $\overline{\omega}_{X/S,a}$ by the formula

$$\overline{\omega}_{X/S,a} = \frac{1}{4g(g-1)} i_{\omega}^* \overline{\Theta} + \frac{1}{64g^2(g-1)^4} \pi^* \pi_* \langle i_{\omega}^* \overline{\Theta}, i_{\omega}^* \overline{\Theta} \rangle$$

in $\widehat{\operatorname{Pic}}(X/k)_{\mathbb{Q}}$. Here $\overline{\Theta}$ is the adelic line bundle on the relative Jacobian J as above, and i_{ω} is the canonical morphism

$$i_{\omega}: X \longrightarrow J, \quad x \longmapsto (2g-2)x - \omega_{X/S}.$$

By the formula, we immediately see that $\overline{\omega}_{X/S,a}$ is nef on X. We refer to Theorem 2.10 for more formulae of this type.

1.4 Bigness of admissible canonical bundle

The following is our main theorem of this paper.

Theorem 1.3 (Theorem 3.1). Let k be either \mathbb{Z} or a field. Let S be a quasiprojective and flat normal integral scheme over k. Let $\pi : X \to S$ be a smooth relative curve over S of genus g > 1 with maximal variation. Then the adelic line bundle $\overline{\omega}_{X/S,a}$ is nef and big on X.

Once $\overline{\omega}_{X/S,a}$ is nef and big on X, the Deligne pairing $\pi_* \langle \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a}, \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a} \rangle$ is nef and big on S. Then Theorem 1.2(2) is obtained by the identity

$$q_{1*}\langle \tau^*(\overline{\Theta}_J), \tau^*(\overline{\Theta}_J) \rangle = 16(g-1)^3 \overline{\Theta} + 16g(g-1)^3 \pi_J^* \pi_* \langle \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a}, \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a} \rangle$$

in $\widehat{\text{Pic}}(J/k)$. A similar formula gives Theorem 1.2(1).

Now we sketch our proof of Theorem 1.3. The process is to align the relevant results of [Zha1, Zha3, Cin1, dJo2] into a family. With some effort, we can reduce it to the statement that $\pi_*\langle \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a}, \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a} \rangle$ is nef and big on S.

Let us first sketch the geometric case that k is a field. Replacing S by a finite extension if necessary, we can assume that $\pi : X \to S$ has a stable compactification $\overline{\pi} : \overline{X} \to \overline{S}$, i.e. a projective variety \overline{S} over k with an open immersion $S \to \overline{S}$, a stable relative curve $\overline{\pi} : \overline{X} \to \overline{S}$ of genus g, and an open immersion $X \to \overline{X}$ compatible with the previous morphisms. Our proof takes the following steps.

Step 1. There is an effective adelic divisor \overline{E} on S such that

$$\pi_* \langle \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a}, \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a} \rangle = \overline{\pi}_* \langle \omega_{\overline{X}/\overline{S}}, \omega_{\overline{X}/\overline{S}} \rangle - \mathcal{O}(E)$$

in $\widehat{\operatorname{Pic}}(S)_{\mathbb{Q}}$. Here $\overline{\pi}_* \langle \omega_{\overline{X}/\overline{S}}, \omega_{\overline{X}/\overline{S}} \rangle$ is viewed as an element of $\widehat{\operatorname{Pic}}(S)_{\mathbb{Q}}$ by the natural map $\operatorname{Pic}(\overline{S})_{\mathbb{Q}} \to \widehat{\operatorname{Pic}}(S)_{\mathbb{Q}}$. The divisor \overline{E} is in fact defined by the identity. Then it has underlying divisor $0 \in \operatorname{Div}(S)$, and thus is totally determined by its Green's function $g_{\overline{E}}$ on the Berkovich analytic space S^{an} . We have an "explicit" description of $g_{\overline{E}}$ in that its value at any discrete valuation v of k(S)/k is given by the ϵ -invariant of the curve X_{H_v} over the valuation field H_v of v defined by Zhang [Zha1] in terms of graph theory. This determines $g_{\overline{E}}$ by continuity, and we say that \overline{E} is the globalization of the ϵ -invariant.

Step 2. Noether's formula gives

$$\overline{\pi}_* \langle \omega_{\overline{X}/\overline{S}}, \omega_{\overline{X}/\overline{S}} \rangle = 12\lambda_{\overline{S}} - \mathcal{O}(\Delta_{\overline{S}})$$

in $\operatorname{Pic}(\overline{S})_{\mathbb{Q}}$. Here $\lambda_{\overline{S}} = \det \overline{\pi}_* \omega_{\overline{X}/\overline{S}}$ is the Poincaré bundle of \overline{X} over \overline{S} , and $\Delta_{\overline{S}}$ is the divisor of \overline{S} with support equal to $\overline{S} \setminus S$ measuring the singularity of \overline{X} over \overline{S} . Both $\lambda_{\overline{S}}$ and $\Delta_{\overline{S}}$ are the well-known tautological divisors in the theory of moduli space of curves.

Step 3. The difference $(2g-2)\Delta_{\overline{S}} - \overline{E}$ is an effective adelic divisor in $\operatorname{Div}(S)$. As both $\Delta_{\overline{S}}$ and \overline{E} have underlying divisor $0 \in \operatorname{Div}(S)$, it suffices to check $(2g-2)g_{\Delta_{\overline{S}}} \geq g_{\overline{E}}$ on the Berkovich analytic space S^{an} . By continuity, we only need to check it at any discrete valuation v of k(S)/k, or equivalently compare the ϵ -invariant of the curve X_{H_v} defined by Zhang [Zha1] and the classical δ -invariant of X_{H_v} counting the number of nodes of reduction. The comparison is done by graph theory.

Combining these steps, we have

$$\pi_* \langle \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a}, \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a} \rangle = 12\lambda_{\overline{S}} - (2g-1)\mathcal{O}(\Delta_{\overline{S}}) + \text{eff.}$$

Here "eff" means an effective adelic divisor, and later we will write "nef" for a nef adelic line bundle.

Step 4. There is an effective adelic divisor $\overline{\Phi}$ on S such that

$$\pi_* \langle \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a}, \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a} \rangle = \frac{2}{3g-1} \mathcal{O}(\overline{\Phi}) + \mathrm{nef.}$$

Similarly to \overline{E} , the arithmetic divisor $\overline{\Phi}$ has underlying divisor $0 \in \text{Div}(S)$, and its Green's function $g_{\overline{\Phi}}$ at any discrete valuation v of k(S)/k is given by the φ -invariant of the curve X_{H_v} defined by Zhang [Zha3] in terms of graph theory. Then $\overline{\Phi}$ is the globalization of Zhang's φ -invariant. The above equality is a family version of de Jong [dJo2, Thm. 8.1].

Step 5. The difference $\overline{\Phi} - \frac{1}{39}\Delta_{\overline{S}}$ is an effective adelic divisor in $\widehat{\text{Div}}(S)$. Similar to Step 3, it suffices to compare the values of the Green's function at all discrete valuations v of k(S)/k. Then it follows from the result of Cinkir [Cin1, Thm. 2.11] in graph theory.

As a consequence, we have

$$\pi_* \langle \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a}, \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a} \rangle = \frac{2}{39(3g-1)} \mathcal{O}(\Delta_{\overline{S}}) + \text{nef} + \text{eff}.$$

Step 6. Take a linear combination of the equalities respectively at the end of Step 3 and Step 5 to cancel the term $\mathcal{O}(\Delta_{\overline{S}})$. We obtain

$$\left(1+\frac{39(3g-1)}{2}(2g-1)\right)\pi_*\langle\overline{\omega}_{X/S,a},\overline{\omega}_{X/S,a}\rangle = 12\lambda_{\overline{S}} + \operatorname{nef} + \operatorname{eff}.$$

Then the bigness of $\pi_* \langle \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a}, \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a} \rangle$ follows from the classical result that the Hodge (line) bundle $\lambda_{\overline{S}}$ is nef and big on \overline{S} .

Now we prove the bigness in the arithmetic case $k = \mathbb{Z}$. The above proof is not valid in this case as Step 2 becomes rather subtle in the arithmetic case. However, we already know the bigness of the image of $\pi_* \langle \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a}, \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a} \rangle$ in $\widehat{\text{Pic}}(S_{\mathbb{Q}}/\mathbb{Q})$ by the above proof. Then it suffices to prove that

$$\pi_* \langle \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a}, \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a} \rangle = \mathcal{O}(c) + \text{eff} + \text{nef}$$

for some rational number c > 0. Here $\mathcal{O}(c)$ is the trivial line bundle on \mathbb{Z} with metric given by $||1|| = e^{-c}$, and viewed as an adelic line bundle on S by pull-back.

Step 4 still works in the arithmetic case, so it suffices to prove that there exists c(g) > 0 such that $\overline{\Phi} - c(g)$ is an effective adelic divisor on S. It suffices to prove that there exists c(g) > 0 such that $\varphi(X_s) \ge c(g)$ for any $s \in S(\mathbb{C})$. Let M_g be a fine moduli space of curves of genus g over \mathbb{C} with a suitable level structure, and \overline{M}_g be a suitable compactification of M_g . By Zhang [Zha3], we know that $\varphi > 0$ on M_g . To prove that inf $\varphi > 0$ on M_g , we prove that φ tends to infinity along the boundary $\overline{M}_g \setminus M_g$. This is a consequence of Step 5 for $k = \mathbb{C}$, as the image of $\overline{\Phi}$ in $\text{Div}(M_g/\mathbb{C})$ governs its growth behavior along $\overline{M}_g \setminus M_g$.

1.5 Uniform fiberwise bigness

By Zhang [Zha1], the Bogomolov conjecture for a single smooth projective curve C over a number field K (or a function field of one variable) is equivalent to $\overline{\omega}_{C/K,a}^2 > 0$. The following theorem is a uniform version of this positivity and also a fiberwise version of Theorem 1.3. We thank Ziyang Gao for raising the question of proving such a bound.

Theorem 1.4 (Theorem 4.11, Theorem 4.12). Let g > 1 be an integer. Then there is a constants $c_3 > 0$ depending only on g satisfying the following properties. Let K be either a number field or a function field of one variable over a field k. Then for any geometrically connected, smooth and projective curve C over K of genus g, with the extra assumption that $C_{\overline{K}}$ is non-isotrivial over \overline{k} in the function field case, one has

$$[\overline{\omega}_{C/K,a}^2] > c_3 \cdot \max\{h_{\operatorname{Fal}}(C), 1\}.$$

The stable Faltings height $h_{\text{Fal}}(C)$ is normalized as in §4.3.1. The term $\overline{\omega}_{C/K,a}$ is Zhang's admissible canonical bundle of C over K, and the normalized intersection number $[\overline{\omega}_{C/K,a}^2]$ is understood as follows. If K is a number field,

$$[\overline{\omega}_{C,a}^2] = \frac{1}{[K:\mathbb{Q}]} \overline{\omega}_{C/K,a}^2$$

where $\overline{\omega}_{C/K,a}^2$ is the arithmetic intersection number. If K is a function field of one variable over k,

$$[\overline{\omega}_{C,a}^2] = \overline{\omega}_{C/K,a}^2,$$

where the intersection number $\overline{\omega}_{C/K,a}^2$ on C is normalized by multiplicity functions given by degrees over k.

This theorem is stated in a style similar to that of Theorem 1.1, and the proof is also similar. It is still a consequence of Theorem 1.3, but the function field case has an explicit bound and a more direct proof. We refer to the proofs of Theorem 4.11 and Theorem 4.12 for more details.

As mentioned above, Looper–Silverman–Wilms [LSW] proves a uniform Bogomolov-type theorem over function fields, which is closely related to Theorem 1.1. Namely, in the setting of Theorem 1.1 and Theorem 1.4, in the function field case case, [LSW, Thm. 1.2] takes the form

$$\#\left\{x\in C(\overline{K}):\widehat{h}(x-\alpha)\leq c_1'\,\overline{\omega}_{C,a}^2\right\}\leq c_2'.$$

The constants (c'_1, c'_2) depend only on g and are amazingly explicit. With Theorem 1.4, we can replace the term $\overline{\omega}_{C,a}^2$ by $\max\{h_{\text{Fal}}(C), 1\}$ and get a bound closer to that in Theorem 1.1. The proof in the loc. cit. is also based on Zhang's admissible pairings, but its arguments are on individual curves instead of on moduli spaces of curves.

1.6 Notations and terminology

By a *variety* over a field k, we mean an integral scheme, separated of finite type over k.

By a *curve* over a field k, we mean a geometrically connected projective scheme C of dimension 1 over a field k. The curve is called *semistable* if $C_{\bar{k}}$ is reduced and all singular points of $C_{\bar{k}}$ are ordinary double points. The curve is called *stable* if it is semistable, and any rational irreducible component of $C_{\bar{k}}$ intersects other irreducible components at three or more points.

By a relative curve over a scheme S, we mean a projective and flat morphism $\pi: X \to S$ of purely relative dimension 1 with geometrically connected fibers. The curve is called *smooth (resp. stable, semistable)*, if every fiber of $\pi: X \to S$ is smooth (resp. stable, semistable). It is said to be of genus g, if every fiber of $\pi: X \to S$ has arithmetic genus g.

Let S be a quasi-projective scheme over a base ring R, and let $\pi : X \to S$ be a smooth relative curve of genus g > 1. We say that $\pi : X \to S$ has maximal variation (or maximal variation of moduli) if the moduli morphism $S \to M_{g,R}$ associated to π is generically finite. Here $M_{g,R}$ denotes the coarse moduli scheme of smooth curves of genus g over R.

By a *line bundle* on a scheme, we mean an invertible sheaf on the scheme. We often write or mention tensor products of line bundles additively, so aL - bM means $L^{\otimes a} \otimes M^{\otimes (-b)}$ for line bundles L, M and integers a, b.

Let $X \to S$ be a morphism of schemes. For m > 0, we denote by

$$X^m_{/S} = X \times_S X \times_S \dots \times_S X$$

the *m*-fold fiber product of X over S. We take the convention $X_{/S}^0 = S$. If L is a line bundle on X, then the box tensor

$$m_{\boxtimes}L = p_1^*L + p_2^*L + \dots + p_m^*L$$

is a line bundle on $X^m_{/S}$. Here $p_i : X^m_{/S} \to X$ is the projection to the *i*-th component.

To treat adelic line bundles of [YZ2], we follow the uniform terminology of [YZ2, §1.5]. In particular, most of the time, our base ring k is \mathbb{Z} or a field.

Acknowledgements

A major motivation of this paper is to understand the recent works of Dimitrov–Gao–Habegger and Kühne on the uniform Mordell–Lang conjecture. This paper is certainly inspired by many of their ideas, though the eventual approach is very different.

The author is indebted to Shou-Wu Zhang for many crucial discussions, and the paper grows out of the joint work with him on the theory of adelic line bundles on quasi-projective varieties.

The author would like to thank Alexandru Buium, Jan-Hendrik Evertse, Ziyang Gao, Rafael von Känel, Yanshuai Qin, José Felipe Voloch, and Wei Zhang for many helpful communications. The author would like to thank Ko Aoki, Qirui Li, Cong Wen, Jiaming Zhang, and Xiaoxiang Zhou for pointing out many mistakes and typos in earlier versions of the paper.

The author is also grateful to the anonymous referees for pointing out many mistakes and making many great suggestions for this paper.

2 Admissible adelic line bundles

The goal of this section is to generalize the theory of admissible line bundles of Zhang [Zha1] from curves to relative curves using the terminology of Yuan–Zhang [YZ2]. Note that the original theory of [Zha1] is reviewed in our appendix §A. In §2.1, we review the theory of adelic line bundles of [YZ2]. In §2.2, we introduce our theory of admissible line bundles on relative curves. In §2.3, we consider some formulae on intersections and pull-back of admissible adelic line bundles.

2.1 Review on adelic line bundles

The goal of this subsection is to sketch the notion of adelic line bundles on quasi-projective varieties of Yuan–Zhang [YZ2], which generalizes the more classical adelic line bundles of projective varieties over number fields of Zhang [Zha2]. In the end, we prove two basic results about adelic line bundles which will be used in this paper.

Adelic divisors

Let k be either \mathbb{Z} or a field. Let \mathcal{U} be a flat and quasi-projective integral scheme over k. Let us first recall the definition of adelic divisors on \mathcal{U}/k .

Let \mathcal{X} be a *projective model* of \mathcal{U} over k, i.e., a projective integral scheme over k with an open immersion $\mathcal{U} \to \mathcal{X}$ over k. In the spirit of [YZ2, §2.2], take the fiber product

$$\widehat{\mathrm{Div}}(\mathcal{X},\mathcal{U}) = \widehat{\mathrm{Div}}(\mathcal{X})_{\mathbb{Q}} \times_{\mathrm{Div}(\mathcal{U})_{\mathbb{Q}}} \mathrm{Div}(\mathcal{U}),$$

whose elements are arithmetic divisors of mixed coefficients. In the arithmetic case (that $k = \mathbb{Z}$), $\widehat{\text{Div}}(\mathcal{X})$ is the group of arithmetic divisors on \mathcal{X} , where the Green's functions are assumed to be continuous (away from the singularities). In the geometric case (that k is a field), $\widehat{\text{Div}}(\mathcal{X})$ means the usual $\text{Div}(\mathcal{X})$.

By abuse of terminology, in the following, if k is a field, then "arithmetic divisor" (resp. "hermitian line bundle") means "divisor" (resp. "line bundle").

Define the group of *model adelic divisors* by

$$\widetilde{\operatorname{Div}}(\mathcal{U}/k)_{\mathrm{mod}} = \lim_{\overrightarrow{\mathcal{X}}} \widetilde{\operatorname{Div}}(\mathcal{X},\mathcal{U}).$$

Here the limit is over the system of projective models \mathcal{X} of \mathcal{U} over k. An element of $\widehat{\text{Div}}(\mathcal{U}/k)_{\text{mod}}$ is *effective* if it is the image of an effective element of some $\widehat{\text{Div}}(\mathcal{X},\mathcal{U})$, where an element of $\widehat{\text{Div}}(\mathcal{X},\mathcal{U})$ is *effective* if its images in $\widehat{\text{Div}}(\mathcal{X})_{\mathbb{Q}}$ and $\text{Div}(\mathcal{U})$ are both effective.

Fix a boundary divisor $(\mathcal{X}_0, \overline{\mathcal{D}}_0)$ of \mathcal{U} , i.e., a projective model \mathcal{X}_0 of \mathcal{U} and a strictly effective arithmetic divisor $\overline{\mathcal{D}}_0$ on \mathcal{X}_0 such that the support of the finite part \mathcal{D}_0 is exactly $\mathcal{X}_0 \setminus \mathcal{U}$. We have a boundary norm

$$\|\cdot\|_{\overline{\mathcal{D}}_0}: \operatorname{Div}(\mathcal{U}/k)_{\mathrm{mod}} \longrightarrow [0,\infty]$$

by

$$\|\overline{\mathcal{E}}\|_{\overline{\mathcal{D}}_0} := \inf\{\epsilon \in \mathbb{Q}_{>0} : -\epsilon\overline{\mathcal{D}}_0 \le \overline{\mathcal{E}} \le \epsilon\overline{\mathcal{D}}_0\}.$$

Here the inequalities are defined in terms of effectivity. It further induces a boundary topology on $\widehat{\text{Div}}(\mathcal{U}/k)_{\text{mod}}$, which does not depend on the choice of $(\mathcal{X}_0, \overline{\mathcal{D}}_0)$.

Let $\operatorname{Div}(\mathcal{U}/k)$ be the *completion* of $\operatorname{Div}(\mathcal{U}/k)_{\mathrm{mod}}$ with respect to the boundary topology. An element of $\widehat{\operatorname{Div}}(\mathcal{U}/k)$ is called an *adelic divisor* on \mathcal{U}/k .

By definition, an adelic divisor is represented by a Cauchy sequence in $\widehat{\text{Div}}(\mathcal{U}/k)_{\text{mod}}$, i.e., a sequence $\{\overline{\mathcal{E}}_i\}_{i\geq 1}$ in $\widehat{\text{Div}}(\mathcal{U}/k)_{\text{mod}}$ satisfying the property that there is a sequence $\{\epsilon_i\}_{i\geq 1}$ of positive rational numbers converging to 0 such that

$$-\epsilon_i \overline{\mathcal{D}}_0 \leq \overline{\mathcal{E}}_{i'} - \overline{\mathcal{E}}_i \leq \epsilon_i \overline{\mathcal{D}}_0, \quad i' \geq i \geq 1.$$

There is a canonical map

$$\widehat{\mathrm{Div}}(\mathcal{U}/k) \longrightarrow \mathrm{Div}(\mathcal{U}), \quad \{\overline{\mathcal{E}}_i\}_{i \ge 1} \longmapsto \mathcal{E}_1|_{\mathcal{U}}.$$

We usually write $\overline{\mathcal{E}} = \{\overline{\mathcal{E}}_i\}_{i \geq 1}$ and $\mathcal{E} = \mathcal{E}_1|_{\mathcal{U}}$, and call \mathcal{E} the underlying divisor of $\overline{\mathcal{E}}$.

Adelic line bundles

Let k be either \mathbb{Z} or a field. Let \mathcal{U} be a flat and quasi-projective integral scheme over k.

Let \mathcal{X} be a projective model of \mathcal{U} over k. In the spirit of [YZ2, §2.2], let $\widehat{\mathcal{P}ic}(\mathcal{X})$ be the category of hermitian line bundles on \mathcal{X} , and $\widehat{\mathcal{P}ic}(\mathcal{X})_{\mathbb{Q}}$ be the category of hermitian \mathbb{Q} -line bundles on \mathcal{X} . In the arithmetic case (that $k = \mathbb{Z}$), $\widehat{\mathcal{P}ic}(\mathcal{X})$ is the category of hermitian line bundles with continuous metrics on \mathcal{X} . In the geometric case (that k is a field), $\widehat{\mathcal{P}ic}(\mathcal{X})$ means the usual $\mathcal{P}ic(\mathcal{X})$.

As a convention, categories of various line bundles are defined to be groupoids; i.e., the morphisms in them are defined to be isomorphisms (or isometries) of the line bundles. To illustrate the category of various \mathbb{Q} -line bundles, take $\widehat{\mathcal{P}ic}(\mathcal{X})_{\mathbb{Q}}$ for example. An object of $\widehat{\mathcal{P}ic}(\mathcal{X})_{\mathbb{Q}}$ is a pair (a, \mathcal{L}) (or just written as $a\mathcal{L}$) with $a \in \mathbb{Q}$ and $\mathcal{L} \in \widehat{\mathcal{P}ic}(\mathcal{X})$, and a morphism of two such objects is defined to be an element of

$$\operatorname{Hom}(a\mathcal{L}, a'\mathcal{L}') = \varinjlim_{m} \operatorname{Hom}(am\mathcal{L}, a'm\mathcal{L}'),$$

where m runs through positive integers such that am and a'm are both integers, so that $am\mathcal{L}$ and $a'm\mathcal{L}'$ are viewed as objects of $\widehat{\mathcal{P}ic}(\mathcal{X})$, and "Hom" on the right-hand side are viewed in $\widehat{\mathcal{P}ic}(\mathcal{X})$.

Let $(\mathcal{X}_0, \overline{\mathcal{D}}_0)$ be a boundary divisor as above. Define the *category* $\widehat{\mathcal{P}ic}(\mathcal{U}/k)$ of adelic line bundles on \mathcal{U}/k as follows. An object of $\widehat{\mathcal{P}ic}(\mathcal{U}/k)$ is a pair $(\mathcal{L}, (\mathcal{X}_i, \overline{\mathcal{L}}_i, \ell_i)_{i>1})$ where:

- (1) \mathcal{L} is an object of $\mathcal{P}ic(\mathcal{U})$, i.e., a line bundle on \mathcal{U} ;
- (2) \mathcal{X}_i is a projective model of \mathcal{U} over k;
- (3) $\overline{\mathcal{L}}_i$ is an object of $\widehat{\mathcal{P}ic}(\mathcal{X}_i)_{\mathbb{Q}}$, i.e. a hermitian \mathbb{Q} -line bundle on \mathcal{X}_i ;
- (4) $\ell_i : \mathcal{L} \to \mathcal{L}_i|_{\mathcal{U}}$ is an isomorphism in $\mathcal{P}ic(\mathcal{U})_{\mathbb{Q}}$, where \mathcal{L}_i is the underlying \mathbb{Q} -line bundle of $\overline{\mathcal{L}}_i$ on \mathcal{X}_i .

The sequence is required to satisfy the *Cauchy condition* that the sequence $\{\widehat{\operatorname{div}}(\ell_i\ell_1^{-1})\}_{i\geq 1}$ is a Cauchy sequence in $\widehat{\operatorname{Div}}(\mathcal{U}/k)_{\mathrm{mod}}$ under the boundary topology.

A morphism from an object $(\mathcal{L}, (\mathcal{X}_i, \overline{\mathcal{L}}_i, \ell_i)_{i \geq 1})$ to another $(\mathcal{L}', (\mathcal{X}'_i, \overline{\mathcal{L}}'_i, \ell'_i)_{i \geq 1})$ is an isomorphism $\iota : \mathcal{L} \to \mathcal{L}'$ of the integral line bundles on \mathcal{U} such that the sequence $\{\widehat{\operatorname{div}}(\ell'_i\ell'_1) - \widehat{\operatorname{div}}(\ell_i\ell_1^{-1}) + \widehat{\operatorname{div}}(\iota_1)\}_{i \geq 1}$ of $\widehat{\operatorname{Div}}(\mathcal{U}/k)_{\text{mod}}$ converges to 0 in $\widehat{\operatorname{Div}}(\mathcal{U}/k)$ under the boundary topology.

An object of $\widehat{\mathcal{P}ic}(\mathcal{U}/k)$ is called an *adelic line bundle* on \mathcal{U} . Define $\widehat{\mathrm{Pic}}(\mathcal{U}/k)$ to be the *group* of isomorphism classes of objects of $\widehat{\mathcal{P}ic}(\mathcal{U}/k)$.

There is a canonical forgetful functor

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{P}ic}(\mathcal{U}/k) \longrightarrow \mathcal{P}ic(\mathcal{U}), \quad (\mathcal{L}, (\mathcal{X}_i, \overline{\mathcal{L}}_i, \ell_i)_{i \ge 1}) \longmapsto \mathcal{L}$$

We usually write $\overline{\mathcal{L}} = (\mathcal{L}, (\mathcal{X}_i, \overline{\mathcal{L}}_i, \ell_i)_{i \geq 1})$ and call \mathcal{L} the underlying line bundle of $\overline{\mathcal{L}}$.

There is a canonical surjection

$$\widehat{\operatorname{Div}}(\mathcal{U}/k) \longrightarrow \widehat{\operatorname{Pic}}(\mathcal{U}/k).$$

The kernel is the image of the group of principal arithmetic divisors on projective models of \mathcal{U} .

An adelic divisor is called *effective* if it is equal to a limit of effective arithmetic divisors (of mixed coefficients). An adelic line bundle is called *effective* if it is the image of an effective adelic divisor. An adelic line bundle (resp. adelic divisor) is called *strongly nef* if it is isomorphic (resp. equal) to a limit of nef hermitian line bundles (resp. adelic divisors) under the boundary topology. An adelic line bundle (resp. adelic divisor) $\overline{\mathcal{L}}$ on \mathcal{U} is *nef* if there exists a strongly nef adelic line bundle (resp. adelic divisor) $\overline{\mathcal{M}}$ on \mathcal{U} such that $a\overline{\mathcal{L}} + \overline{\mathcal{M}}$ is strongly nef for all positive integers *a*. An adelic line bundle (resp. adelic divisor) is *integrable* if it is isomorphic (resp. equal) to the difference of two strongly nef ones. Denote by $\widehat{\mathcal{P}ic}(\mathcal{U}/k)_{nef}$ (resp. $\widehat{\mathcal{Pic}}(\mathcal{U}/k)_{int}$) the subcategory of $\widehat{\mathcal{Pic}}(\mathcal{U}/k)$ consisting of nef (resp. integrable) adelic line bundles. Denote by $\widehat{\mathrm{Pic}}(\mathcal{U}/k)_{nef}$ (resp. $\widehat{\mathrm{Pic}}(\mathcal{U}/k)_{int}$) the subsets of nef (resp. integrable) elements in $\widehat{\mathrm{Pic}}(\mathcal{U}/k)$.

If the base ring k is clear, we usually omit the dependence on k of the groups or categories of adelic objects. For example, $\widehat{\text{Div}}(\mathcal{U}/k)$, $\widehat{\mathcal{Pic}}(\mathcal{U}/k)$, $\widehat{\text{Pic}}(\mathcal{U}/k)$, $\widehat{\text{Pic}}(\mathcal{U})$, $\widehat{\text{Pic}}(\mathcal{U})$.

Analytification

Let k be either \mathbb{Z} or a field. Let \mathcal{U} be a flat and quasi-projective integral scheme over k. There is a natural *Berkovich analytic space* $\mathcal{U}^{\mathrm{an}} = (\mathcal{U}/k)^{\mathrm{an}}$. In fact, if \mathcal{U} has an open affine cover $\{\operatorname{Spec} A_i\}_i$, then $\mathcal{U}^{\mathrm{an}} = \bigcup_i \mathcal{M}(A_i)$, where $\mathcal{M}(A_i)$ is the set of multiplicative semi-norms on A_i , assumed to be trivial over k if k is a field. The set $\mathcal{U}^{\mathrm{an}}$ is endowed with the coarsest topology such that every $\mathcal{M}(A_i)$ is open in $\mathcal{U}^{\mathrm{an}}$ and that $|f| : \mathcal{M}(A_i) \to \mathbb{R}$ is continuous for all $f \in A_i$. Then $\mathcal{U}^{\mathrm{an}}$ is Hausdorff, path-connected and locally compact.

An arithmetic divisor on $\mathcal{U}^{\mathrm{an}}$ is a pair $\overline{\mathcal{D}} = (\mathcal{D}, g_{\mathcal{D}})$ consisting of a divisor \mathcal{D} on \mathcal{U} and a Green's function $g_{\mathcal{D}}$ of \mathcal{D} on $\mathcal{U}^{\mathrm{an}}$, i.e., a continuous function $g_{\mathcal{D}} : \mathcal{U}^{\mathrm{an}} \setminus |\mathcal{D}|^{\mathrm{an}} \to \mathbb{R}$ with logarithmic singularity along \mathcal{D} in the sense that, for any rational function f on a Zariski open subset \mathcal{V} of \mathcal{U} satisfying $\operatorname{div}(f) = \mathcal{D}|_{\mathcal{U}}$, the function $g_{\mathcal{D}} + \log |f|$ can be extended to a continuous function on $\mathcal{U}^{\mathrm{an}}$. Note that the definition uses the term $g_{\mathcal{D}} + \log |f|$ instead of $g_{\mathcal{D}} + 2 \log |f|$, so our convention is different from that used by Gillet–Soulé.

A metrized line bundle on $\mathcal{U}^{\mathrm{an}}$ is a pair $\overline{\mathcal{L}} = (\mathcal{L}, \|\cdot\|)$ consisting of a line bundle \mathcal{L} on \mathcal{U} and a continuous metric $\|\cdot\|$ of \mathcal{L} on $\mathcal{U}^{\mathrm{an}}$; i.e., an assignment of a H_v -metric $\|\cdot\|_v$ to the fiber $\mathcal{L} \otimes H_v$ over every $v \in \mathcal{U}^{\mathrm{an}}$, assumed to vary continuously as v varies. Here H_v denotes the completed residue field of v.

Denote by $\widehat{\text{Div}}(\mathcal{U}^{\text{an}})$ the group of arithmetic divisors on \mathcal{U}^{an} . Denote by $\widehat{\mathcal{Pic}}(\mathcal{U}^{\text{an}})$ (resp. $\widehat{\text{Pic}}(\mathcal{U}^{\text{an}})$) the category (resp. group of isometry classes) of metrized line bundles on \mathcal{U}^{an} .

By [YZ2, Prop. 3.3.1, Prop. 3.4.1], there are injective analytification maps

$$\begin{split} & \widehat{\mathrm{Div}}(\mathcal{U}) \longrightarrow \widehat{\mathrm{Div}}(\mathcal{U}^{\mathrm{an}}), \\ & \widehat{\mathcal{Pic}}(\mathcal{U}) \longrightarrow \widehat{\mathcal{Pic}}(\mathcal{U}^{\mathrm{an}}), \\ & \widehat{\mathrm{Pic}}(\mathcal{U}) \longrightarrow \widehat{\mathrm{Pic}}(\mathcal{U}^{\mathrm{an}}). \end{split}$$

These maps will bring lots of convenience in our treatment later.

Intersection theory

Here we recall the intersection theory in $[YZ2, \S4.1]$.

Let k be either \mathbb{Z} or a field. Let \mathcal{U} be a flat and quasi-projective integral scheme over k of absolute dimension d. There is an intersection pairing

$$\widehat{\operatorname{Pic}}(\mathcal{U}/k)_{\operatorname{int}}^{d} \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}, \qquad (\overline{\mathcal{H}}_{1}, \cdots, \overline{\mathcal{H}}_{d}) \longmapsto \overline{\mathcal{H}}_{1} \cdots \overline{\mathcal{H}}_{d},$$

defined as limits of the arithmetic (or geometric) intersection pairings of the projective case.

Let k be either \mathbb{Z} or a field. Let $f: \mathcal{U} \to \mathcal{V}$ be a projective flat morphism of relative dimension n of flat and quasi-projective integral schemes over k. Assume that \mathcal{V} is normal. There is a relative intersection pairing

$$\widehat{\mathcal{P}ic}(\mathcal{U}/k)_{\rm int}^{n+1} \longrightarrow \widehat{\mathcal{P}ic}(\mathcal{V}/k)_{\rm int}, \qquad (\overline{\mathcal{L}}_1, \cdots, \overline{\mathcal{L}}_{n+1}) \longmapsto f_* \langle \overline{\mathcal{L}}_1, \cdots, \overline{\mathcal{L}}_{n+1} \rangle.$$

This is defined as the limit of the Deligne pairing. The pairing of nef adelic line bundles is still nef. For simplicity, we may abbreviate $f_*\langle \overline{\mathcal{L}}_1, \cdots, \overline{\mathcal{L}}_{n+1} \rangle$ as $\langle \overline{\mathcal{L}}_1, \cdots, \overline{\mathcal{L}}_{n+1} \rangle$ if no confusion can occur.

Volume and bigness

Here we recall the notions of volume and bigness of adelic line bundles in [YZ2, §5.1-5.2].

Let k be either \mathbb{Z} or a field. Let \mathcal{U} be a flat and quasi-projective integral scheme over k. Let $\overline{\mathcal{L}}$ be an adelic line bundle on \mathcal{U} with underlying line bundle \mathcal{L} on \mathcal{U} . Define

$$\widehat{H}^{0}(\mathcal{U},\overline{\mathcal{L}}) := \{ s \in H^{0}(\mathcal{U},\mathcal{L}) : \|s(x)\| \le 1, \forall x \in \mathcal{U}^{\mathrm{an}} \}.$$

Here the metric ||s(x)|| on the Berkovich space $\mathcal{U}^{\mathrm{an}}$ is defined via the analytification functor $\widehat{\mathcal{P}\mathrm{ic}}(\mathcal{U}) \to \widehat{\mathcal{P}\mathrm{ic}}(\mathcal{U}^{\mathrm{an}})$. Elements of $\widehat{H}^0(\mathcal{U}, \overline{\mathcal{L}})$ are called *effective sections* of $\overline{\mathcal{L}}$ on \mathcal{U} .

If $k = \mathbb{Z}$, then $\widehat{H}^0(\mathcal{U}, \overline{\mathcal{L}})$ is a finite set, and we denote

$$\widehat{h}^0(\mathcal{U},\overline{\mathcal{L}}) := \log \#\widehat{H}^0(\mathcal{U},\overline{\mathcal{L}});$$

if k is a field, then $\widehat{H}^0(\mathcal{U}, \overline{\mathcal{L}})$ is a finite-dimensional vector space over k, and we denote

$$\widehat{h}^{0}(\mathcal{U},\overline{\mathcal{L}}) := \dim_{k} \widehat{H}^{0}(\mathcal{U},\overline{\mathcal{L}}).$$

Define the *volume*

$$\widehat{\mathrm{vol}}(\mathcal{U},\overline{\mathcal{L}}) := \lim_{m \to \infty} \frac{d!}{m^d} \widehat{h}^0(\mathcal{U},m\overline{\mathcal{L}}).$$

Here d is the absolute dimension of \mathcal{U} . Then the limit $\widehat{\text{vol}}(\mathcal{U}, \overline{\mathcal{L}})$ always exists. The adelic line bundle $\overline{\mathcal{L}}$ is said to be *big* on \mathcal{U} if $\widehat{\text{vol}}(\mathcal{U}, \overline{\mathcal{L}}) > 0$.

If $\overline{\mathcal{L}}$ is *nef*, the adelic Hilbert–Samuel formula asserts that

$$\widehat{\operatorname{vol}}(\mathcal{U},\overline{\mathcal{L}})=\overline{\mathcal{L}}^d.$$

In this case, $\overline{\mathcal{L}}$ is big if and only if $\overline{\mathcal{L}}^d > 0$.

Varieties over global fields

By further direct limits, the above definitions and notations are extended to flat and essentially quasi-projective integral schemes over k in [YZ2]. We do not need this generality in this paper, but we only need the case of quasiprojective varieties over a number field or a function field of one variable.

Let k be either \mathbb{Z} or a field. If k is a field, let K be the function field of a projective regular curve B over k. If $k = \mathbb{Z}$, let K be a number field and denote $B = \operatorname{Spec} O_K$.

Let X be a quasi-projective variety over K, which is viewed as a scheme over k. By a quasi-projective model \mathcal{U} of X over k, we mean a flat and quasi-projective integral scheme \mathcal{U} over B, together with an open immersion $X \to \mathcal{U}_K$ over K. Define

$$\widehat{\operatorname{Div}}(X/k) = \varinjlim_{\mathcal{U}} \widehat{\operatorname{Div}}(\mathcal{U}/k),$$
$$\widehat{\operatorname{Pic}}(X/k) = \varinjlim_{\mathcal{U}} \widehat{\operatorname{Pic}}(\mathcal{U}/k),$$
$$\widehat{\operatorname{Pic}}(X/k) = \varinjlim_{\mathcal{U}} \widehat{\operatorname{Pic}}(\mathcal{U}/k).$$

Here the limit is over all quasi-projective models \mathcal{U} of X over k. Again, we often abbreviate the terms as

$$\widehat{\operatorname{Div}}(X), \quad \widehat{\operatorname{Pic}}(X), \quad \widehat{\operatorname{Pic}}(X).$$

If X is projective over K, then $\widehat{\mathcal{Pic}}(X)$ is essentially the category of adelic line bundles on X introduced in Zhang [Zha2].

The notions of effectivity, nefness and integrability of adelic line bundles (or adelic divisors) are also transferred to quasi-projective varieties over K by direct limits. The intersection pairings are also valid in the current situation by direct limits.

The Berkovich analytic space $X^{\mathrm{an}} = (X/k)^{\mathrm{an}}$ is defined similar to $\mathcal{U}^{\mathrm{an}} = (\mathcal{U}/k)^{\mathrm{an}}$, which does not use the property that \mathcal{U} is quasi-projective over k. The notions of metrized line bundles and arithmetic divisors on X^{an} are defined similarly. Then the direct limit process induces injective analytification maps

$$\widehat{\operatorname{Pic}}(X) \longrightarrow \widehat{\operatorname{Div}}(X^{\operatorname{an}}),
 \widehat{\operatorname{Pic}}(X) \longrightarrow \widehat{\operatorname{Pic}}(X^{\operatorname{an}}),
 \widehat{\operatorname{Pic}}(X) \longrightarrow \widehat{\operatorname{Pic}}(X^{\operatorname{an}}).$$

Define the set of *effective sections* of \overline{L} on X by

$$\widehat{H}^0(X,\overline{L}) := \{ s \in H^0(X,L) : \|s(x)\| \le 1, \forall x \in X^{\mathrm{an}} \}.$$

If $k = \mathbb{Z}$, denote

$$h^0(X,\overline{L}) := \log \# \hat{H}^0(X,\overline{L});$$

if k is a field, denote

$$\widehat{h}^0(X,\overline{L}) := \dim_k \widehat{H}^0(X,\overline{L}).$$

Then $\widehat{h}^0(X, \overline{L})$ is a well-defined (finite) number. Define the volume

$$\widehat{\operatorname{vol}}(X,\overline{L}) := \lim_{m \to \infty} \frac{d!}{m^d} \widehat{h}^0(X,m\overline{L}).$$

Here $d = \dim X + 1$. Then the limit $\widehat{\text{vol}}(X, \overline{L})$ always exists. The adelic line bundle \overline{L} is said to be *big* on X if $\widehat{\text{vol}}(X, \overline{L}) > 0$.

If \overline{L} is *nef*, the adelic Hilbert–Samuel formula asserts that

$$\widehat{\operatorname{vol}}(X,\overline{L}) = \overline{L}^d.$$

In this case, \overline{L} is big if and only if $\overline{L}^d > 0$.

Some basic results

We will need the following basic properties of adelic line bundles, which are not in [YZ2].

Lemma 2.1. Let k be either \mathbb{Z} or a field. Let X and S be quasi-projective and flat integral schemes over k. Let $\pi : X \to S$ be a projective and flat morphism over k with geometrically connected fibers. Then the following are true:

- (1) The canonical map $\pi^* : \widehat{\operatorname{Pic}}(S) \to \widehat{\operatorname{Pic}}(X)$ is injective.
- (2) Assume that S is normal or $\pi : X \to S$ admits a section. Let \overline{L} be an integrable adelic line bundle on X such that the underlying line bundle $L = \pi^* M$ for some line bundle M on S. Assume that for each $v \in S^{an}$, under an isomorphism $L|_{X_{H_v}} \simeq \mathcal{O}_{X_{H_v}}$ induced by $L = \pi^* M$, the metric of $L|_{X_{H_v}}$ on X_v^{an} induced by \overline{L} corresponds to a constant multiple of the trivial metric of $\mathcal{O}_{X_{H_v}}$ on X_v^{an} . Then there is an integrable adelic line bundle \overline{M} on S with underlying line bundle M such that \overline{L} is isomorphic to $\pi^*\overline{M}$.

Proof. By [YZ2, Prop. 3.4.1], there is an injective analytification map

$$\widehat{\operatorname{Pic}}(X) \longrightarrow \widehat{\operatorname{Pic}}(X^{\operatorname{an}}).$$

By [BLR, §8.1, Prop. 4], π^* : Pic(S) \rightarrow Pic(X) is injective. Then (1) follows from the fact that the maps $C(S^{an}) \rightarrow C(X^{an})$ between the space of continuous functions is injective.

For (2), if $\pi : X \to S$ admits a section $x : S \to X$, then we can set $\overline{M} = x^* \overline{L}$, and check that it satisfies the requirement.

Assume that S is normal in the following. Since the integral line bundle M is given, it suffices to prove the existence of an integrable adelic \mathbb{Q} -line bundle \overline{M} on S extending M such that \overline{L} is isomorphic to $\pi^*\overline{M}$ as adelic \mathbb{Q} -line bundles.

Let \overline{N} be an integrable adelic line bundle on X. Denote by d the degree of the underlying line bundle N of \overline{N} on the generic fiber of $X \to S$, and assume that d > 0. Set

$$\overline{M} = d^{-1} \langle \overline{L}, \overline{N}, \cdots, \overline{N} \rangle \in \widehat{\mathcal{P}ic}(S)_{\mathbb{O}}.$$

The motivation of this definition comes from [YZ2, Lem. 4.6.1(2)].

To check that $\pi^*\overline{M}$ is isomorphic to \overline{L} , we first note that their underlying line bundles are canonically isomorphic by [MG, Prop. 5.2.1.a]. By the analytification map, it suffices to check that the metrics of $L = \pi^*M$ over X^{an} induced by $\pi^*\overline{M}$ and \overline{L} are equal. For any $v \in S^{\mathrm{an}}$, the metric of π^*M is equal to that of L on the fiber X_v^{an} by the integration formula in [YZ2, Thm. 4.6.2] and [YZ2, §4.2.2]. This finishes the proof.

Lemma 2.2. Let k be either \mathbb{Z} or a field. Let $f : X \to Y$ be a projective and flat morphism of relative dimension n over k. Here X, Y are quasi-projective and flat integral schemes over k. Assume that Y is normal of dimension $d \ge 1$. Let $\overline{L}_1, \dots, \overline{L}_{n+1}$ be integrable adelic line bundles on X.

- (1) If $\overline{L}_1, \dots, \overline{L}_{n+1}$ are nef and big, then $f_* \langle \overline{L}_1, \dots, \overline{L}_{n+1} \rangle$ is nef and big on Y.
- (2) If \overline{L}_1 is effective and $\overline{L}_2, \dots, \overline{L}_{n+1}$ are nef, then $f_*\langle \overline{L}_1, \dots, \overline{L}_{n+1} \rangle$ is pseudo-effective on Y in the sense that

$$f_* \langle \overline{L}_1, \cdots, \overline{L}_{n+1} \rangle \cdot \overline{M}_1 \cdots \overline{M}_{d-1} \ge 0$$

for any nef adelic line bundles $\overline{M}_1 \cdots, \overline{M}_{d-1}$ on Y.

Proof. Part (2) is a consequence of the identity

$$f_* \langle \overline{L}_1, \cdots, \overline{L}_{n+1} \rangle \cdot \overline{M}_1 \cdots \overline{M}_{d-1} = \overline{L}_1 \cdots \overline{L}_{n+1} \cdot f^* \overline{M}_1 \cdots f^* \overline{M}_{d-1}.$$

If $k = \mathbb{Z}$, the identity is a consequence of [YZ2, Lem. 4.6.1(1)] applying to the composition $X \to Y \to S$ with $S = \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{Z}$. If k is a field, by blowing-up Y, we can obtain a fibration $Y \to S$ for $S = \mathbb{P}^1_k$. Then the identity still follows.

For part (1), note that $f_*\langle \overline{L}_1, \cdots, \overline{L}_{n+1} \rangle$ is nef by [YZ2, Thm. 4.1.3]. Let \overline{M} be a nef and big adelic line bundle on Y. By [YZ2, Thm. 5.2.2(2)],

$$\widehat{\operatorname{vol}}(\overline{L}_1 - \epsilon f^* \overline{M}) \ge \overline{L}_1^{d+n} - (d+n)\overline{L}_1^{d+n-1} \cdot \epsilon f^* \overline{M} > 0$$

for some rational number $\epsilon > 0$. Then some positive multiple of $\overline{N} = \overline{L}_1 - \epsilon f^* \overline{M}$ is effective. It follows that

$$f_*\langle \overline{L}_1, \cdots, \overline{L}_{n+1} \rangle = f_*\langle \overline{N}, \overline{L}_2, \cdots, \overline{L}_{n+1} \rangle + \epsilon f_*\langle f^*\overline{M}, \overline{L}_2, \cdots, \overline{L}_{n+1} \rangle$$

By (2), $\overline{M}_1 = f_* \langle \overline{N}, \overline{L}_2, \cdots, \overline{L}_{n+1} \rangle$ is pseudo-effective. By [YZ2, Lem. 4.6.1(2)], $\overline{M}_2 = \epsilon f_* \langle f^* \overline{M}, \overline{L}_2, \cdots, \overline{L}_{n+1} \rangle$ is a positive multiple of \overline{M} , and thus it is big and nef. It follows that

$$(\overline{M}_1 + \overline{M}_2)^d \ge \overline{M}_2 \cdot (\overline{M}_1 + \overline{M}_2)^{d-1} \ge \overline{M}_2^2 (\overline{M}_1 + \overline{M}_2)^{d-2} \ge \dots \ge \overline{M}_2^d > 0.$$

This finishes the proof.

We refer to §A for a review of admissible metrics of Arakelov [Ara] and Zhang [Zha1]. The goal of this subsection is to extend the theory to quasiprojective families of curves. Our main result here is the following family version of Theorem A.1.

Theorem 2.3. Let k be either \mathbb{Z} or a field. Let S be a quasi-projective and flat normal integral scheme over k. Let $\pi : X \to S$ be a smooth relative curve of genus g > 0. Denote by $\Delta : X \to X \times_S X$ the diagonal morphism. Then the following are true:

- (a) There is an adelic line bundle $\overline{\omega}_{X/S,a}$ in $\widehat{\mathcal{P}ic}(X/k)$ with underlying line bundle $\omega_{X/S}$, such that for any $v \in S^{\mathrm{an}}$, the metric of $\omega_{X_{H_v}/H_v}$ on $X_{H_v}^{\mathrm{an}}$ induced by $\overline{\omega}_{X/S,a}$ is equal to the canonical admissible metric $\|\cdot\|_a$. Moreover, $\overline{\omega}_{X/S,a}$ is nef and unique up to isomorphism.
- (b) There is an adelic line bundle $\overline{\mathcal{O}}(\Delta)_a$ in $\widehat{\mathcal{Pic}}(X \times_S X/k)$ with underlying line bundle $\mathcal{O}(\Delta)$, such that for any $v \in S^{\mathrm{an}}$, the metric of $\mathcal{O}(\Delta_{H_v})$ on $(X^2_{H_v})^{\mathrm{an}}$ induced by $\overline{\mathcal{O}}(\Delta)_a$ is equal to the canonical admissible metric $\|\cdot\|_{\Delta,a}$. Moreover, $\overline{\mathcal{O}}(\Delta)_a$ is integrable and unique up to isomorphism.

Moreover, the adelic line bundles satisfy the following extra properties:

(1) The canonical isomorphism

$$\omega_{X/S} \longrightarrow \Delta^* \mathcal{O}(-\Delta)$$

induces an isomorphism

$$\overline{\omega}_{X/S,a} \longrightarrow \Delta^* \overline{\mathcal{O}}(-\Delta)_a.$$

(2) The canonical isomorphisms

 $p_{1*}\langle \mathcal{O}(\Delta), p_2^*\omega_{X/S} \rangle \longrightarrow \Delta^* p_2^*\omega_{X/S} \longrightarrow \omega_{X/S}$

induce an isomorphism

$$p_{1*}\langle \mathcal{O}(\Delta)_a, p_2^*\overline{\omega}_{X/S,a}\rangle \longrightarrow \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a}.$$

Here $p_1, p_2: X \times_S X \to X$ denote the two projections.

A few terms in the above statement require explanation. By abuse of notations, we write the diagonal divisor $\Delta(X)$ as Δ . It is actually a Cartier divisor in $X \times_S X$ (cf. [BLR, §8.2, Lem. 6]), so $\mathcal{O}(\Delta)$ is a line bundle on $X \times_S X$.

Recall that §2.1 contains a brief review of the Berkovich space S^{an} . For any $v \in S^{\text{an}}$, H_v denotes the completed residue field of v. We refer to [YZ2, §3.1] for more details.

The canonical admissible metrics are introduced for all $v \in S^{an}$ in §A.6. They are the Arakelov metrics in the archimedean case, the Zhang metrics in the non-archimedean case, and the canonical metric in the trivially valued case.

Finally, the uniqueness in (a) and (b) is a consequence of [YZ2, Prop. 3.4.1], which gives a canonical fully faithful analytification functor

$$\widehat{\mathcal{P}\mathrm{ic}}(X) \longrightarrow \widehat{\mathcal{P}\mathrm{ic}}(X^{\mathrm{an}}).$$

The proof of the existence is similar to that of Theorem A.1. We first prove weak versions of (a) and (b), and then modify them to satisfy (1) and (2). These weak versions are the admissible extensions generalizing the notions in \S A.3.

2.2.1 Basics on Jacobian schemes

Here we present some basic constructions of abelian schemes and Jacobian schemes. For more details, we refer to [MFK, Chap. 6] and [BLR, Chap. 9]. These constructions will be used in the proof of Theorem A.1 and elsewhere of this paper.

Let S be a noetherian scheme. Let $\pi : X \to S$ be a smooth relative curve of genus g > 0. Denote by $J = \operatorname{Pic}^0_{X/S}$ the Jacobian scheme over X over S. Let α be a line bundle on X of degree d on the fibers of $X \to S$. We have a finite S-morphism

$$i_{\alpha}: X \longrightarrow J, \quad x \longmapsto dx - \alpha$$

The right-hand side is understood in terms of functor points. We will also need the morphism

$$(i_{\alpha}, i_{\alpha}): X \times_S X \longrightarrow J \times_S J.$$

Now we consider line bundles on J. Without taking a base change of S, we have to deal with the case that there is no line bundle on X of degree 1 on fibers on S. Then it is not possible to define a theta divisor as in the case of algebraically closed fields.

However, there is still a canonical principal polarization $J \to J^{\vee}$ over S in this generality, as proved in [MFK, §6.1, Prop. 6.9]. Then we have a *Poincaré line bundle* P on $J \times_S J$, obtained by the Poincaré line bundle of $J \times_S J^{\vee}$ via the polarization. As a convention, the Poincaré line bundle P is rigidified along zero sections in the sense that there are fixed isomorphisms $(e, \mathrm{id})^* P \to \mathcal{O}_J$ and $(\mathrm{id}, e)^* P \to \mathcal{O}_J$. Here $e: S \to J$ is the identity section, and (e, id) and (id, e) are the morphisms $J \to J \times_S J$ by the identity section. This determines the class of P in $\operatorname{Pic}(J \times_S J)$ uniquely.

Definition 2.4. Define a line bundle on J by

$$\Theta = \Delta^*_I(P^{\vee}),$$

where $\Delta_J: J \to J \times_S J$ is the diagonal morphism.

This is the construction outlined right before [MFK, §6.2, Prop. 6.10]. By construction, Θ is symmetric and rigidified along the identity section $e: S \to J$, since the similar property holds for P. By Lemma A.3(3), Θ is algebraically equivalent to twice of a theta divisor on each geometric fiber of $J \to S$. Therefore, Θ is relatively ample over S.

2.2.2 Admissible extensions

Recall that in §A.3 (together with §A.1, §A.6), we have a notion of admissible metrics of line bundles on abelian varieties, smooth curves, square of smooth curves over a complete valuation field. Now we extend this to family version as follows.

Resume the notation of Theorem 2.3. Namely, let k be either \mathbb{Z} or a field. Let S be a quasi-projective and flat normal integral scheme over k. Let $\pi : X \to S$ be a smooth relative curve of genus g > 0. We introduce the following definition.

Definition 2.5. Let W be $X, X \times_S X$, or an abelian scheme over S. Let \overline{L} be an integrable adelic line bundle on W/k with underlying line bundle L. We say that \overline{L} is *admissible* if for any $v \in S^{\mathrm{an}}$, the metric of $L|W_{H_v}$ on $W_{H_v}^{\mathrm{an}}$ induced by \overline{L} is admissible. In this case, we say that \overline{L} is an *admissible adelic extension* of L.

Proposition 2.6. Let W be X, $X \times_S X$, or an abelian scheme over S. Then any line bundle L on W admits an admissible adelic extension in $\widehat{\text{Pic}}(W/k)_{\text{int}}$, unique up to translation by $\ker(\widehat{\text{Pic}}(S/k)_{\text{int}} \to \text{Pic}(S))$.

Proof. The uniqueness follows from Lemma 2.1(2). The existence is similar to the exposition in \S A.3. For example, the case of abelian schemes is given by the dynamically invariant extension constructed in [YZ2, Thm. 6.1.1].

To treat the other cases, let us first introduce some notations. For any projective and flat S-schemes Y, denote by $\operatorname{Pic}^{0}(Y)$ the subgroup of $\operatorname{Pic}(Y)$ of line bundles on Y which are algebraically equivalent to 0 on fibers of $Y \to S$. Denote by $\operatorname{Pic}_{Y/S}(S)$ the relative Picard group, and denote by $\operatorname{Pic}_{Y/S}^{0}(S)$ the subgroup of line bundles which are algebraically equivalent to 0 on fibers of $Y \to S$.

For any projective and flat S-schemes Y_1, Y_2 , denote by $\operatorname{Pic}^{00}(Y_1 \times_S Y_2)$ the subgroup of $\operatorname{Pic}(Y_1 \times_S Y_2)$ of line bundles which are algebraically equivalent to 0 on fibers of both projections $p_i: Y_1 \times_S Y_2 \to Y_i$.

For the case W = X, let α be a line bundle on X of degree d > 0 on the fibers of $X \to S$. It defines a finite morphism $i_{\alpha} : X \to J$. By pullback of an admissible adelic extension of the line bundle Θ from J to X, it suffices to prove that the map $i_{\alpha}^* : \operatorname{Pic}^0(J) \to \operatorname{Pic}^0(X)$ has a torsion cokernel, or equivalently that the map $i_{\alpha}^* : \operatorname{Pic}^0(J)/\operatorname{Pic}(S) \to \operatorname{Pic}^0(X)/\operatorname{Pic}(S)$ has a torsion cokernel. As a consequence of the Leray spectral sequence (cf. [BLR, §8.1, Prop. 4]), there is a canonical isomorphism $\operatorname{Pic}^0(J)/\operatorname{Pic}(S) \to \operatorname{Pic}^0_{J/S}(S)$ and a canonical injection $\operatorname{Pic}^0(X)/\operatorname{Pic}(S) \to \operatorname{Pic}^0_{X/S}(S)$. Then its suffices to prove that the map $i_{\alpha}^* : \operatorname{Pic}^0_{J/S}(S) \to \operatorname{Pic}^0_{X/S}(S)$ has a torsion cokernel.

Note that we have a canonical isomorphism $\operatorname{Pic}_{J/S}^0 \to \operatorname{Pic}_{X/S}^0$, which can be established via flat descent. Under the isomorphism, $i_{\alpha}^* : \operatorname{Pic}_{J/S}^0 \to \operatorname{Pic}_{X/S}^0$

is isomorphic to the multiplication $[d] : \operatorname{Pic}^{0}_{X/S} \to \operatorname{Pic}^{0}_{X/S}$, which can be verified fiberwise. This proves the case W = X.

For the case $W = X \times_S X$, let α be as above, and consider the morphism $(i_{\alpha}, i_{\alpha}) : X \times_S X \to J \times_S J$. By pull-back of admissible extensions of $p_i^* \Theta$ from $J \times_S J$ to $X \times_S X$, it suffices to prove that the canonical map

$$i_{\alpha}^* : \operatorname{Pic}^{00}(J \times_S J) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Pic}^{00}(X \times_S X)$$

has a torsion cokernel.

Apply the above result to the relative curve $p_1 : X \times_S X \to X$, whose relative Jacobian is just $q_1 : X \times_S J \to X$. We see that the canonical map

$$\operatorname{Pic}^{00}(X \times_S J) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Pic}^{00}(X \times_S X)$$

has a torsion cokernel. Similarly, apply the above result to the relative curve $q_2: X \times_S J \to J$, whose relative Jacobian is just $p_2: J \times_S J \to J$. We see that the canonical map

$$\operatorname{Pic}^{00}(J \times_S J) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Pic}^{00}(X \times_S J)$$

has a torsion cokernel. The result is proved by combining these two results. $\hfill \Box$

2.2.3 Construction of canonical admissible extensions

Now we prove Theorem 2.3. Let X/S/k be as in the theorem.

By Proposition 2.6, there is an admissible adelic extension $\overline{\omega}'_{X/S,a}$ of $\omega_{X/S}$ in $\widehat{\mathcal{P}ic}(X/k)$ and an admissible adelic extension $\overline{\mathcal{O}}(\Delta)'_a$ of $\mathcal{O}(\Delta)$ in $\widehat{\mathcal{P}ic}(X \times_S X/k)$. We will modify $(\overline{\omega}'_{X/S,a}, \overline{\mathcal{O}}(\Delta)'_a)$ to meet Theorem 2.3. Namely, we will prove that there are integrable adelic line bundles $\overline{\beta}_1$ and $\overline{\beta}_2$ in $\widehat{\mathcal{P}ic}(S)$ with underlying line bundles β_1 and β_2 in $\mathcal{Pic}(S)$, together with isomorphisms $\beta_1 \to \mathcal{O}_S$ and $\beta_2 \to \mathcal{O}_S$, such that the adelic line bundles

$$\overline{\omega}_{X/S,a} := \overline{\omega}'_{X/S,a} + \pi^* \overline{\beta}_1, \qquad \overline{\mathcal{O}}(\Delta)_a := \overline{\mathcal{O}}(\Delta)'_a + (\pi, \pi)^* \overline{\beta}_2$$

satisfy (1) and (2) of Theorem 2.3. Here $(\pi, \pi) : X \times_S X \to S$ is the structure morphism.

We first look at (2), which requires an isomorphism

$$p_{1*}\langle \mathcal{O}(\Delta)_a, p_2^*\overline{\omega}_{X/S,a} \rangle \longrightarrow \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a}$$

extending the canonical isomorphism of the corresponding underlying line bundles. By [YZ2, Lem. 4.6.1(2)], there is a canonical isomorphism

$$p_{1*}\langle \overline{\mathcal{O}}(\Delta)_a, (\pi, \pi)^* \overline{\beta}_1 \rangle \longrightarrow \pi^* \overline{\beta}_1.$$

Thus (2) is equivalent to an isomorphism

$$p_{1*}\langle \overline{\mathcal{O}}(\Delta)_a, p_2^*\overline{\omega}'_{X/S,a} \rangle \longrightarrow \overline{\omega}'_{X/S,a}.$$

By [YZ2, Lem. 4.6.1(2)] again, it suffices to have a canonical isomorphism

$$p_{1*}\langle \overline{\mathcal{O}}(\Delta)'_a, \ p_2^*\overline{\omega}'_{X/S,a} \rangle + (2g-2)\overline{\beta}_2 \longrightarrow \overline{\omega}'_{X/S,a}$$

Define $\overline{\beta}_2 \in \widehat{\mathcal{P}ic}(S)$ with trivial underlying line bundle satisfying the above isomorphism.

This establishes (2), which determines $\overline{\beta}_2$ and thus $\overline{\mathcal{O}}(\Delta)_a$. Similarly, we use (1) to determine $\overline{\beta}_1$ and thus $\overline{\omega}_{X/S,a}$. This proves Theorem 2.3.

2.3 Intersection and pull-back

The goal of this subsection is to consider some properties of admissible adelic line bundles. We first present the adjunction formula and the arithmetic Hodge index theorem, and then prove some explicit formulae about pullback of admissible adelic line bundles from the Jacobian schemes.

For convenience, we introduce the notations for this subsection. Let k be either \mathbb{Z} or a field. Let S be a quasi-projective and flat normal integral scheme over k. Let $\pi : X \to S$ be a smooth relative curve of genus g > 0. Denote by $\Delta : X \to X \times_S X$ the diagonal morphism. Let $\overline{\omega}_{X/S,a}$ and $\overline{\mathcal{O}}(\Delta)_a$ be the canonical admissible extensions in Theorem 2.3.

For any section $x : S \to X$ of $\pi : X \to S$, note that x(S) is a Cartier divisor on X (cf. [BLR, §8.2, Lem. 6]). Denote by $\mathcal{O}(x)$ the line bundle on X associated to the Cartier divisor x(S). Denote by $\overline{\mathcal{O}}(x)_a$ the pull-back of $\overline{\mathcal{O}}(\Delta)_a$ via the morphism $(x, \mathrm{id}) : X \to X \times_S X$, which is an admissible adelic extension of $\mathcal{O}(x)$ on X/k. We call $\overline{\mathcal{O}}(x)_a$ the canonical admissible adelic extension of $\mathcal{O}(x)$ on X/k.

By Definition 2.4, we have a symmetric, relatively ample and rigidified line bundle Θ on J. By [YZ2, Thm. 6.1.1(3)], there is a nef adelic line bundle $\overline{\Theta}$ on J/k extending Θ such that $[2]^*\overline{\Theta} = 4\overline{\Theta}$ in $\widehat{\text{Pic}}(J/k)$.

2.3.1 Adjunction formula and Hodge index theorem

We first have the following adjunction formula, which generalizes [Zha1, Thm. 4.2].

Proposition 2.7. Let $x : S \to X$ be a section of $\pi : X \to S$.

(1) There is a canonical isomorphism

$$\pi_* \langle \overline{\mathcal{O}}(x)_a, \overline{L} \rangle \longrightarrow x^* \overline{L}$$

for any admissible adelic line bundle \overline{L} on X/k.

(2) There is a canonical isomorphism

$$\pi_* \langle \overline{\mathcal{O}}(x)_a, \overline{\mathcal{O}}(x)_a \rangle \longrightarrow -\pi_* \langle \overline{\mathcal{O}}(x)_a, \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a} \rangle.$$

Proof. We first prove (1). There is a canonical isomorphism $\pi_* \langle \mathcal{O}(x), L \rangle \rightarrow x^*L$. By the analytification functor $\widehat{\mathcal{P}ic}(S) \rightarrow \widehat{\mathcal{P}ic}(S^{an})$, it suffices to prove that the norm of this isomorphism is 1 at any $v \in S^{an}$. By the integration formulae in [YZ2, Thm. 4.6.2] and [YZ2, §4.2.2], the logarithm of this norm is given by

$$\int_{X_v^{\mathrm{an}}} \log \|1\|_v c_1(\overline{L})_v.$$

Here 1 is the canonical section of $\mathcal{O}(x)$. This vanishes by Theorem A.1.

For (2), recall that Theorem 2.3(1) gives an isomorphism $\overline{\omega}_{X/S,a} \to \Delta^* \mathcal{O}(-\Delta)_a$. Take the pull-back of this isomorphism via $x : S \to X$, we obtain an isomorphism $x^*\overline{\omega}_{X/S,a} \to x^*\overline{\mathcal{O}}(-x)_a$. Combining with (1), this gives (2).

Now we have the following consequence of the arithmetic Hodge index theorem of [YZ2].

Theorem 2.8. Let M be a line bundle on X with degree 0 on fibers of $X \to S$. Let \overline{M} be an admissible adelic extension of M on X. Then the following hold.

(1) Denote by $\widehat{\operatorname{Pic}}(X/k)_{\operatorname{vert}}$ the kernel of the forgetful map $\widehat{\operatorname{Pic}}(X/k)_{\operatorname{int}} \to \operatorname{Pic}(X)$. Then for any $\overline{V} \in \widehat{\operatorname{Pic}}(X/k)_{\operatorname{vert}}$,

$$\pi_* \langle \overline{M}, \overline{V} \rangle = 0$$

in $\widehat{\operatorname{Pic}}(S/k)$.

(2) Denote by $\iota: S \to J$ the section of $J \to S$ corresponding to the line bundle M on X. Then

$$\pi_* \langle \overline{M}, \overline{M} \rangle = -\iota^* \overline{\Theta}$$

in $\widehat{\operatorname{Pic}}(S/k)_{\mathbb{Q}}$.

Proof. This is a variant of the arithmetic Hodge index theorem of [YZ2, Thm. 6.5.4]. It suffices to prove (1). The proof is similar to that of Proposition 2.7(1). In fact, fix an isomorphism $V \simeq \mathcal{O}_X$. The isomorphism induces a canonical isomorphism $\pi_* \langle \overline{M}, \overline{V} \rangle \to \mathcal{O}_S$. By the analytification functor $\widehat{\mathcal{P}ic}(S) \to \widehat{\mathcal{P}ic}(S^{an})$, it suffices to prove that the norm of this isomorphism is 1 at any $v \in S^{an}$. By definition, the logarithm of this norm is given by

$$\int_{X_v^{\mathrm{an}}} \log \|1\|_v c_1(\overline{M})_v.$$

Here 1 is viewed as a section of V via $V \simeq \mathcal{O}_X$. By Theorem A.1, $c_1(\overline{M})_v = 0$ since $\deg(M_v) = 0$. This finishes the proof.

2.3.2 Pull-back formula: general

Resume the above notations. Namely, let k be either \mathbb{Z} or a field, let S be a quasi-projective and flat normal integral scheme over k, and let $\pi : X \to S$ be a smooth relative curve of genus g > 0.

We first present the following general pull-back formula, which generalizes its primitive version in Lemma A.3.

Theorem 2.9. Let α be a line bundle on X of degree d on the fibers of $\pi: X \to S$. Let $\overline{\alpha}$ be an admissible adelic extension of α on X.

(1) There is an identity

$$i_{\alpha}^*\overline{\Theta} = d^2\overline{\omega}_{X/S,a} + 2d\overline{\alpha} - \pi^*\pi_*\langle\overline{\alpha},\overline{\alpha}\rangle$$

in $\widehat{\operatorname{Pic}}(X)_{\mathbb{Q}}$.

(2) There are identities

$$\pi_* \langle i_\alpha^* \overline{\Theta}, i_\alpha^* \overline{\Theta} \rangle = d^4 \pi_* \langle \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a} \, \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a} \rangle + 4 d^3 \pi_* \langle \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a} \, \overline{\alpha} \rangle - (4g - 4) d^2 \pi_* \langle \overline{\alpha}, \overline{\alpha} \rangle$$

and

$$g-1)\pi_*\langle i^*_{\alpha}\overline{\Theta}, i^*_{\alpha}\overline{\Theta}\rangle = gd^4\pi_*\langle \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a}\,\overline{\omega}_{X/S,a}\rangle + d^2\iota^*_{\alpha}\overline{\Theta}$$

in $\widehat{\operatorname{Pic}}(S)_{\mathbb{Q}}$. Here $\iota_{\alpha} : S \to J$ is the section corresponding to the line bundle $(2g-2)\alpha - d\omega_{X/S}$ on X.

(3) Assume $\alpha = \mathcal{O}(x)$ for a section $x : S \to X$ of $\pi : X \to S$. Then

$$i_{\alpha}^*\overline{\Theta} = \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a} + 2\overline{\mathcal{O}}(x)_a + \pi^* x^* \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a}$$

in $\widehat{\operatorname{Pic}}(X)_{\mathbb{O}}$, and

(

$$\pi_* \langle i_\alpha^* \overline{\Theta}, i_\alpha^* \overline{\Theta} \rangle = \pi_* \langle \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a} \, \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a} \rangle + 4g \, x^* \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a}$$

in $\widehat{\operatorname{Pic}}(S)_{\mathbb{Q}}$.

Proof. It is easy to see that (3) is a consequence of (1) and (2) for $\overline{\alpha} = \overline{\mathcal{O}}(x)_a$ by the adjunction formula in Proposition 2.7.

To prove (2) by (1), by [YZ2, Lem. 4.6.1(2)],

$$\langle i_{\alpha}^*\overline{\Theta}, i_{\alpha}^*\overline{\Theta} \rangle = \langle d^2\overline{\omega}_{X/S,a} + 2d\overline{\alpha}, \ d^2\overline{\omega}_{X/S,a} + 2d\overline{\alpha} \rangle - 4gd^2\langle\overline{\alpha},\overline{\alpha}\rangle.$$

This gives

$$\langle i_{\alpha}^*\overline{\Theta}, i_{\alpha}^*\overline{\Theta} \rangle = d^4 \langle \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a} \,\overline{\omega}_{X/S,a} \rangle + 4d^3 \langle \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a} \,\overline{\alpha} \rangle - (4g - 4)d^2 \langle \overline{\alpha}, \overline{\alpha} \rangle$$

and

$$(g-1)\langle i_{\alpha}^*\overline{\Theta}, i_{\alpha}^*\overline{\Theta}\rangle = gd^4 \langle \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a} \,\overline{\omega}_{X/S,a} \rangle - d^2 \langle (2g-2)\overline{\alpha} - d\overline{\omega}_{X/S,a}, \, (2g-2)\overline{\alpha} - d\overline{\omega}_{X/S,a} \rangle.$$

Then it suffices to prove

$$\langle (2g-2)\overline{\alpha} - d\overline{\omega}_{X/S,a}, (2g-2)\overline{\alpha} - d\overline{\omega}_{X/S,a} \rangle = -\iota_{\alpha}^*\overline{\Theta}$$

in $\widehat{\text{Pic}}(S)_{\mathbb{Q}}$. This follows from the arithmetic Hodge index theorem in Theorem 2.8.

It remains to prove (1). Denote

$$\overline{N} = i_{\alpha}^* \overline{\Theta} - d^2 \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a} - 2d\overline{\alpha} + \pi^* \pi_* \langle \overline{\alpha}, \overline{\alpha} \rangle$$

We need to prove that $\overline{N} = 0$ in $\widehat{\text{Pic}}(X)_{\mathbb{Q}}$.

First, we prove that for any section $x : S \to X$ of $\pi : X \to S$, the pullback $x^*\overline{N} = 0$ in $\widehat{\text{Pic}}(S)_{\mathbb{Q}}$. In fact, $i_{\alpha} : X \to J$ maps x to the section $\iota : S \to J$ corresponding to the line bundle $d\mathcal{O}(x) - \alpha$ on X. By the arithmetic Hodge index theorem in Theorem 2.8,

$$x^* i^*_{\alpha} \overline{\Theta} = \iota^* \overline{\Theta} = -\pi_* \langle d\overline{\mathcal{O}}(x)_a - \overline{\alpha}, \, d\overline{\mathcal{O}}(x)_a - \overline{\alpha} \rangle$$

By the adjunction formula in Proposition 2.7,

$$x^*\overline{\alpha} = \langle \overline{\mathcal{O}}(x)_a, \, \overline{\alpha} \rangle$$

and

$$x^*\overline{\omega}_{X/S,a} = \langle \overline{\mathcal{O}}(x)_a, \, \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a} \rangle = -\langle \overline{\mathcal{O}}(x)_a, \, \overline{\mathcal{O}}(x)_a \rangle.$$

Then $x^*\overline{N} = 0$ by bi-linearity of the Deligne pairing.

Second, we extend the result to the statement that, for any flat and quasi-projective normal integral scheme S' over S, and for any S-morphism $y: S' \to X$, the pull-back $y^*\overline{N} = 0$ in $\widehat{\operatorname{Pic}}(S')_{\mathbb{Q}}$. In fact, denote by $\pi': X' \to$ S' the base change of $\pi: X \to S$ by $S' \to S$. Then $y: S' \to X$ induces a section $y': S' \to X'$ of $\pi': X' \to S'$. Denote by \overline{N}' the pull-back of \overline{N} to $\widehat{\operatorname{Pic}}(X')_{\mathbb{Q}}$. It suffices to prove $y'^*\overline{N}' = 0$ in $\widehat{\operatorname{Pic}}(S')_{\mathbb{Q}}$. This is reduced to the above case.

Third, in above statement, take S' = X and take $y : S' \to X$ to be the identity section. Then $y^*\overline{N} = 0$ in $\widehat{\operatorname{Pic}}(S')_{\mathbb{Q}}$ just means $\overline{N} = 0$ in $\widehat{\operatorname{Pic}}(X)_{\mathbb{Q}}$. This finishes the proof.

2.3.3 Pull-back formula: explicit examples

The following special examples of the theorem will be very useful for our later considerations.

Theorem 2.10. Assume that g > 1.

(1) Let $\omega = \omega_{X/S}$ be the canonical bundle of X over S. Then

$$i_{\omega}^*\overline{\Theta} = 4g(g-1)\overline{\omega}_{X/S,a} - \pi^*\pi_* \langle \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a}, \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a} \rangle,$$

in $\widehat{\operatorname{Pic}}(X)_{\mathbb{Q}}$, and

$$\pi_* \langle i_\omega^* \overline{\Theta}, i_\omega^* \overline{\Theta} \rangle = 16g(g-1)^3 \pi_* \langle \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a}, \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a} \rangle$$

in $\widehat{\operatorname{Pic}}(S)_{\mathbb{Q}}$. Therefore, $\overline{\omega}_{X/S,a}$ is nef on X, and $\pi_*\langle \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a}, \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a} \rangle$ is nef on S.

(2) Let j be the morphism

 $j: X \times_S X \longrightarrow J, \quad (x,y) \longmapsto y - x.$

Then

$$j^*\overline{\Theta} = 2\overline{\mathcal{O}}(\Delta)_a + p_1^*\overline{\omega}_{X/S,a} + p_2^*\overline{\omega}_{X/S,a}$$

in $\widehat{\operatorname{Pic}}(X \times_S X)_{\mathbb{Q}}$, and

$$p_{1*}\langle j^*\overline{\Theta}, j^*\overline{\Theta}\rangle = 4g\,\overline{\omega}_{X/S,a} + \pi^*\pi_*\langle\overline{\omega}_{X/S,a}, \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a}\rangle$$

in $\widehat{\operatorname{Pic}}(X)_{\mathbb{Q}}$.

(3) Let τ be the morphism

$$\tau: J \times_S X \longrightarrow J \times_S J, \quad (y, x) \longmapsto (y, y + (2g - 2)x - \omega_{X/S}).$$

Then

$$q_{1*}\langle \tau^*(\overline{\Theta}_J), \tau^*(\overline{\Theta}_J) \rangle = 16(g-1)^3\overline{\Theta} + 16g(g-1)^3\pi_J^*\pi_*\langle \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a}, \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a} \rangle$$

in $\widehat{\operatorname{Pic}}(J)_{\mathbb{Q}}$. Here $\pi_J: J \to S$ denotes the structure morphism.

Proof. Note that (1) is a direct consequence of Theorem 2.9(1)(2). The nefness of $\overline{\omega}_{X/S,a}$ comes from the nefness of $\overline{\Theta}$ by the formula

$$\overline{\omega}_{X/S,a} = \frac{1}{4g(g-1)} i_{\omega}^* \overline{\Theta} + \frac{1}{64g^2(g-1)^4} \pi^* \pi_* \langle i_{\omega}^* \overline{\Theta}, i_{\omega}^* \overline{\Theta} \rangle.$$

For (2), the key is to interpret j in the form of Theorem 2.9(3). Denote $X_X = X \times_S X$ and $J_X = X \times_S J$, viewed as X-schemes via the first projections $p_1 : X_X \to X$ and $p_1 : J_X \to X$. Then $p_1 : J_X \to X$ is canonically isomorphic to the Jacobian scheme of $p_1 : X_X \to X$. View $\Delta : X \to X \times_S X = X_X$ as a section of $p_1 : X_X \to X$, which defines an X-morphism

$$i_{\Delta} = i_{\mathcal{O}(\Delta)} : X_X \longrightarrow J_X, \quad x \longmapsto x - \Delta.$$

Denote by $\overline{\Theta}_X$ the pull-back of the adelic line bundle $\overline{\Theta}$ via the projection $J_X \to J$.

Apply Theorem 2.9(3) to the X-morphism $i_{\Delta}: X_X \to J_X$. We obtain

$$i_{\Delta}^{*}(\overline{\Theta}_{X}) = 2\overline{\mathcal{O}}(\Delta)_{a} + p_{1}^{*}\overline{\omega}_{X/S,a} + p_{2}^{*}\overline{\omega}_{X/S,a}$$

in $\widehat{\operatorname{Pic}}(X_X)$, and

$$p_{1*}\langle i^*_{\Delta}(\overline{\Theta}_X), i^*_{\Delta}(\overline{\Theta}_X) \rangle = 4g \,\overline{\omega}_{X/S,a} + \pi^* \pi_* \langle \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a}, \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a} \rangle$$

in $\operatorname{Pic}(X)$.

On the other hand, we can write i_{Δ} as

$$i_{\Delta}: X \times_S X \longrightarrow X \times_S J, \quad (x, y) \longmapsto (x, y - x).$$

Thus $j: X \times_S X \to J$ is equal to the composition of i_{Δ} with the projection $p_2: X \times_S J \to J$. This gives $j^*(\overline{\Theta}) = i^*_{\Delta}(\overline{\Theta}_X)$. Then (2) is proved.

To prove (3), we first consider the case that $\pi : X \to S$ has a section $x: S \to X$. This gives an immersion

$$(\mathrm{id}, i_x) : J \times_S X \longrightarrow J \times_S J.$$

Then we have a universal line bundle $Q = (\mathrm{id}, i_x)^* P$ on $J \times_S X$, where P is the Poincaré line bundle on $J \times_S J$. As in [YZ2, §6.5.2] or [YZ2, Thm. 6.1.2], there is a canonical extension \overline{Q} of Q in $\widehat{\mathrm{Pic}}(J \times_S X)_{\mathrm{int}}$ such that $[2]_X^* \overline{Q} = 2\overline{Q}$. Here $[2]_X : J \times_S X \to J \times_S X$ is the base change of $[2] : J \to J$.

Write $X_J = J \times_S X$ and $J_J = J \times_S J$, viewed as J-schemes by projections to the first factors. Then J_J is canonically isomorphic to the Jacobian scheme of X_J over J. We claim that the morphism

 $\tau: J \times_S X \longrightarrow J \times_S J, \quad (y, x) \longmapsto (y, y + (2g - 2)x - \omega_{X/S})$

is equal to

$$i_{\omega-Q}: X_J \longrightarrow J_J, \quad x \longmapsto (2g-2)x - (\omega_{X/S} - Q).$$

To prove the claim, we can assume that S is the spectrum of an algebraically closed field. Then for any point $\beta \in J(S)$, the fiber of $i_{\omega-Q}: X_J \to J_J$ above β is isomorphic to the morphism

$$i_{\omega-Q_{\beta}}: X \longrightarrow J, \quad x \longmapsto (2g-2)x - (\omega_{X_J/J} - Q_{\beta}).$$

By the universal property, $Q_{\beta} = Q|_{X \times_S \beta} = \beta$ as a line bundle on X. This proves the claim.

With the claim, apply Theorem 2.9(2) to $i_{\omega-Q_{\beta}}: X_J \to J_J$. It gives

$$q_{1*}\langle \tau^*(\overline{\Theta}_J), \, \tau^*(\overline{\Theta}_J) \rangle = 16g(g-1)^3 \pi_J^* \pi_* \langle \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a}, \, \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a} \rangle + 16(g-1)^3 \iota^* \overline{\Theta}.$$

Here $\iota : J \to J$ is the morphism corresponding to the line bundle Q on $J \times_S X$. Then ι is exactly the identity morphism. See also the universal Hodge index theorem in [YZ2, Cor. 6.5.5]. This proves the result assuming that $X \to S$ has a section.

As in the proof of Theorem 2.9, it is easy to extend this result to the general case. In fact, take the base change of everything by $X \to S$, which converts to the case with sections, and then we can recover the original case by Lemma 2.1(1).

3 Bigness of the admissible canonical bundle

The goal of this section is to study the positivity of the admissible canonical line bundle $\overline{\omega}_{X/S,a}$ in Theorem 2.3. The following is the main result of this section.

Theorem 3.1. Let k be either \mathbb{Z} or a field. Let S be a quasi-projective and flat normal integral scheme over k. Let $\pi : X \to S$ be a smooth relative curve over S of genus g > 1 with maximal variation. Then the admissible canonical bundle $\overline{\omega}_{X/S,a}$ is nef and big on X.

Recall that the relative curve $\pi : X \to S$ has maximal variation if the moduli morphism $S \to M_{g,k}$ is generically finite, where $M_{g,k}$ denotes the coarse moduli scheme of smooth curves of genus g over k. Note that we require g > 1 in this section, while we only require g > 0 in the previous section. An equivalent form of the theorem is as follows.

Theorem 3.2. Let k be either \mathbb{Z} or a field. Let S be a quasi-projective and flat normal integral scheme over k. Let $\pi : X \to S$ be a smooth relative curve over S of genus g > 1 with maximal variation. Then the Deligne pairing $\pi_* \langle \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a}, \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a} \rangle$ is nef and big on S.

By Lemma 2.2(1), the Deligne pairing of nef and big adelic line bundles is still nef and big. Then Theorem 3.2 is an easy consequence of Theorem 3.1. However, in our treatment, we will first prove Theorem 3.2 and then use it to deduce Theorem 3.1 by the following argument.

Proof of Theorem 3.1 by Theorem 3.2. By Theorem 2.10(1), $\overline{\omega}_{X/S,a}$ is nef on X, and

$$4g(g-1)\overline{\omega}_{X/S,a} = i_{\omega}^*\overline{\Theta} + \pi^*\pi_*\langle \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a}, \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a}\rangle.$$

It suffices to estimate the self-intersection of the right-hand side. Denote by $d = \dim S$. Then the self-intersection of the right-hand side contains a term

$$i_{\omega}^*\overline{\Theta}\cdot\left(\pi^*\pi_*\langle\overline{\omega}_{X/S,a},\overline{\omega}_{X/S,a}\rangle\right)^d = a\left(\pi_*\langle\overline{\omega}_{X/S,a},\overline{\omega}_{X/S,a}\rangle\right)^d > 0.$$

Here a = 4g(g-1)(2g-2) is the degree of $i_{\omega}^*\overline{\Theta}$ on the generic fiber of $X \to S$. This finishes the proof.

The idea of the proof of Theorem 3.2 is explained in the introduction. The first three subsections of this section are preparatory results for the proof, and then the last two subsections give the proofs of the geometric case and the arithmetic case respectively.

3.1 Basics on the moduli space of curves

In this subsection, we review some standard notions on moduli spaces of curves and stable curves.

3.1.1 Basics on the moduli space

We refer to $[DM, \S1]$ (or our $\S1.6$) for quick definitions of stable curves.

Let k be either \mathbb{Z} or a field. Fix an integer g > 1. Denote by \mathcal{M}_g the moduli stack of smooth curves of genus g over k, and by $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_g$ the moduli stack of stable curves of genus g over k. Denote by $\pi_g : \mathcal{C}_g \to \mathcal{M}_g$ and $\pi_g : \overline{\mathcal{C}}_g \to \overline{\mathcal{M}}_g$ respectively the universal curves of the stacks.

By [DM, Thm. 5.2], \mathcal{M}_g is smooth over k, and \mathcal{M}_g is proper and smooth over k. Denote by \mathcal{M}_g and $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_g$ the coarse moduli schemes of \mathcal{M}_g and $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_g$ respectively. We refer to [DM] for more details on the moduli stacks.

By the standard theory of stacks, line bundles and Cartier divisors on the stacks are defined in terms of descent. We refer to [AC, §1] and [CH, §4] for explanation on line bundles on \mathcal{M}_g and $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_g$. Or one can always take a fine level structure to avoid stacks. Over $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_g$, there are a Hodge bundle λ and tautological divisors $\Delta_0, \dots, \Delta_{[g/2]}$ defined as follows.

The Hodge bundle on \mathcal{M}_g is defined by

$$\lambda := \det \pi_{g*}(\omega_{\overline{\mathcal{C}}_g/\overline{\mathcal{M}}_g}) = \wedge^g \pi_{g*}(\omega_{\overline{\mathcal{C}}_g/\overline{\mathcal{M}}_g}),$$

where $\omega_{\overline{\mathcal{C}}_g/\overline{\mathcal{M}}_g}$ is the relative dualizing sheaf. It is a line bundle on $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_g$. Note that in the literature, the term "Hodge bundle" may also mean the vector

bundle $\pi_{g*}(\omega_{\overline{\mathcal{C}}_g/\overline{\mathcal{M}}_g})$, but in this paper it always means the determinant of $\pi_{g*}(\omega_{\overline{\mathcal{C}}_g/\overline{\mathcal{M}}_g}).$ By [DM, Thm. 5.2],

$$\Delta := \overline{\mathcal{M}}_g \setminus \mathcal{M}_g$$

is a divisor of normal crossing in $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_q$. In terms of "prime divisors", we can write

$$\Delta = \Delta_0 \cup \Delta_1 \cup \cdots \cup \Delta_{[g/2]},$$

where Δ_i for i > 0 (resp. i = 0) is irreducible and parametrizes non-smooth stable curves C such that the partial normalization of C at one of its nodes consists of two connected components of arithmetic genera i and g-i (resp. is connected).

The following universal Noether's formula is obtained by Mumford [Mum, p. 102] as an easy application of Grothendieck's Riemann–Roch theorem.

Theorem 3.3 (Noether's formula). In $\operatorname{Pic}(\mathcal{M}_q)$,

$$12\lambda = \pi_{g*} \langle \omega_{\overline{\mathcal{C}}_g/\overline{\mathcal{M}}_g}, \omega_{\overline{\mathcal{C}}_g/\overline{\mathcal{M}}_g} \rangle + \mathcal{O}_{\overline{\mathcal{M}}_g}(\Delta).$$

3.1.2Pull-back to arbitrary families

Let \overline{S} be an integral noetherian scheme. Let $\pi: \overline{X} \to \overline{S}$ be a stable relative curve of genus g. Assume that the generic fiber of \overline{X} is smooth. By the moduli property, there is a morphism $\iota : \overline{S} \to \overline{\mathcal{M}}_g$ such that $\overline{X} \to \overline{S}$ is isomorphic to the base change of the universal curve $\overline{\mathcal{C}}_g \to \overline{\mathcal{M}}_g$. We have the Hodge bundle

$$\lambda_{\overline{S}} = \iota^* \lambda \simeq \det \pi_* \omega_{\overline{X}/\overline{S}} = \wedge^g \pi_* \omega_{\overline{X}/\overline{S}}.$$

We also have the boundary divisors

$$\Delta_{\overline{S}} = \iota^* \Delta, \quad \Delta_{\overline{S},i} = \iota^* \Delta_i, \quad i = 0, 1, \cdots, [g/2].$$

They are effective Cartier divisors on \overline{S} . We have

$$\Delta_{\overline{S}} = \Delta_{\overline{S},0} + \Delta_{\overline{S},1} + \dots + \Delta_{\overline{S},[g/2]}.$$

Via pull-back, Noether's formula in Theorem 3.3 gives

$$12\lambda_{\overline{S}} = \pi_* \langle \omega_{\overline{X}/\overline{S}}, \omega_{\overline{X}/\overline{S}} \rangle + \mathcal{O}(\Delta_{\overline{S}}).$$

in $\operatorname{Pic}(\overline{S})$.

If \overline{S} is normal, the divisor Δ_i on \overline{S} can be defined explicitly as follows. It suffices to define the multiplicity $\operatorname{ord}_v(\Delta_i)$ of Δ_i along a codimension one point v of \overline{S} . The problem is further reduced to the curve $\overline{X}_{\mathcal{O}_{\overline{S},v}}$ over $\mathcal{O}_{\overline{S},v}$. This is essentially contained in the example of [CH, p. 464]. In fact, by a finite unramified base change of $\mathcal{O}_{\overline{S},v}$, we can assume that all nodes of \overline{X}_v are rational over the residue field k(v). For any node x of \overline{X}_v , denote its type by $i(x) \in \{0, 1, \cdots, [g/2]\}$. The multiplicity m(x) of x is defined to be a positive integer such that the local equation of \overline{X} at x is of type $t_1 t_2 = \varpi^{m(x)}$, where $\varpi \in \mathcal{O}_{\overline{S},v}$ is a generator of the maximal ideal. With these data, we have the formula

$$\operatorname{ord}_{v}(\Delta_{i}) = \sum_{x \in \overline{X}_{v}, i(x)=i} m(x).$$

There is another equivalent definition of the Hodge bundle, which is essential in the definition of the Faltings height. Resume the above setting; i.e., let \overline{S} be an integral noetherian scheme, and let $\pi : \overline{X} \to \overline{S}$ be a stable relative curve of genus g. By [BLR, §9.4, Thm. 1], the Picard functor $\operatorname{Pic}_{\overline{X}/\overline{S}}$ is representable by an algebraic space over \overline{S} , and more importantly the relative identity component $\overline{J} = \operatorname{Pic}_{\overline{X}/\overline{S}}^0$ is represented by a (separated and smooth) semi-abelian group scheme over \overline{S} . The Hodge bundle of \overline{J} over \overline{S} is defined as

$$\underline{\omega}_{\overline{S}} := \det(e^* \Omega^1_{\overline{J}/\overline{S}}),$$

where $e: \overline{S} \to \overline{J}$ is the identity section. Then we have the following result, which is well-known to the experts.

Lemma 3.4. There is a canonical isomorphism

$$\lambda_{\overline{S}} \longrightarrow \underline{\omega}_{\overline{S}}.$$

Proof. It suffices to establish a canonical isomorphism

$$\pi_*\omega_{\overline{X}/\overline{S}} \longrightarrow e^*\Omega^1_{\overline{J}/\overline{S}}.$$

By duality, it suffices to establish a canonical isomorphism

$$\operatorname{Lie}(\overline{J}/\overline{S}) \longrightarrow R^1 \pi_* \mathcal{O}_{\overline{X}}.$$

This is a consequence of the deformation theory (cf. [BLR, \S 8.4, Thm. 1]).

3.1.3 Stable compactification

Let k be either \mathbb{Z} or a field. Let S be a quasi-projective integral scheme over k. Let $\pi: X \to S$ be a smooth relative curve of genus g > 1.

By a stable compactification of $\pi : X \to S$, we mean a projective integral scheme \overline{S} over k with an open immersion $S \to \overline{S}$, a stable relative curve $\overline{\pi} : \overline{X} \to \overline{S}$ of genus g, and an open immersion $X \to \overline{X}$ compatible with the previous morphisms.

For any smooth relative curve $\pi : X \to S$ as above, there is an integral scheme S' with a finite and surjective morphism $S' \to S$ such that the base change $\pi' : X' \to S'$ of $\pi : X \to S$ by $S' \to S$ has a stable compactification. If dim S = 1, this fact is a consequence of the stable reduction theorem (or the properness of the stack $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_q$). If dim S > 1, we sketch a proof as follows.

We claim that there is a projective normal integral scheme $\overline{\mathcal{M}}'_g$ over \mathbb{Z} , together with a (representable) finite and surjective morphism $\overline{\mathcal{M}}'_g \to \overline{\mathcal{M}}_g$. In fact, by the abstract result about Deligne–Mumford stacks in [LMB, Thm. 16.6], there is a (representable) finite and surjective morphism $\overline{\mathcal{M}}'_g \to \overline{\mathcal{M}}_g$ from a scheme $\overline{\mathcal{M}}'_g$. Then $\overline{\mathcal{M}}'_g$ is a proper scheme over \mathbb{Z} , and we need to prove that it is actually projective over \mathbb{Z} . For that, the key is that the coarse moduli scheme $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_g$ of $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_g$ is projective over \mathbb{Z} (cf. [CLM, Thm. 7.2]). Then it suffices to prove that the composition $\overline{\mathcal{M}}'_g \to \overline{\mathcal{M}}_g \to \overline{\mathcal{M}}_g$ is a finite morphism of schemes. Since the composition is a morphism of proper schemes over \mathbb{Z} , it suffices to check that it is quasi-finite, and thus it suffices to check that for any algebraically closed field F, the composition $\overline{\mathcal{M}}'_g(F) \to \overline{\mathcal{M}}_g(F) \to \overline{\mathcal{M}}_g(F)$ as a map of sets has finite fibers. This holds since the first arrow has finite fibers and the second arrow is bijective. Thus $\overline{\mathcal{M}}'_g$ is projective, and we can assume that it is integral and normal by passing to the normalization of a suitable irreducible component.

The scheme $\overline{\mathcal{M}}'_g$ is equipped with a "universal" stable curve $\overline{\mathcal{C}}'_g \to \overline{\mathcal{M}}'_g$ defined as the base change of the universal curve $\overline{\mathcal{C}}_g \to \overline{\mathcal{M}}_g$ by $\overline{\mathcal{M}}'_g \to \overline{\mathcal{M}}_g$.

Return to the existence of the stable compactification. we can take $S' \to S$ to be base change of $\overline{\mathcal{M}}'_g \to \overline{\mathcal{M}}_g$ by the moduli map $S \to \overline{\mathcal{M}}_g$, and a stable compactification is given by the Zariski closure of S' in $\overline{\mathcal{M}}'_g$. In this process, we may also need to replace S' by a suitable irreducible component to make it integral.

As we have just seen, neither \mathcal{M}_g nor \mathcal{M}_g is (representable by) a scheme brings lots of inconveniences in application. We can find two approaches for the purpose of this paper. The first approach is to use the above scheme $\overline{\mathcal{M}}'_g$ with its universal family. Another approach is to add a full level-N structure (for $N \geq 3$) to the definition of \mathcal{M}_g to get a (fine) moduli scheme $\mathcal{M}_{g,N}$. This approach is more common and has the advantage of being explicit, but it has other issues including that it requires the base scheme to avoid the prime factors of N, and that there is no natural level-N structure to add to $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_g$. The second issue has a weak solution by van Geemen–Oort [GO], which constructs a stable compactification of the universal family of $\mathcal{M}_{g,N}$.

In this paper, both approaches can solve our related issues. However, we will usually take the approach using level structures, since it is more common in the literature.

3.2 Passing to the relative dualizing sheaf

Our first step to treat $\langle \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a}, \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a} \rangle$ in Theorem 3.2 is to convert it to the relative dualizing sheaf of a stable compactification.

Let k be a field. Note that we exclude the case $k = \mathbb{Z}$ here. Let S be a quasi-projective normal integral scheme over k. Let $\pi : X \to S$ a smooth relative curve of genus g > 1 with a stable compactification $\overline{\pi} : \overline{X} \to \overline{S}$ over k.

Note that the relative dualizing sheaf $\omega_{\overline{X}/\overline{S}}$ is naturally viewed as an adelic line bundle on X/k by the functor $\mathcal{P}ic(\overline{X}) \to \widehat{\mathcal{P}ic}(X/k)$. Consider the difference

$$\overline{\pi}_* \langle \omega_{\overline{X}/\overline{S}}, \omega_{\overline{X}/\overline{S}} \rangle - \pi_* \langle \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a}, \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a} \rangle \simeq \mathcal{O}(E)$$

in $\operatorname{Pic}(S)$. Here we explain the right-hand side as follows. The underlying line bundle (over S) of left-hand side is canonically isomorphic to the trivial bundle \mathcal{O}_S . The section $1 \in \mathcal{O}_S$ corresponds to a rational section t of the left-hand side, and the adelic divisor

$$\overline{E} := \widehat{\operatorname{div}}(t)$$

on S has underlying divisor 0 on S.

There is a reasonably explicit description of \overline{E} by the graph-theoretic approach of [Zha1]. In fact, to describe \overline{E} , it suffices to describe its image under the analytification map

$$\widehat{\operatorname{Div}}(S/k) \longrightarrow \widehat{\operatorname{Div}}(S^{\operatorname{an}})$$

in [YZ2, Prop. 3.3.1]. As the underlying divisor of \overline{E} on S is 0, it suffices to describe its total Green's function

$$\widetilde{g}_{\overline{E}}: S^{\mathrm{an}} \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}.$$

By [YZ2, Lem. 3.1.1(1)], the set of $v \in S^{an}$ corresponding to discrete valuations of k(S) is dense in S^{an} . By continuity, it suffices to describe $\tilde{g}_{\overline{E}}(v)$ for any $v \in S^{an}$ corresponding to a discrete valuation. In this case, by [Zha1, Thm. 4.4],

$$\widetilde{g}_{\overline{E}}(v)/\log e_v = \epsilon(\Gamma_v) = \int_{\Gamma_v} g_\mu(x,x)((2g-2)\mu + \delta_{K_{X,v}}).$$

Here Γ_v is the reduction graph of X over the discrete valuation field H_v , and $e_v = |\varpi_v|^{-1}$, where ϖ_v is a generator of the maximal ideal of the valuation ring O_{H_v} . Note that the loc. cit. is about the case $e_v = e$, but the result can be transferred to general e_v by the norm-equivariance property in [YZ2, §3.2].

By this description, we have the following result. Recall that an adelic divisor is effective if it is the limit of effective model adelic divisors.

Lemma 3.5. The difference $(2g-2)\Delta_{\overline{S}} - \overline{E}$ is an effective adelic divisor in $\widehat{\text{Div}}(S)$.

Proof. Note that both adelic divisors $\Delta_{\overline{S}}$ and \overline{E} have trivial underlying divisors in Div(S). By [YZ2, Lem. 5.1.2], it suffices to prove that the corresponding total Green's function $(2g-2)\widetilde{g}_{\Delta_{\overline{S}}} - \widetilde{g}_{\overline{E}}$ is non-negative on S^{an} . By continuity and density, it suffices to prove that $(2g-2)\widetilde{g}_{\Delta_{\overline{S}}}(v) \geq \widetilde{g}_{\overline{E}}(v)$ for discrete valuations $v \in S^{\mathrm{an}}$. Note that $\widetilde{g}_{\Delta_{\overline{S}}}(v)/\log e_v = \ell(\Gamma_v)$ is exactly the total length of the reduction graph Γ_v . Thus it suffices to check $\epsilon(\Gamma_v) \leq (2g-2)\ell(\Gamma_v)$.

This is basic in graph theory. In fact, by [Zha3, eq. (4.1.4)],

$$\epsilon(\Gamma_v) = \int_{\Gamma_v \times \Gamma_v} r(x, y) \delta_{K_{X,v}}(x) \mu(y).$$

Here r(x, y) is the resistance function defined right before [Zha1, Prop. 3.3] or equivalently in [BF, Def. 12]. The inequality follows from the bound $r(x, y) \leq \ell(\Gamma_v)$, which in turn follows from the bound $r(x, y) \leq \ell(L_{x,y})$, where $L_{x,y}$ is a path in Γ_v connecting x, y. The intuitive bound $r(x, y) \leq \ell(L_{x,y})$ is proved in [KR, Thm. D] as a consequence of Rayleigh's monotonicity law. To fit our terminology, we sketch a proof following the idea of [BF, Exercise 12]. In fact, set y = x in [BF, Thm. 8], we have an equality

$$j_z(x,x) - j_z(w,x) = j_w(x,x) - j_w(z,x).$$

By [BF, Exercise 9], $j_z(w, x) \ge 0$ and $j_w(z, x) \le j_w(z, z)$, so the equality implies

$$j_z(x,x) \ge j_w(x,x) - j_w(z,z)$$

This is just the triangle inequality

$$r(x,w) \le r(x,z) + r(z,w).$$

With the triangle inequality, we can reduce the proof of $r(x, y) \leq \ell(L_{x,y})$ to the case that $L_{x,y}$ is an edge of the graph Γ_v with vertices x, y. Here we can assume that x, y lie in the vertex set of Γ_v by taking a subdivision. Then the equality follows from [BF, Thm. 10].

It is reasonable to say that \overline{E} is the globalization of the ϵ -invariant of [Zha1], and $\Delta_{\overline{S}}$ is the globalization of the ℓ -invariant (or the δ -invariant). In the following, we will see an adelic divisor $\overline{\Phi}$, the globalization of the φ -invariant of Zhang [Zha3].

3.3 Lower bound of the pairing

We also need a lower bound of $\langle \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a}, \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a} \rangle$, which is given by a globalization of the φ -invariant of Zhang [Zha3].

3.3.1 Zhang's φ -invariant

We first recall the φ -invariant of curves over local fields from [Zha3]. Let C be a smooth projective curve of genus g > 1 over a complete field K. The invariant $\varphi(C)$ is defined as the local intersection number

$$\varphi(C) = -\int_{(C \times C)^{\mathrm{an}}} g_{\Delta,a} c_1(\mathcal{O}(\overline{\Delta})_a)^2.$$

As in [Zha3, Thm 1.3.1], it has explicit expressions as follows.

If K is non-archimedean with a discrete valuation, then

$$\varphi(C) = -\frac{1}{4}\delta(C) + \frac{1}{4}\int_{\Gamma(C)} g_{\mu}(x,x)((10g+2)\mu - \delta_{K_{C}}).$$

Here the terms in the integration are as in §A.5. The invariant $\delta(C)$ is the total length $\ell(\Gamma)$ of the reduction graph Γ of C over K. If C has split semi-stable reduction, $\delta(C)$ is also the total number of nodes on the minimal regular model of C over O_K ; in general, if K' is a finite extension of K such that C has split semi-stable reduction over K', then $\delta(C) = \delta(C_{K'})/[K':K]$. We refer to [Zha3, Lem 3.5.4] for more details on this expression.

If $K = \mathbb{R}$, define $\varphi(C) = \varphi(C_{\mathbb{C}})$. If $K = \mathbb{C}$, the computation of [Zha3, Prop 2.5.3] gives

$$\varphi(C) = \sum_{\lambda} \sum_{j=1}^{g} \sum_{k=1}^{g} \frac{2}{\lambda_n} \left| \int_C \varphi_{\lambda} \, \omega_j \wedge \overline{\omega}_k \right|^2.$$

Here $\omega_1, \dots, \omega_g$ is an orthonormal basis of $\Gamma(C, \Omega_C^1)$ with respect to the inner product

$$\langle \alpha, \beta \rangle = \frac{i}{2} \int_C \alpha \wedge \overline{\beta},$$

the first summation goes over all positive eigenvalues λ of the Laplacian operator

$$\Delta_{d\mu}f = (\frac{1}{\pi i}\partial\overline{\partial}f)/d\mu$$

over $C^{\infty}(C_{\mathbb{C}})$, and φ_{λ} is an eigenvector of λ normalized such that $\{\varphi_{\lambda}\}_{\lambda}$ is orthonormal with respect to the inner product

$$\langle f_1, f_2 \rangle = \int_C f_1 \overline{f}_2 d\mu$$

We refer to [Zha3, Prop 2.5.3] for more details on this expression.

3.3.2 Globalization $\overline{\Phi}$ of the φ -invariant

Let k be either \mathbb{Z} or a field. Let S be a quasi-projective and flat normal integral scheme over k. Let $\pi : X \to S$ be a smooth relative curve of genus g > 1.

Consider the morphism $(\pi, \pi) : X \times_S X \to S$ and its diagonal divisor $\Delta : X \to X \times_S X$. There are canonical isomorphisms

$$(\pi,\pi)_*\langle \mathcal{O}(\Delta), \mathcal{O}(\Delta), \mathcal{O}(\Delta) \rangle \longrightarrow \pi_*\langle \Delta^* \mathcal{O}(\Delta), \Delta^* \mathcal{O}(\Delta) \rangle \longrightarrow \pi_*\langle \omega, \omega \rangle.$$

This defines a section s of the underlying line bundle of the adelic line bundle

$$\pi_* \langle \overline{\omega}, \overline{\omega} \rangle - (\pi, \pi)_* \langle \overline{\mathcal{O}}(\Delta)_a, \overline{\mathcal{O}}(\Delta)_a, \overline{\mathcal{O}}(\Delta)_a \rangle.$$

Via this adelic line bundle, define

$$\overline{\Phi} = \widehat{\operatorname{div}}(s),$$

viewed as an adelic divisor on S. The underlying divisor of $\overline{\Phi}$ is 0 by definition. By the integration formula, the total Green's function $\widetilde{g}_{\overline{\Phi}}$ on S^{an} at any discrete or archimedean valuation $v \in S^{\mathrm{an}}$ is given by

$$\widetilde{g}_{\overline{\Phi}}(v) = \int_{X_v^{\mathrm{an}}} \log \|1\|_{\Delta,a} c_1(\overline{\mathcal{O}}(\Delta)_a)^2.$$

By [Zha3, Prop. 2.5.3, Lem. 3.5.4], this is exactly the φ -invariant of X_{H_v} in the standard case $e_v = e$. It transfers to general e_v by the norm-equivariance property in [YZ2, §3.2].

3.3.3 The lower bound

Let k be either \mathbb{Z} or a field. Let S be a quasi-projective and flat normal integral scheme over k. Let $\pi : X \to S$ be a smooth relative curve of genus g > 1. Denote by $(\pi, \pi) : X \times_S X \to S$ the structure morphism as before.

Let $J = \operatorname{Pic}_{X/S}^{0}$ be the Jacobian scheme. Recall that we have a symmetric and relatively ample line bundle Θ on J by Definition 2.4. Recall that $\overline{\Theta}$ is the nef adelic line bundle on J/k extending Θ such that $[2]^*\overline{\Theta} = 4\overline{\Theta}$ in $\widehat{\operatorname{Pic}}(J)$.

Let j be the morphism

$$j: X \times_S X \longrightarrow J, \quad (x, y) \longmapsto y - x.$$

Recall that in Theorem 2.10(2), we have obtained a formula

$$j^*\overline{\Theta} = 2\overline{\mathcal{O}}(\Delta)_a + p_1^*\overline{\omega}_{X/S,a} + p_2^*\overline{\omega}_{X/S,a}$$

in $\widehat{\operatorname{Pic}}(X)_{\mathbb{Q}}$. The following result computes the Deligne pairing $(\pi, \pi)_* \langle j^* \overline{\Theta}, j^* \overline{\Theta}, j^* \overline{\Theta} \rangle$, which is nef by the nefness of $\overline{\Theta}$. It is a family version of and inspired by

de Jong [dJo2, Thm. 8.1], where the latter was in turn based on the main result of Zhang [Zha3].

As above, for a discrete valuation $v \in S^{\mathrm{an}}$, denote $e_v = |\varpi_v|_v^{-1}$, where ϖ_v is a generator of the maximal ideal of the valuation ring O_{H_v} ; for an archimedean valuation $v \in S^{\mathrm{an}}$, denote $e_v = |e|_v$.

Theorem 3.6. Let k be either \mathbb{Z} or a field. There is an identity in $\widehat{\operatorname{Pic}}(S)_{\mathbb{Q}}$ given by

$$(\pi,\pi)_*\langle j^*\overline{\Theta}, j^*\overline{\Theta}, j^*\overline{\Theta}\rangle = (12g-4)\pi_*\langle \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a}, \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a}\rangle - 8\mathcal{O}(\overline{\Phi}).$$

Proof. The proof follows the framework of [dJo2, Thm. 8.1]. Denote $\overline{\omega} = \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a}$ and $\overline{\omega}_i = p_i^* \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a}$ for i = 1, 2. Expand $(\pi, \pi)_* \langle j^* \overline{\Theta}, j^* \overline{\Theta}, j^* \overline{\Theta} \rangle$ by the formula

$$j^*\overline{\Theta} = 2\overline{\mathcal{O}}(\Delta)_a + \overline{\omega}_1 + \overline{\omega}_2.$$

We have

$$\begin{array}{l} \langle j^*\Theta, \, j^*\Theta, \, j^*\Theta \rangle \\ = & 8 \langle \overline{\mathcal{O}}(\Delta)_a, \, \overline{\mathcal{O}}(\Delta)_a, \, \overline{\mathcal{O}}(\Delta)_a \rangle + 12 \langle \overline{\mathcal{O}}(\Delta)_a, \, \overline{\mathcal{O}}(\Delta)_a, \, \overline{\omega}_1 + \overline{\omega}_2 \rangle \\ & + 6 \langle \overline{\mathcal{O}}(\Delta)_a, \, \overline{\omega}_1 + \overline{\omega}_2, \, \overline{\omega}_1 + \overline{\omega}_2 \rangle + \langle \overline{\omega}_1 + \overline{\omega}_2, \, \overline{\omega}_1 + \overline{\omega}_2, \, \overline{\omega}_1 + \overline{\omega}_2 \rangle. \end{array}$$

For further simplifications, we need the following results:

(1)
$$\langle \overline{\omega}_1, \overline{\omega}_1, \overline{\omega}_1 \rangle = \langle \overline{\omega}_2, \overline{\omega}_2, \overline{\omega}_2 \rangle = 0.$$

- (2) $\langle \overline{\omega}_1, \overline{\omega}_1, \overline{\omega}_2 \rangle = \langle \overline{\omega}_2, \overline{\omega}_2, \overline{\omega}_1 \rangle = (2g 2)\pi_* \langle \overline{\omega}, \overline{\omega} \rangle.$
- (3) $\langle \overline{\mathcal{O}}(\Delta)_a, \overline{\omega}_i, \overline{\omega}_j \rangle = \pi_* \langle \overline{\omega}, \overline{\omega} \rangle, \quad i, j \in \{1, 2\}.$
- (4) $\langle \overline{\mathcal{O}}(\Delta)_a, \, \overline{\mathcal{O}}(\Delta)_a, \, \overline{\omega}_1 \rangle = \langle \overline{\mathcal{O}}(\Delta)_a, \, \overline{\mathcal{O}}(\Delta)_a, \, \overline{\omega}_2 \rangle = -\pi_* \langle \overline{\omega}, \overline{\omega} \rangle.$
- (5) $\langle \overline{\mathcal{O}}(\Delta)_a, \overline{\mathcal{O}}(\Delta)_a, \overline{\mathcal{O}}(\Delta)_a \rangle = \pi_* \langle \overline{\omega}, \overline{\omega} \rangle \mathcal{O}(\overline{\Phi}).$

It is easy to derive the result from (1)-(5). In fact, (1)-(4) gives

$$\langle j^*\overline{\Theta}, j^*\overline{\Theta}, j^*\overline{\Theta} \rangle = 8 \langle \overline{\mathcal{O}}(\Delta)_a, \overline{\mathcal{O}}(\Delta)_a, \overline{\mathcal{O}}(\Delta)_a \rangle + 6(2g-2)\pi_* \langle \overline{\omega}, \overline{\omega} \rangle.$$

Then apply (5).

Note that (5) follows from the definition of $\overline{\Phi}$. The idea to prove the identities in (1)-(4) is to apply [YZ2, Lem. 4.6.1(2)] to

$$X \times_S X \xrightarrow{p_i} X \xrightarrow{\pi} S.$$

This gives (for i = 1)

$$\langle \overline{\omega}_1, \overline{\alpha}, \overline{\beta} \rangle = \pi_* \langle \overline{\omega}, p_{1*} \langle \overline{\alpha}, \overline{\beta} \rangle \rangle.$$

If $\alpha = \omega_1$, then we can apply [YZ2, Lem. 4.6.1(2)] to compute $p_{1*}\langle \overline{\alpha}, \overline{\beta} \rangle$. This solves (1), (2) and (3) with i = j. The remaining case of (3) is a consequence of $p_{1*}\langle \overline{\omega}, \overline{\mathcal{O}}(\Delta)_a \rangle = \overline{\omega}$ from Theorem 2.3(2).

For (4), it suffices to check

$$p_{1*}\langle \overline{\mathcal{O}}(\Delta)_a, \ \overline{\mathcal{O}}(\Delta)_a \rangle = -\overline{\omega}.$$

There is a canonical isomorphism $\Delta^* \overline{\mathcal{O}}(\Delta)_a \to -\overline{\omega}$ by Theorem 2.3(1). It suffices to have a canonical isomorphism

$$p_{1*}\langle \overline{\mathcal{O}}(\Delta)_a, \, \overline{\mathcal{O}}(\Delta)_a \rangle \longrightarrow \Delta^* \overline{\mathcal{O}}(\Delta)_a.$$

This follows from Proposition 2.7(1) applied to the section $\Delta : X \to X \times_S X$ of the smooth relative curve $p_1 : X \times_S X \to X$. Alternatively, it is also easy to modify the proof of Proposition 2.7(1) to the current situation. In fact, by the analytification functor $\widehat{\mathcal{P}ic}(X) \to \widehat{\mathcal{P}ic}(X^{an})$, it suffices to prove that the norm of the above morphism is 1 at any $v \in X^{an}$. By the integration formulae in [YZ2, Thm. 4.6.2] and [YZ2, §4.2.2], the logarithm of the norm is equal to

$$-\int_{X_{H_v}^{\mathrm{an}}}g_{\Delta,a}(x,\cdot)c_1(x^*\overline{\mathcal{O}}(\Delta)_a).$$

Here H_v is the completed residue field of $v \in X^{\mathrm{an}}$, $x : \operatorname{Spec} H_v \to X$ is the point corresponding to v, and $g_{\Delta,a}$ is the admissible Green's function as in Theorem A.1. The integral is 0 by Theorem A.1(1)(2). This finishes the proof.

Remark 3.7. For the sake of a lower bound of $\pi_* \langle \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a}, \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a} \rangle$, the result could be strengthened by the method of [Wil1, Thm. 1.2] and [LSW, Prop. 6.1] combining with the Hodge index theorems of [YZ3, Car].

3.3.4 Cinkir's bound

The following result essentially follows from Cinkir [Cin1, Thm. 2.11], which was conjectured by Zhang [Zha3].

Theorem 3.8. Let S be a quasi-projective normal integral scheme over a field k. Let $\pi : X \to S$ be a smooth relative curve of genus g > 1 with a stable compactification $\overline{\pi} : \overline{X} \to \overline{S}$ over k. Then $\overline{\Phi} - \frac{1}{39}\Delta_{\overline{S}}$ is an effective adelic divisor in $\widehat{\text{Div}}(S)$.

Proof. This is similar to Lemma 3.5. It suffices to prove $39\tilde{g}_{\overline{\Phi}}(v) - \tilde{g}_{\Delta_{\overline{S}}}(v) \ge 0$ for discrete valuations $v \in S^{\text{an}}$. By [Cin1, Thm. 2.11],

$$39\varphi(\Gamma_v) \ge \sum_i \delta_i(\Gamma_v) = \ell(\Gamma_v)$$

The result follows.

3.3.5 A special adelic line bundle

The φ -invariant was introduced by Zhang [Zha3] to study the Beilinson– Bloch height of the Gross–Schoen cycle. Then our adelic divisor $\overline{\Phi}$ can be used to study the variation of the height. The exposition here will not be used elsewhere of this paper.

Let K be either a number field, or the function field of one variable over a field k. Let C be a smooth projective curve over K of genus g > 1. Let ξ be a line bundle on C such that $(2g-2)\xi = \omega_{C/K}$ in Pic(C), which exists by replacing K by a suitable finite extension. By [Zha3, Thm. 1.3.1],

$$\langle \Delta_{\xi}(C), \Delta_{\xi}(C) \rangle = \frac{2g+1}{2g-2} \overline{\omega}_{C/K,a}^2 - \sum_{v} \varphi(C_v) \deg(v).$$

Here $\Delta_{\xi}(C)$ is the Gross-Schoen cycle, the modified diagonal cycle on C^3 , and the left-hand side is its Beilinson-Bloch height.

Let S be a quasi-projective normal variety over K. Let $\pi : X \to S$ be a smooth relative curve over S of genus g > 1. Define an adelic Q-line bundle \overline{L} on S by

$$\overline{L} = \frac{2g+1}{2g-2} \pi_* \langle \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a}, \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a} \rangle - \mathcal{O}(\overline{\Phi}).$$

Then the height function $h_{\overline{L}}: S(\overline{K}) \to \mathbb{R}$ exactly gives

$$h_{\overline{L}}(y) = \langle \Delta_{\xi}(X_y), \Delta_{\xi}(X_y) \rangle, \quad y \in S(\overline{K}).$$

This generalizes the first statement of [Zha3, Thm. 1.3.5] to the quasiprojective setting.

It is natural to ask wether \overline{L} is nef on S. If $\pi : X \to S$ has maximal variation, we further ask whether \overline{L} is big on S.

3.4 Bigness in the geometric case

In the geometric case that k is a field, Theorem 3.2 is a consequence of the following result.

Theorem 3.9. Let k be a field. Let S be a quasi-projective normal integral scheme over k. Let $\pi : X \to S$ a smooth relative curve of genus g > 1 with a stable compactification $\pi : \overline{X} \to \overline{S}$ over k. In $\widehat{\text{Pic}}(S)_{\mathbb{Q}}$, we have

$$\pi_* \langle \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a}, \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a} \rangle = \frac{3}{5(2g-1)(3g-1)} \lambda_{\overline{S}} + \overline{A} + \mathcal{O}(\overline{B})$$

for a nef adelic \mathbb{Q} -line bundle $\overline{A} \in \widehat{\operatorname{Pic}}(S)_{\mathbb{Q}}$ and an effective adelic divisor $\overline{B} \in \widehat{\operatorname{Div}}(S)$ with underlying divisor B = 0 in $\operatorname{Div}(S)$.

Proof. This is a combination of all the major results of this section. In fact, we first have in $\widehat{\operatorname{Pic}}(S)_{\mathbb{Q}}$,

$$\pi_* \langle \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a}, \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a} \rangle = \overline{\pi}_* \langle \omega_{\overline{X}/\overline{S}}, \omega_{\overline{X}/\overline{S}} \rangle - \mathcal{O}(\overline{E})$$
$$= 12\lambda_{\overline{S}} - \mathcal{O}(\overline{E} + \Delta_{\overline{S}})$$
$$= 12\lambda_{\overline{S}} - (2g - 1)\mathcal{O}(\Delta_{\overline{S}}) + \text{eff}$$

Here "eff" denotes the adelic line bundle associated to an effective adelic divisor in $\widehat{\text{Div}}(S)$ with underlying divisor 0 in Div(S). In fact, the first equality follows from the definition of \overline{E} in §3.2, the second equality follows from Noether's formula in Theorem 3.3, and the last inequality follows from Lemma 3.5.

On the other hand, by Theorem 3.6 and Theorem 3.8,

$$\pi_* \langle \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a}, \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a} \rangle = \frac{2}{3g-1} \mathcal{O}(\overline{\Phi}) + \operatorname{nef} = \frac{2}{39(3g-1)} \mathcal{O}(\Delta_{\overline{S}}) + \operatorname{nef} + \operatorname{eff}.$$

Here "nef" denotes a nef element of $\widehat{\operatorname{Pic}}(S)_{\mathbb{Q}}$.

To cancel $\mathcal{O}(\Delta_{\overline{S}})$, a positive linear combination of these equalities gives

$$\left(1+\frac{39(3g-1)}{2}(2g-1)\right)\pi_*\langle\overline{\omega}_{X/S,a},\overline{\omega}_{X/S,a}\rangle = 12\lambda_{\overline{S}} + \mathrm{nef} + \mathrm{eff}.$$

This implies the result after replacing the coefficient on the left-hand side by the slightly larger number 20(3g-1)(2g-1).

It is easy to see how Theorem 3.9 implies Theorem 3.2 in the geometric case. The nefness part is already proved in Theorem 2.10(1). For the bigness part, by passing to a finite extension of S, we can assume that $\pi : X \to S$ has a stable compactification $\overline{\pi} : \overline{X} \to \overline{S}$ over k. The normality of S can be kept by taking a further normalization. This process uses the fact that for any finite and surjective morphism $S' \to S$ from an integral scheme S', a nef adelic line bundle on S is big if and only if its pull-back to S' is big, which follows from the projection formula for top intersection numbers in [YZ2, Prop. 4.1.2].

Once we have the stable compactification, the key fact is that the Hodge bundle $\lambda_{\overline{S}}$ is nef and big on \overline{S} . If so, then

$$\frac{3}{5(2g-1)(3g-1)}\lambda_{\overline{S}} + \overline{A}$$

is nef and big on S, and

$$\frac{3}{5(2g-1)(3g-1)}\lambda_{\overline{S}} + \overline{A} + \mathcal{O}(\overline{B})$$

is big on S.

The nefness and bigness of the Hodge bundle $\lambda_{\overline{S}}$ on \overline{S} are well known to the experts. For lack of a direct reference, we explain a proof by modifying the setting of [Knu] slightly. Denote by A_g the coarse moduli scheme of principally polarized abelian varieties of dimension g over k. Denote by \overline{A}_g the minimal compactification of A_g . By [FC, V, Thm. 2.3], the Hodge Q-line bundle $\omega_{\overline{A}_g}$ of \overline{A}_g is ample. Denote by $t: \overline{M}_g \to \overline{A}_g$ the Torelli morphism induced by the functor of taking Jacobian schemes. The definition is similar to the map at the top of [Knu, p. 211]. The Hodge bundle λ_g on the stack $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_g$ descends to a Q-line bundle $\lambda_{\overline{M}_g}$ on $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_g$. As in [Knu, p. 211], we have $\lambda_{\overline{\mathcal{M}}_g} = t^* \omega_{\overline{A}_g}$. Finally, let $\pi : \overline{X} \to \overline{S}$ be as in the theorem. This gives a morphism $\iota : \overline{S} \to \overline{\mathcal{M}}_g$, whose restriction to S is generically finite. Note that $t: \overline{\mathcal{M}}_g \to \overline{A}_g$ is finite on M_g , so the composition $t \circ \iota : \overline{S} \to \overline{A}_g$ is generically finite. Then $\lambda_{\overline{S}} = (t \circ \iota)^* \omega_{\overline{A}_g}$ on \overline{S} is nef and big.

3.5 Bigness in the arithmetic case

In the arithmetic case $k = \mathbb{Z}$, Theorem 3.2 is consequence of the geometric case $k = \mathbb{Q}$ and the following result.

Theorem 3.10. For any integer g > 1, there is a constant c(g) > 0 such that $\varphi(C) \ge c(g)$ for any compact Riemann surface C of genus g.

Due to its arithmetic importance, asymptotic behavior of degeneration of the φ -invariant is widely studied in the literature. See [dJo1, Thm. 1.1] for a precise asymptotic formula for g = 2, which also gives a conjectural formula for g > 2. For $g \ge 2$ and degeneration to isolated singularities, the asymptotic formula was later proved by [JS2, Thm. 7.1] and [Wil2, Cor. 1.2]. These imply Theorem 3.10 in the case g = 2 and in the case of 1-parameter families of Riemann surfaces of genus $g \ge 2$. As we will see later, our proof of the theorem takes a different approach, which asserts that the φ -invariant goes to infinity under degeneration, but does not give a precise asymptotic behavior.

Let us first prove the arithmetic case of Theorem 3.2 assuming its geometric case and Theorem 3.10. Let $\pi : X \to S$ be as in Theorem 3.2. Let c = c(g) > 0 be as in Theorem 3.10. Denote by $\mathcal{O}(c)$ the trivial line bundle on $k = \mathbb{Z}$ with metric given by $||1|| = e^{-c}$. View $\mathcal{O}(c)$ as an adelic line bundle on S by pull-back. By Theorem 3.6 and Theorem 3.10, we have

$$\pi_* \langle \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a}, \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a} \rangle = \frac{2}{3g-1} \mathcal{O}(\overline{\Phi}) + \operatorname{nef} = \frac{2}{3g-1} \mathcal{O}(c) + \operatorname{nef} + \operatorname{eff}.$$

Denote $\overline{L} = \pi_* \langle \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a}, \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a} \rangle$, and denote by \widetilde{L} the image of \overline{L} under the canonical map $\widehat{\operatorname{Pic}}(S/\mathbb{Z}) \to \widehat{\operatorname{Pic}}(S_{\mathbb{Q}}/\mathbb{Q})$. Recall that the map is defined in [YZ2, §2.5.5], as the limit of the canonical map $\widehat{\operatorname{Div}}(\mathcal{X}) \to \operatorname{Div}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Q}})$ for projective models \mathcal{X} of S over \mathbb{Z} . Denote $d = \dim S$. Since \overline{L} is nef, we have

$$\overline{L}^{d} \ge \overline{L}^{d-1} \cdot \frac{2}{3g-1} \mathcal{O}(c) = \frac{2c}{3g-1} \widetilde{L}^{d-1} > 0.$$

Here the last inequality uses Theorem 3.2 for the geometric case $X_{\mathbb{Q}} \to S_{\mathbb{Q}}$ over \mathbb{Q} . This proves the arithmetic case of Theorem 3.2.

It remains to prove Theorem 3.10. Our proof uses information of the arithmetic divisor $\overline{\Phi}$ in both the geometric case and the arithmetic case.

Proof of Theorem 3.10. Fix an integer $N \geq 3$, and denote by $\mathcal{M} = \mathcal{M}_{g,N,\mathbb{Q}}$ the (fine) moduli scheme of smooth curves of genus g over \mathbb{Q} with a full level-N structure. Then $M_{g,N,\mathbb{Q}}$ is a smooth quasi-projective variety over \mathbb{Q} , which follows from the GIT construction in [MFK, §7.4]. By [GO, Thm. 2.1], there is a projective compactification $\overline{\mathcal{M}} = \overline{\mathcal{M}}_{g,N,\mathbb{Q}}$ of \mathcal{M} together with a tautological stable relative curve $\overline{\mathcal{C}} \to \overline{\mathcal{M}}$.

The φ -invariant defines a function $\varphi : \mathcal{M}(\mathbb{C}) \to \mathbb{R}$. Note the values of φ are strictly positive from Remark 1 after [Zha3, Prop 2.5.3]. We will see that φ is continuous on $\mathcal{M}(\mathbb{C})$ and tends to infinity around the boundary $\overline{\mathcal{M}}(\mathbb{C}) \setminus \mathcal{M}(\mathbb{C})$. These are sufficient to imply a positive lower bound of φ .

By Theorem 3.6, there is an adelic divisor $\overline{\Phi} \in \text{Div}(\mathcal{M}/\mathbb{Z})$ with underlying divisor 0 on \mathcal{M} , such that the value $\tilde{g}_{\overline{\Phi}}(v)$ of the total Green's function $\tilde{g}_{\overline{\Phi}}$ at any discrete or archimedean valuation $v \in S_v^{\text{an}}$ is equal to $\varphi(X_{H_v})$. Then $\varphi : \mathcal{M}(\mathbb{C}) \to \mathbb{R}$ is continuous by the continuity of $\tilde{g}_{\overline{\Phi}}$.

Denote by $\overline{\Phi}$ the image of $\overline{\Phi}$ under the canonical composition

$$\widehat{\operatorname{Div}}(\mathcal{M}/\mathbb{Z}) \to \widehat{\operatorname{Div}}(\mathcal{M}/\mathbb{Q}) \to \widehat{\operatorname{Div}}(\mathcal{M}_{\mathbb{C}}/\mathbb{C}).$$

Recall that the map is defined in [YZ2, §2.5.5], as the limit of the canonical map $\widehat{\text{Div}}(\mathcal{X}) \to \text{Div}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{C}})$ for projective models \mathcal{X} of \mathcal{M} over \mathbb{Z} .

Apply Theorem 3.8 to $k = \mathbb{C}$. We have that $\widetilde{\Phi} - \frac{1}{39}\Delta_{\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{\mathbb{C}}}$ is an effective adelic divisor in $\widehat{\text{Div}}(\mathcal{M}_{\mathbb{C}}/\mathbb{C})$. This is sufficient to imply that φ tends to infinity around the boundary $\Delta_{\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{\mathbb{C}}} = \overline{\mathcal{M}}(\mathbb{C}) \setminus \mathcal{M}(\mathbb{C})$. To see that, we will use the theory of adelic divisors on the pair $\overline{B} = (\mathbb{C}, |\cdot|)$ in [YZ2, §2.7], which can be avoided, but its use makes the situation clear.

Let us first recall the theory of adelic divisors on $\overline{B} = (\mathbb{C}, |\cdot|)$. First, the group of model divisors are defined by

$$\widehat{\operatorname{Div}}(\mathcal{M}_{\mathbb{C}}/\overline{B})_{\mathrm{mod},\mathbb{Q}} = \varinjlim_{\mathcal{X}} \widehat{\operatorname{Div}}(\mathcal{X}/\overline{B})_{\mathbb{Q}},$$

where the limit is over the system of projective models \mathcal{X} of $\mathcal{M}_{\mathbb{C}}$ over \mathbb{C} . Here $\widehat{\text{Div}}(\mathcal{X}/\overline{B})$ is the group of pairs (D, g_D) , where D is a Cartier divisor on \mathcal{X} and g_D is a Green's function of D on \mathcal{X} .

Second, take a boundary divisor $(\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{\mathbb{C}}, \overline{D}_0)$ with $\overline{D}_0 = (D_0, g_0)$, where $D_0 = \Delta_{\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{\mathbb{C}}}$, and g_0 is a strictly positive Green's function of D_0 on $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{\mathbb{C}}$.

Third, $\widehat{\operatorname{Div}}(\mathcal{M}_{\mathbb{C}}/\overline{B})_{\mathbb{Q}}$ is defined to be the completion of $\widehat{\operatorname{Div}}(\mathcal{M}_{\mathbb{C}}/\overline{B})_{\mathrm{mod},\mathbb{Q}}$ with respect to the topology induced by $(\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{\mathbb{C}}, \overline{D}_0)$.

Return to φ . The image of $\overline{\Phi}$ under the canonical map $\widehat{\text{Div}}(\mathcal{M}/\mathbb{Z}) \to \widehat{\text{Div}}(\mathcal{M}_{\mathbb{C}}/\overline{B})_{\mathbb{Q}}$ is represented by the pair $(\widetilde{\Phi}, \varphi)$. By the process of the completion, there is a sequence $\{(E_i, g_i)\}_{i \geq 1}$ in $\widehat{\text{Div}}(\mathcal{M}_{\mathbb{C}}/\overline{B})_{\text{mod},\mathbb{Q}}$ such that

$$-a_i(D_0, g_0) \le (\Phi, \varphi) - (E_i, g_i) \le a_i(D_0, g_0)$$

for a sequence of rational numbers $\{a_i\}_{i\geq 1}$ converging to 0. This gives a bound

$$\varphi \ge g_i - a_i g_0.$$

Fix an *i* with $a_i < 1/78$. Then

$$E_i \ge \Phi - a_i D_0 \ge (1/39 - a_i) D_0 > 0$$

is effective. Note that $g_i - a_i g_0$ is a Green's function of

$$E_i - a_i D_0 \ge (1/39 - a_i) D_0 - a_i D_0 = (1/39 - 2a_i) D_0 > 0.$$

As a consequence, $g_i - a_i g_0$ goes to infinity around D_0 , and so does φ . This finishes the proof.

4 Uniform Bogomolov-type theorem

The main goal of this section is to prove the uniform Bogomolov-type theorem. In §4.1, we introduce a notion of potential bigness, prove a key criterion for it, and consider a quick consequence of this notion on small points. In §4.2, we introduce three examples of potential bigness, as consequences of the bigness of the admissible canonical bundle in Theorem 3.1. The exposition of the remaining subsections are based on these examples. In §4.3 and §4.4, we state and prove our uniform Bogomolov-type theorem. In §4.5, we prove a uniform fiberwise bigness of the admissible canonical bundle. Finally, in §4.6, we deduce some consequences on non-degenerate subvarieties and on the relative Bogomolov conjecture.

4.1 Potentially big line bundles

Let k be either \mathbb{Z} or a field. Let S be a quasi-projective and flat normal integral scheme over k. Let Y be an integral scheme with a projective and flat morphism $\pi: Y \to S$ over k. Assume that the generic fiber of $\pi: Y \to S$ is geometrically integral. Let \overline{L} be an adelic line bundle on Y/k.

Recall that \overline{L} is *big* on Y if $\widehat{\text{vol}}(\overline{L}) > 0$ (cf. [YZ2, §5.2]). If \overline{L} is nef, then we have the adelic Hilbert–Samuel formula $\widehat{\text{vol}}(\overline{L}) = \overline{L}^{\dim Y}$ (cf. [YZ2, Thm. 5.2.2]). In this case, \overline{L} is big if and only if $\overline{L}^{\dim Y} > 0$. We say that \overline{L} is *potentially big on* Y/S if there is a positive integer m such that the adelic line bundle

$$\overline{L}^{\boxtimes m} := (p_1^*\overline{L}) \otimes (p_2^*\overline{L}) \otimes \cdots \otimes (p_m^*\overline{L})$$

is big on the m-fold fiber product

$$Y^m_{/S} := Y \times_S Y \times_S \cdots \times_S Y.$$

In additive notations, the above is written as

$$m_{\boxtimes}\overline{L} = p_1^*\overline{L} + p_2^*\overline{L} + \dots + p_m^*\overline{L}.$$

We remark that $Y_{/S}^m$ is always integral under the assumptions that Y and S are integral, and that $\pi: Y \to S$ is projective and flat with a geometrically integral generic fiber. In fact, the generic fiber of $Y_{/S}^m \to S$ is geometrically integral. By flatness, $Y_{/S}^m \to S$ is equi-dimensional. Then $Y_{/S}^m$ is irreducible since its generic fiber is irreducible. To prove that $Y_{/S}^m$ is reduced, note that its generic fiber over S is reduced, it suffices to check that it has no embedded components. Then it suffices to check that $Y_{/S}^m$ satisfies property S_1 (cf. [Liu, §8.2, 2.19, 2.20]). This follows from flatness. In fact, for any $y \in Y_{/S}^m$ with image $s \in S$, if s is not the generic point of S, then the flatness implies that depth_y($Y_{/S}^m$) \geq depth_s(S) \geq 1. If s is the generic point of S, y lies in the generic fiber of $Y_{/S}^m \to S$, which is integral and thus satisfies S_1 .

4.1.1 A quick criterion

Concerning potential bigness, we have the following key criterion.

Lemma 4.1. Denote $d = \dim S$. Assume that \overline{L} is nef on Y, and the degree of L on fibers of $\pi : Y \to S$ is strictly positive. Then the following are equivalent:

- (1) $\pi_* \langle \overline{L}, \cdots, \overline{L} \rangle$ is big on S;
- (2) $m_{\boxtimes}\overline{L}$ is big on $Y_{/S}^m$ for all $m \ge d$;
- (3) \overline{L} is potentially big on Y/S; i.e., $m_{\boxtimes}\overline{L}$ is big on $Y_{/S}^m$ for some $m \ge 1$.

Proof. We first prove that (1) implies (2). Since \overline{L} is nef, it is immediate that $m_{\boxtimes}\overline{L}$ is nef. Its bigness is equivalent to the positivity of the intersection number

$$(m_{\boxtimes}\overline{L})^{d+em} = (p_1^*\overline{L} + p_2^*\overline{L} + \dots + p_m^*\overline{L})^{d+em}.$$

Here $e = \dim Y - \dim S$ and $\dim Y^m_{/S} = d + em$. Expanding the right-hand side, we obtain a term

$$b_m = (p_1^*\overline{L})^{e+1} \cdots (p_d^*\overline{L})^{e+1} \cdot (p_{d+1}^*\overline{L})^e \cdots (p_m^*\overline{L})^e.$$

We claim that $b_m = a^{m-d}(\overline{M}^d)$, where *a* denotes the degree of *L* on fibers of $\pi : Y \to S$, and \overline{M}^d denotes the top self-intersection number of $\overline{M} = \pi_* \langle \overline{L}, \cdots, \overline{L} \rangle$ on *S*. The claim implies $b_m > 0$ and thus proves that (1) implies (2).

To prove the claim, we first treat the arithmetic case $k = \mathbb{Z}$. By a limit process, we can assume that S is projective and flat over $S_0 = \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{Z}$, and $Y \to S$ is projective and flat. We can further assume that \overline{L} is a nef hermitian line bundle on Y, so that

$$\overline{M} = \pi_* \langle \overline{L}, \cdots, \overline{L} \rangle$$

is a nef hermitian line bundle on S. Consider the projection $\psi_m: Y_{/S}^m \to S_0$. By the compatibility of the Deligne pairing with the intersection number, b_m is the arithmetic degree of

$$\overline{B}_m = \psi_{m*} \langle (p_1^* \overline{L})^{e+1}, \cdots, (p_d^* \overline{L})^{e+1}, (p_{d+1}^* \overline{L})^e, \cdots, (p_m^* \overline{L})^e \rangle.$$

Here the notation $(p_i^*\overline{L})^t$ means that $p_i^*\overline{L}$ appears t times in the pairing. Apply [YZ2, Lem. 4.6.1(1)] to the composition

$$Y_{/S}^m \xrightarrow{q} Y_{/S}^{m-1} \xrightarrow{\psi_{m-1}} S_0.$$

Here q is the projection by forgetting the first component of $Y_{/S}^m$. In the line bundles defining \overline{B}_m , view the first e + 1 terms, indicated by $(p_1^*\overline{L})^{e+1}$, as line bundles on $Y_{/S}^m$, and view the remaining (d + me) - (e + 1) terms as the pull-back of line bundles via q. Then the lemma implies that

$$\overline{B}_m = \psi_{m-1,*} \langle \overline{M}_{Y^{m-1}_{/S}}, (p_2^* \overline{L})^{e+1}, \cdots, (p_d^* \overline{L})^{e+1}, (p_{d+1}^* \overline{L})^e, \cdots, (p_m^* \overline{L})^e \rangle.$$

Here by abuse of notations, $p_2, \dots, p_m : Y_{/S}^{m-1} \to Y$ denotes the projections to the m-1 components. Repeat the process on $(p_2^*\overline{L})^{e+1}, \dots, (p_d^*\overline{L})^{e+1}$. We obtain

$$\overline{B}_m = \psi_{m-d,*} \langle (\overline{M}_{Y^{m-d}_{/S}})^d, (p^*_{d+1}\overline{L})^e, \cdots, (p^*_m\overline{L})^e \rangle.$$

Apply [YZ2, Lem. 4.6.1(3)] to the composition

$$Y^{m-d}_{/S} \longrightarrow S \xrightarrow{\psi_0} S_0.$$

Here we view the first d terms as the pull-back of line bundles from S. Then the lemma implies that

$$\overline{B}_m = a^{m-d} \,\psi_{0*} \langle \overline{M}^d \rangle.$$

This proves that (1) implies (2) in the arithmetic case.

For the geometric case that k is a field, we can first reduce it to the case that S is projective over k. By blowing-up S if necessary, we can find a fibration $S \to S_0$ with $S_0 = \mathbb{P}^1_k$. Then the proof is similar to the arithmetic case by taking Deligne pairings to S_0 .

Note that (2) implies (3) trivially. It remains to prove that (3) implies (1). Assuming that for some $m \ge 1$, $m \boxtimes \overline{L}$ is big on $Y_{/S}^m$. By Lemma 2.2(1), the Deligne pairing

$$\overline{N} = (\pi_m)_* \langle (m \boxtimes \overline{L})^{em+1} \rangle$$

is nef and big on S. Here $\pi_m : Y^m_{/S} \to S$ is the structure morphism. It suffices to prove that \overline{N} is a positive multiple of $\overline{M} = \pi_* \langle \overline{L}^{e+1} \rangle$.

In fact, consider the expansion of

$$\overline{N} = (\pi_m)_* \langle (p_1^* \overline{L} + p_2^* \overline{L} + \dots + p_m^* \overline{L})^{em+1} \rangle$$

by linearity. It is a positive linear combination of

$$\overline{N}(r_1,\cdots,r_m) = (\pi_m)_* \langle (p_1^*\overline{L})^{r_1}, (p_2^*\overline{L})^{r_2},\cdots, (p_m^*\overline{L})^{r_m} \rangle$$

with $r_1 + \cdots + r_m = em + 1$. We claim that $\overline{N}(r_1, \cdots, r_m) \neq 0$ only if (r_1, \cdots, r_m) is a permutation of $(e+1, e, \cdots, e)$; in that case, $\overline{N}(r_1, \cdots, r_m) = a^{m-1}\overline{M}$. Here *a* denotes the degree of *L* on fibers of $\pi : Y \to S$ as above.

In fact, by $r_1 + \cdots + r_m = em + 1$, some term $r_i \ge e + 1$. By symmetry, we assume that $r_1 \ge e + 1$. Write

$$\overline{N}(r_1,\cdots,r_m) = (\pi_m)_* \langle (p_1^*\overline{L})^{e+1}, (p_1^*\overline{L})^{r_1-e-1}, (p_2^*\overline{L})^{r_2}, \cdots, (p_m^*\overline{L})^{r_m} \rangle$$

Apply [YZ2, Lem. 4.6.1(3)] to the composition

$$Y^m_{/S} \xrightarrow{p_1} Y \xrightarrow{\pi} S.$$

We see that

$$\overline{N}(r_1,\cdots,r_m)=c(r_1,\cdots,r_m)\pi_*\langle \overline{L}^{e+1}\rangle,$$

where $c(r_1, \cdots, r_m)$ is the intersection number of

$$(p_1^*L)^{r_1-e-1}, (p_2^*L)^{r_2}, \cdots, (p_m^*L)^{r_m}$$

over a fiber of $p_1: Y_{/S}^m \to Y$. Then $c(r_1, \dots, r_m) \neq 0$ only if $r_1 - e - 1 = 0$, and $r_i = e$ for i > 1; in that case $c(r_1, \dots, r_m) = a^{m-1}$. This finishes the proof.

4.1.2 Consequence on small points

Let k be either \mathbb{Z} or a field. By a global field over k, we mean a field K as follows. If $k = \mathbb{Z}$, then K is a number field; if k is a field, then K is a function field of one variable over k.

In the terminology of [YZ2, §2.3], a quasi-projective variety V over K is essentially quasi-projective over k. In [YZ2, §2.4, §2.5], we can talk about adelic divisors and adelic line bundles on V with base k, which are defined by direct limits over quasi-projective models of V over k.

Let V be a quasi-projective variety over K. Let L be an adelic line bundle on V over k. We define a height function

$$h_{\overline{L}}: V(\overline{K}) \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$$

as follows. For any $x \in V(\overline{K})$, denote by \tilde{x} the closed point of V corresponding to x. By the construction in [YZ2, §2.5.5], the pull-back $\overline{L}|_{\tilde{x}}$ gives an adelic line bundle on \tilde{x}/k . Since \tilde{x} is the spectrum of a global function field over k, we can take the arithmetic degree $\widehat{\deg}(\overline{L}|_{\tilde{x}})$. Here if k is a field, the degree is normalized by multiplicity functions given by degrees over k. If $k = \mathbb{Z}$, we define

$$h_{\overline{L}}(x) = \frac{1}{\deg(\tilde{x}/\mathbb{Q})} \widehat{\deg}(\overline{L}|_{\tilde{x}}).$$

Note that the normalizing factor has the degree of \tilde{x} over \mathbb{Q} (instead of K), which is different from that in [YZ2, §5.3].

If k is a field, we define

$$h_{\overline{L}}(x) = \frac{1}{\deg(\tilde{x}/K)} \widehat{\deg}(\overline{L}|_{\tilde{x}}).$$

The normalizing factor depends on K and agrees with that in [YZ2, $\S5.3$].

The following is our key result relating potential bigness to distribution of small points. Due to different normalization of heights and arithmetic degrees, we state the result for the arithmetic case and for the geometric case separately.

Theorem 4.2. The following statements hold.

(1) Let S be a quasi-projective variety over a number field K. Let $\pi : X \to S$ be a smooth relative curve. Let \overline{L} be a nef adelic line bundle on X/\mathbb{Z} , and \overline{M} be an adelic line bundle on S/\mathbb{Z} . If \overline{L} is potentially big on X/S, then there are a non-empty Zariski open subvariety $U \subset S$, and constants $c_1, c_2 > 0$, such that for any $y \in U(\overline{K})$,

$$#\{x \in X(\overline{K}) : \pi(x) = y, h_{\overline{L}}(x) \le c_1 h_{\overline{M}}(y)\} \le c_2.$$

(2) Let S be a quasi-projective variety over a field k with dim S > 0. Let $\pi: X \to S$ be a smooth relative curve. Let \overline{L} be a nef adelic line bundle on X/k, and \overline{M} be an adelic line bundle on S/k. If \overline{L} is potentially big on X/S, then there are a non-empty Zariski open subvariety $U \subset S$, and constants $c_1, c_2 > 0$, such that for any 1-dimensional point $y \in U$,

$$#\{x \in X_y(\overline{k(y)}) : h_{\overline{L}}(x) \le c_1 \operatorname{deg}(\overline{M}|_y)\} \le c_2.$$

Here $h_{\overline{L}}: X_y(\overline{k(y)}) \to \mathbb{R}$ is the height function associated to $\overline{L}|_{X_y}$ and normalized by degrees over k(y), and $\widehat{\deg}: \widehat{\operatorname{Pic}}(k(y)/k) \to \mathbb{R}$ is normalized by multiplicity functions given by degrees over k. *Proof.* We first prove (1). By assumption, $\overline{L}_m = m_{\boxtimes}\overline{L}$ is big on $X_m = X_{/S}^m$ for some $m \ge 1$. Fix such an m. By [YZ2, Thm. 5.3.5(1)], there are a closed subset Z of codimension one in X_m and $\epsilon > 0$ such that

$$\{x \in X_m(\overline{K}) : h_{\overline{L}_m}(x) \le \epsilon h_{\overline{M}}(\pi_m(x))\} \subset Z(\overline{K}).$$

For any $y \in S(\overline{K})$, denote

$$\Sigma(y) := \{ x \in X(\overline{K}) : \pi(x) = y, \ h_{\overline{L}}(x) \le \frac{\epsilon}{m} h_{\overline{M}}(y) \}.$$

The key is the inclusion

$$\Sigma(y)^m \subset Z(\overline{K}).$$

This follows from the height identity

$$h_{\overline{L}_m}(x) = h_{\overline{L}}(x_1) + \dots + h_{\overline{L}}(x_m)$$

for any $x \in X_m(\overline{K})$ represented by (x_1, \dots, x_m) under the expression

 $X_m(\overline{K}) = \{ (x_1, \cdots, x_m) \in X(\overline{K})^m : \pi_m(x_1) = \cdots = \pi_m(x_m) \}.$

Let U be a non-empty open subscheme of S such that Z is flat over U. By Lemma 4.3 below, the inclusion $\Sigma(y)^m \subset Z_y(\overline{K})$ forces $\Sigma(y)$ to be finite with

$$\#\Sigma(y) \le \deg_{m \boxtimes N}(Z_{\eta}), \quad \forall y \in U(\overline{K}).$$

Here Z_{η} is the generic fiber of $Z \to S$, N is a line bundle of degree 1 on the generic fiber X_{η} of $X \to S$, so that $m \boxtimes N$ is a line bundle on X_{η}^{m} . This proves (1).

The proof of (2) is similar to that of (1), so we will only emphasize the difference. We still have that $\overline{L}_m = m_{\boxtimes}\overline{L}$ is big on $X_m = X_{/S}^m$ for some $m \ge 1$. We are not able to apply [YZ2, Thm. 5.3.5(1)] directly, but we can modify its proof slightly. In fact, as in the proof of the loc. cit., $\overline{L}_m - \epsilon \pi^* \overline{M}$ is big for some positive rational number $\epsilon > 0$. Then some multiple $n(\overline{L}_m - \epsilon \overline{M})$ of $\overline{L}_m - \epsilon \overline{M}$ is an (integral) adelic line bundle with a nonzero effective section s.

Denote $Z = \operatorname{div}(s)$. We claim that for any 1-dimensional point y of S,

$$\{x \in (X_m)_y(\overline{k(y)}) : h_{\overline{L}_m}(x) \le \epsilon \widehat{\deg}(\overline{M}|_y)\} \subset Z_y(\overline{k(y)}).$$

In fact, denote by \tilde{x} the closed point of $(X_m)_y$ corresponding to x, which is a 1-dimensional point of X_m . If $x \notin Z_y(\overline{K})$ or equivalently $\tilde{x} \notin Z_y$, then the restriction of s gives a nonzero effective section of

$$n(\overline{L}_m - \epsilon \pi^* \overline{M})|_{\tilde{x}} = n(\overline{L}_m|_{\tilde{x}} - \epsilon \pi_x^*(\overline{M}|_y)),$$

where $\pi_x: \tilde{x} \to y$ is the finite morphism. Taking arithmetic degrees, we have

$$0 \le \widehat{\deg}(\overline{L}_m|_{\tilde{x}}) - \widehat{\epsilon \deg}(\pi_x^*(\overline{M}|_y)) = \deg(\pi_x) \big(h_{\overline{L}_m}(x) - \widehat{\epsilon \deg}(\overline{M}|_y)\big).$$

This prove the claim. The remaining part of the proof is similar to that of (1).

In the above proof, we have used the following basic result, which improves [DGH1, Lem. 6.3] and [Gao2, Lem. 7.3].

Lemma 4.3. Let C be a smooth projective curve over an algebraically closed field F. Let $Z \subsetneq C^m$ be a Zariski closed subset of codimension d > 0. Let Σ be a finite subset of C(F) such that $\Sigma^m \subset Z(F)$. Then

$$\#\Sigma \le (\deg_{m \bowtie N}(Z))^{1/d}$$

Here N is a line bundle on C of degree 1, and

$$\deg_{m_{\boxtimes}N}(Z) = \sum_{i=1}^r \deg_{m_{\boxtimes}N}(Z_i),$$

where Z_1, \dots, Z_r are all the irreducible components of Z.

Proof. Denote $M = m_{\boxtimes} N$ and $n = \# \Sigma$. We claim that for every $i = 1, \dots, m$

$$\deg_{nM}(Z) \ge \deg_{nM}(Z \cap p_i^{-1}\Sigma).$$

Here $p_i: C^m \to C$ is the projection to the *i*-th component, and $Z \cap p_i^{-1}\Sigma$ is endowed with the reduced structure.

If the claim holds, then successively applying the inequality gives

$$\deg_{nM}(Z) \ge \deg_{nM}(Z \cap p_1^{-1}\Sigma \cap \dots \cap p_m^{-1}\Sigma) = \#(\Sigma^m) = n^m.$$

This implies the result since

$$\deg_{nM}(Z) \le n^{m-d} \deg_M(Z)$$

by dim $Z_i \leq m - d$.

It remains to prove the claim. By writing in terms of irreducible components, we can assume that Z is irreducible. If Z is contained in $p_i^{-1}\Sigma$, the degree does not change. If Z is not contained in $p_i^{-1}\Sigma$, then it intersects $p_i^{-1}\Sigma$ properly, and thus

$$\deg_{nM}(Z) = (nM)^{\dim Z} \cdot Z \ge (nM)^{\dim Z-1} \cdot (np_i^*N) \cdot Z \ge \deg_{nM}(Z \cap p_i^{-1}\Sigma).$$

This proves the claim.

Remark 4.4. Here we describe a path to find effective constants (c_1, c_2) in Theorem 4.2, which depends on many numerical invariants of $(X/S, \overline{L}, \overline{M})$. We focus on the arithmetic case. Instead of applying [YZ2, Thm. 5.3.5(1)], we take the idea sketched right after Theorem 1.2. First, by [YZ2, Lem. 5.1.6], we can find a nef adelic line bundle \overline{M}' on S such that $\overline{M}' - \overline{M}$ is effective. Then we can assume that \overline{M} is nef by replacing \overline{M} by \overline{M}' everywhere in the problem. Second, we have

$$\widehat{\operatorname{vol}}(\overline{L}_m - \epsilon \overline{M}) \ge \overline{L}_m^{d+m} - (d+m)\overline{L}_m^{d+m-1} \cdot \epsilon \overline{M} > 0.$$

Here d is the dimension of a quasi-projective model of S over k, m is any fixed integer with $m \ge d$, and ϵ is chosen to be any positive rational number satisfying the second inequality. Then the constant $c_1 = \epsilon/m$. Third, some multiple $n(\overline{L}_m - \epsilon \overline{M})$ of $\overline{L}_m - \epsilon \overline{M}$ has a nonzero effective section s. By Lemma 4.3, we can express c_2 in terms of intersection numbers involving $Z = \operatorname{div}(s)$. Note that Z is linearly equivalent to $n(\overline{L}_m - \epsilon \overline{M})$. To find an effective c_2 , it suffices to find an effective positive integer n such that $n(\overline{L}_m - \epsilon \overline{M})$ is an (integral) adelic line bundle with a nonzero effective section.

4.2 Three potentially big examples

The goal of this subsection is to introduce three potentially big examples built on fibered powers of family of curves.

Let k be either \mathbb{Z} or a field. Let S be a flat and quasi-projective normal integral scheme over k. Let $\pi : X \to S$ be a smooth relative curve over S of genus g > 1. Let $\pi_J : J \to S$ be the relative Jacobian scheme of X over S.

Here we review three canonical morphisms from X to J (up to base changes) treated in Theorem 2.9 and Theorem 2.10. Only the third morphism will be crucially used in our treatments later, but we include the other two

for their own value. For example, the second morphism is essentially the one used in the proofs of [DGH1, Kuh].

The first morphism is the basic one. Let α be a line bundle on X with degree d > 0 on the fibers of $X \to S$. This gives a finite S-morphism

$$i_{\alpha}: X \longrightarrow J, \quad x \longmapsto dx - \alpha.$$

The second one is the morphism

$$i_{\Delta}: X \times_S X \longrightarrow X \times_S J, \quad (x, y) \longmapsto (x, y - x).$$

This agrees with the X-morphism

$$i_{\Delta}: X_X \longrightarrow J_X, \quad x \longmapsto x - \Delta$$

defined in the proof of Theorem 2.10(2). Namely, denote $X_X = X \times_S X$ and $J_X = X \times_S J$, viewed as X-schemes via the first projections $p_1 : X_X \to X$ and $q_1 : J_X \to X$. Then $q_1 : J_X \to X$ is canonically isomorphic to the Jacobian scheme of $p_1 : X_X \to X$. View $\Delta : X \to X \times_S X = X_X$ as a section of $p_1 : X_X \to X$. This defines an X-morphism

$$i_{\Delta} = i_{\mathcal{O}(\Delta)} : X_X \longrightarrow J_X, \quad x \longmapsto x - \Delta.$$

The third one is the morphism

$$\tau: J \times_S X \longrightarrow J \times_S J, \quad (y, x) \longmapsto (y, y + (2g - 2)x - \omega_{X/S}).$$

As in the proof of Theorem 2.10, if $X \to S$ has a section, then $J \times_S X$ has a universal line bundle Q, and τ agrees with

$$i_{\omega-Q}: X_J \longrightarrow J_J, \quad x \longmapsto (2g-2)x - (\omega_{X_J/J} - Q).$$

Recall that from Definition 2.4 we have $\Theta = \Delta_J^*(P^{\vee})$ on J. We also have a line bundle $\Theta_X = p_2^* \Theta$ on J_X . Then we have the canonical adelic extensions $\overline{\Theta}$ on J and its base changes $\overline{\Theta}_X$ to J_X and $\overline{\Theta}_J$ to J_J . Finally, we have the following bigness result.

Theorem 4.5. Let k be either \mathbb{Z} or a field. Let S be a flat and quasiprojective normal integral scheme over k. Let $\pi : X \to S$ be a smooth relative curve over S of genus g > 1 with maximal variation. Then the following hold:

- (1) The adelic line bundle $\pi_*\langle i^*_{\alpha}\overline{\Theta}, i^*_{\alpha}\overline{\Theta}\rangle$ is nef and big on S. Therefore, $i^*_{\alpha}\overline{\Theta}$ is potentially big on X/S.
- (2) The adelic line bundle $p_{1*}\langle i^*_{\Delta}(\overline{\Theta}_X), i^*_{\Delta}(\overline{\Theta}_X) \rangle$ is nef and big on X. Therefore, $i^*_{\Delta}(\overline{\Theta}_X)$ is potentially big on X_X/X .
- (3) The adelic line bundle $q_{1*}\langle \tau^*(\overline{\Theta}_J), \tau^*(\overline{\Theta}_J) \rangle$ is nef and big on J. Therefore, $\tau^*(\overline{\Theta}_J)$ is potentially big on X_J/J .
- (4) Let Y be a quasi-projective variety over k with a generically finite morphism $Y \to J$. Denote by T the image of $Y \to S$. Assume that the composition $T \to S \to M_{g,k}$ is generically finite. Then the adelic line bundle $q_{1*}\langle \tau^*(\overline{\Theta}_J), \tau^*(\overline{\Theta}_J) \rangle|_Y$ is nef and big on Y. Therefore, $(\tau^*(\overline{\Theta}_J))|_{Y \times_S X}$ is potentially big on $Y \times_S X/Y$.

Proof. For (1), by Theorem 2.9(2),

$$\pi_* \langle i_\alpha^* \overline{\Theta}, i_\alpha^* \overline{\Theta} \rangle = \frac{g d^4}{g - 1} \pi_* \langle \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a} \, \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a} \rangle + \frac{d^2}{g - 1} \iota_\alpha^* \overline{\Theta}$$

in $\widehat{\text{Pic}}(S)_{\mathbb{Q}}$. By Theorem 3.2, $\pi_* \langle \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a}, \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a} \rangle$ is nef and big on S. Note that $\iota_{\alpha}^* \overline{\Theta}$ is nef on S, since $\overline{\Theta}$ is nef on J. It follows that $\pi_* \langle i_{\alpha}^* \overline{\Theta}, i_{\alpha}^* \overline{\Theta} \rangle$ is nef and big on S. The second statement follows from Proposition 4.14.

For (2), by Theorem 2.10(2),

$$p_{1*}\langle i^*_{\Delta}(\overline{\Theta}_X), i^*_{\Delta}(\overline{\Theta}_X) \rangle = 4g \,\overline{\omega}_{X/S,a} + \pi^* \pi_* \langle \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a}, \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a} \rangle$$

in $\widehat{\operatorname{Pic}}(X)_{\mathbb{Q}}$. By Theorem 3.1, $\overline{\omega}_{X/S,a}$ is nef and big on X. Then $p_{1*}\langle i_{\Delta}^*(\overline{\Theta}_X), i_{\Delta}^*(\overline{\Theta}_X) \rangle$ is nef and big on X.

For (3), by Theorem 2.10(3),

$$q_{1*}\langle \tau^*(\overline{\Theta}_J), \tau^*(\overline{\Theta}_J) \rangle = 16(g-1)^3\overline{\Theta} + 16g(g-1)^3\pi_J^*\pi_*\langle \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a}, \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a} \rangle$$

in $\widehat{\operatorname{Pic}}(J)_{\mathbb{Q}}$. Then $q_{1*}\langle \tau^*(\overline{\Theta}_J), \tau^*(\overline{\Theta}_J) \rangle$ is nef on J. For the bigness, it suffices to note that the binomial expansion of the self-intersection of $q_{1*}\langle \tau^*(\overline{\Theta}_J), \tau^*(\overline{\Theta}_J) \rangle$ on J has a term

$$(\pi_J^*\pi_*\langle \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a}, \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a}\rangle)^{\dim S} \cdot \overline{\Theta}^{\dim J - \dim S} = n(\pi_*\langle \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a}, \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a}\rangle)^{\dim S} > 0.$$

Here n is the degree of Θ on a fiber of $J \to S$, and the identity is the limit version of that on projective varieties over k.

For (4), it suffices to check that

$$q_{1*}\langle \tau^*(\overline{\Theta}_J), \tau^*(\overline{\Theta}_J) \rangle|_Y = 16(g-1)^3 \overline{\Theta}|_Y + 16g(g-1)^3 \pi_J^* \pi_* \langle \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a}, \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a} \rangle|_Y$$

is big in $\widehat{\operatorname{Pic}}(Y)_{\mathbb{Q}}$. The proof is similar to (3), as $\Theta|_Y$ is ample on fibers of $Y \to S$.

Remark 4.6. Only (3) and (4) will be used in the proof of our uniform Bogomolov-type theorem. Note that (4) essentially implies (1)-(3), but we include all of them here for their own simplicity. There are also counterparts of (4) for (1) and (2), but we omit them in this paper.

4.3 The uniform Bogomolov-type theorem: statement

Now we state the following uniform version of the Bogomolov conjecture, which generalizes the new gap principle proved in [DGH1, Prop. 7.1] and [Kuh, Thm. 3] and summarized in [Gao2, Thm. 4.1].

Theorem 4.7 (Theorem 1.1). Let g > 1 be an integer. Then there are constants $c_1, c_2 > 0$ depending only on g satisfying the following properties. Let K be either a number field or a function field of one variable over a field k. Then for any geometrically integral, smooth and projective curve C of genus g over K, and for any line bundle $\alpha \in \text{Pic}(C_{\overline{K}})$ of degree 1, with the extra assumption that $(C_{\overline{K}}, \alpha)$ is non-isotrivial over \overline{k} in the case that K is a function field of one variable over a field k, one has

$$\#\left\{x\in C(\overline{K}):\widehat{h}(x-\alpha)\leq c_1\left(\max\{h_{\operatorname{Fal}}(C),1\}+\widehat{h}((2g-2)\alpha-\omega_{C/K})\right)\right\}\leq c_2.$$

The theorem will be proved in §4.4. In the following, we explain the precise definition of the heights in the theorem, and explore the non-isotriviality condition in terms of moduli spaces.

4.3.1 Normalization of the heights

Since Theorem 4.7 asserts uniformity when varying K, it is necessary to explain how the heights are normalized in terms of K. The normalization here is compatible with that in Theorem 4.2.

Let us first explain the Néron–Tate height. Let C be a geometrically integral, smooth and projective curve of genus g > 1 over K. Take a point $x_0 \in C(\overline{K})$. Denote by J the Jacobian variety of C over K. The theta divisor θ_{x_0} is defined as the image of the morphism

$$C_{\overline{K}}^{g-1} \longrightarrow J_{\overline{K}}, \quad (x_1, \cdots, x_{g-1}) \longmapsto x_1 + \cdots + x_{g-1} - (g-1)x_0.$$

Then $\Theta = \mathcal{O}(\theta_{x_0} + [-1]^* \theta_{x_0})$ is a symmetric and ample line bundle on $J_{\overline{K}}$. By Lemma A.3(3), the isomorphism class of Θ is independent of the choice of x_0 actually descends to a line bundle on J. Moreover, the current definition of Θ is also compatible with that of Definition 2.4.

The Néron–Tate height $\hat{h} : J(\overline{K}) \to \mathbb{R}$ is defined by $\hat{h} = \frac{1}{2}\hat{h}_{\Theta}$; the canonical height $\hat{h}_{\Theta} : J(\overline{K}) \to \mathbb{R}$ is defined by Tate's limiting argument from a Weil height of Θ ; the Weil height is induced by the classical height $h : \mathbb{P}^n(\overline{K}) \to \mathbb{R}$ as follows.

If K is a number field, the classical height $h: \mathbb{P}^n(\overline{K}) \to \mathbb{R}$ is given by

$$h(x_0, \cdots, x_n) = \frac{1}{[K':\mathbb{Q}]} \sum_{v \in M_{K'}} \log \max\{\|x_0\|_v, \cdots, \|x_n\|_v\}.$$

Here K' is a finite extension of K containing the coordinates $x_0, \dots, x_n, M_{K'}$ is the set of places of K', and $\|\cdot\|_v$ is normalized as follows:

- (1) If v is real, it is the usual absolute value on \mathbb{R} .
- (2) If v is complex, it is the square of the usual absolute value on \mathbb{C} .
- (3) If v is non-archimedean, then $\|\cdot\|_v = N_v^{-\operatorname{ord}_v(\cdot)}$. Here N_v is the cardinality of the residue field of v in $O_{K'}$.

If K is a function field of one variable over a field k, the classical height $h: \mathbb{P}^n(\overline{K}) \to \mathbb{R}$ is given by

$$h(x_0, \cdots, x_n) = \frac{1}{[K':K]} \sum_{v \in M_{K'}} \log \max\{\|x_0\|_v, \cdots, \|x_n\|_v\}.$$

Here K' is a finite extension of K containing the coordinates $x_0, \dots, x_n, M_{K'}$ is the set of places of K', and $\|\cdot\|_v$ is normalized by $\|\cdot\|_v = e^{-[k(v):k] \operatorname{ord}_v(\cdot)}$. Here k(v) is the residue field of the place v of K'. Note that even if K' (or even K) contains a bigger constant field k', the above factor is still [k(v):k]instead of [k(v):k']. Now we explain the Faltings height, which is actually the stable Faltings height. Let C and J be as above. Let K' be a finite extension of K such that C (or equivalently J) has *semi-stable reduction* everywhere over K'. Denote by $C' = C_{K'}$ and $J' = J_{K'}$ the base change to K'.

In the number field case, denote $B' = \operatorname{Spec} O_{K'}$; in the function field case, denote by B' the unique projective and regular curve over k with function field K'. Denote by \mathcal{J}' the Néron model of J' over B', and denote by e : $B' \to \mathcal{J}'$ the identity section. Denote the Hodge bundle

$$\underline{\omega}_{B'} = e^* \Omega^g_{\mathcal{J}'/B'}$$

which is a line bundle on B'.

In the function field case, define the Faltings height

$$h_{\operatorname{Fal}}(C) = h_{\operatorname{Fal}}(J) = \frac{1}{[K':K]} \operatorname{deg}_{B'/k}(\underline{\omega}_{B'}).$$

Here the degree $\deg_{B'/k}(\underline{\omega}_{B'})$ comes from the map $\deg_{B'/k}$: $\operatorname{Div}(C') \to \mathbb{Z}$ given by $\deg_{B'/k}(v) = [k(v) : k]$, where $v \in B'$ is a closed point and k(v) is the residue field of v in B'.

Via the stable relative curve $\mathcal{C}' \to B'$ extending $C_{K'}$, we obtain a Hodge bundle $\lambda_{B'}$ over B' defined in §3.1.2. We claim that

$$h_{\operatorname{Fal}}(C) = \frac{1}{[K':K]} \operatorname{deg}_{B'/k}(\lambda_{B'}).$$

This follows from a special case of Lemma 3.4. In fact, by [BLR, §7.4, Prop. 4], the group scheme $\operatorname{Pic}_{\mathcal{C}'/B'}^{0}$ is the relative identity component of the Néron model of $J_{K'}$ over B'. Then Lemma 3.4 gives a canonical isomorphism $\lambda_{B'} \to \omega_{B'}$.

In the number field case, endow $\underline{\omega}_{B'}$ with a hermitian metric such that

$$\|\rho\|^2 = \frac{i^{g^2}}{(2\pi)^g} \int_{J'_{\sigma}(\mathbb{C})} \rho \wedge \bar{\rho}$$

for any embedding $\sigma: K' \to \mathbb{C}$ and any element ρ of

$$(\underline{\omega}_{B'})_{\sigma}(\mathbb{C}) = e^* \Omega^g_{J'_{\sigma}(\mathbb{C})/\mathbb{C}} \simeq \Gamma(J'_{\sigma}(\mathbb{C}), \Omega^g_{J'_{\sigma}(\mathbb{C})/\mathbb{C}}).$$

Define the Faltings height

$$h_{\operatorname{Fal}}(C) = h_{\operatorname{Fal}}(J) = \frac{1}{[K':\mathbb{Q}]}\widehat{\operatorname{deg}}(\underline{\omega}_{B'}, \|\cdot\|).$$

Here the degree $\widehat{\operatorname{deg}}(\underline{\omega}_{B'}, \|\cdot\|)$ comes from the map $\widehat{\operatorname{deg}} : \widehat{\operatorname{Div}}(O_{K'}) \to \mathbb{R}$ given by $\widehat{\operatorname{deg}}(v) = \log N_v$, where N_v is the order of the residue field of v.

4.3.2 The non-isotriviality condition

Now let us explain the non-isotriviality condition and interpret it in terms of moduli spaces of curves. For convenience, we focus on "isotrivial", and view "non-isotrivial" as the negation of "isotrivial".

Fix g > 1 and a function field K of one variable over k in the following. Fix an embedding $\overline{k} \hookrightarrow \overline{K}$ extending $k \hookrightarrow K$. For the sake of level structures, fix an integer $N \ge 3$ non-divisible by char(k).

Consider the pair (C, α) consisting of a smooth projective curve C of genus g over \overline{K} , and a line bundle $\alpha \in \operatorname{Pic}(C)$ of degree 1. We say that (C, α) is *isotrivial* over \overline{k} if (C, α) is isomorphic to the base change from \overline{k} to \overline{K} of some pair (C_0, α_0) consisting of a smooth projective curve C_0 over \overline{k} and a line bundle $\alpha_0 \in \operatorname{Pic}(C_0)$ of degree 1.

By a triple of degree d and level N over a field F, we mean a triple (C, η, α) consisting of the following data:

- (1) a geometrically integral, smooth and projective curve C of genus g over F,
- (2) an isomorphism $\eta : (\mathbb{Z}/N\mathbb{Z})^{2g} \to \operatorname{Pic}(C)[N],$
- (3) an element $\alpha \in \operatorname{Pic}(C)$ of degree d on C.

By a pair of degree d over F, we mean a pair (C, α) of C and α described in (1) and (3).

We say that a triple of degree d and level N (resp. a pair of degree d) over \overline{K} is *isotrivial* if it is isomorphic to the base change of from \overline{k} to \overline{K} of a triple of degree d and level N (resp. a pair of degree d) over \overline{k} . We have the following easy result.

Lemma 4.8. Let (C, η, α) be a triple of degree d and level N over \overline{K} . Then the following are equivalent:

- (a) (C, α) is isotrivial as a pair of degree d;
- (b) (C, η, α) is isotrivial as a triple of degree d and level N,
- (c) $(C, \eta, (2g-2)\alpha d\omega_{C/\overline{K}})$ is isotrivial as a triple of degree 0 and level N.

Proof. It is trivial to have (b) \Rightarrow (a) and (b) \Rightarrow (c). For (a) \Rightarrow (b), note that if (C, α) is the base change from \overline{k} to \overline{K} of some pair (C_0, α_0) , then $\operatorname{Pic}(C)[N] \simeq \operatorname{Pic}(C_0)[N]$, which can be seen in terms of torsion points of Jacobian varieties.

For (c) \Rightarrow (b), assume that $(C, \eta, (2g - 2)\alpha - d\omega_{C/\overline{K}})$ is the base change from \overline{k} to \overline{K} of some triple $(C_0, \eta_0, (2g - 2)\alpha_0 - d\omega_{C_0/\overline{k}})$. Then $(2g - 2)\alpha = (2g - 2)\alpha_0$ in Pic(C). Then $\alpha \in \alpha_0 + \text{Pic}(C)[2g - 2]$. Similar to the above, we have Pic(C)[2g - 2] = Pic(C_0)[2g - 2] and thus $\alpha \in \text{Pic}(C_0)$. This proves (c) \Rightarrow (b).

As before, denote by $M_{g,N,k}$ the moduli scheme of smooth curves of genus g with a level-N structure over k, which is exactly the moduli space of pairs (C, η) over k. Denote by $\mathcal{C} \to M_{g,N,k}$ the universal curve. Denote by $\operatorname{Pic}_{\mathcal{C}/M_{g,N,k}}$ the relative Picard functor, and denote by $\operatorname{Pic}_{\mathcal{C}/M_{g,N,k}}^d$ the subfunctor of line bundles of degree d on fibers. Then both $\operatorname{Pic}_{\mathcal{C}/M_{g,N,k}}$ and $\operatorname{Pic}_{\mathcal{C}/M_{g,N,k}}^d$ are representable, and $\mathcal{J} = \operatorname{Pic}_{\mathcal{C}/M_{g,N,k}}^0$ is the relative Jacobian scheme of $\mathcal{C} \to M_{g,N,k}$. We refer to [BLR, §8.1,§8.2] for these standard results.

Consider the moduli space of triples (C, α, η) of degree d and level Nover k. Then it is represented by $\operatorname{Pic}^{d}_{\mathcal{C}/M_{g,N,k}}$ over k, which can be checked by considering relative representability of the functor $(C, \alpha, \eta) \mapsto (C, \eta)$. For our purpose, it suffices to note that $\operatorname{Pic}^{d}_{\mathcal{C}/M_{g,N,k}}(F)$ is bijective to the isomorphism classes of triples (C, α, η) of degree d and level N over F for any algebraically closed field F over k.

Finally, our key result in terms of the Picard functor is as follows. A triple (C, α, η) of degree d and level N over \overline{K} is isotrivial if and only the point of $\operatorname{Pic}^{d}_{\mathcal{C}/M_{g,N,k}}(\overline{K})$ representing the triple (C, α, η) lies in the image of the natural map

$$\operatorname{Pic}^{d}_{\mathcal{C}/M_{g,N,k}}(\overline{k}) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Pic}^{d}_{\mathcal{C}/M_{g,N,k}}(\overline{K}).$$

This is further equivalent to the property that the point of $\operatorname{Pic}^{d}_{\mathcal{C}/M_{g,N,k}}(\overline{K})$ representing the triple (C, α, η) corresponds to a closed point of $\operatorname{Pic}^{d}_{\mathcal{C}/M_{g,N,k}}$. The proof is trivial.

4.3.3 An easy lower bound

Here we present an easy uniform lower bound of the stable Faltings height in the function field case. **Lemma 4.9.** Let K be a function field of one variable over a field k. Let C be a geometrically integral, smooth and projective curve over K of genus g > 1. Assume that $C_{\overline{K}}$ is non-isotrivial over \overline{k} . Then

$$h_{\rm Fal}(C) > \begin{cases} 3^{-4g^2} & \text{if } {\rm char}(K) \neq 3, \\ 4^{-4g^2} & \text{if } {\rm char}(K) = 3. \end{cases}$$

Proof. Let K' be a finite extension of K such that C has semistable reduction over K', and let B' be the unique projective regular curve over k with function field K'. Then we have

$$h_{\mathrm{Fal}}(C) = \frac{1}{[K':K]} \deg_{B'/k}(\underline{\omega}_{B'}) = \frac{1}{[K':K]} \deg_{B'/k}(\lambda_{B'}) \ge \frac{1}{[K':K]}.$$

The inequality is based on two facts. First, the non-isotriviality condition implies that $h_{\text{Fal}}(C) > 0$. This well-known result is a consequence of the bigness of $\lambda_{\overline{S}}$ (for $\overline{S} = B'$) described at the end of §3.4. Alternatively, it can be derived from [MB, XI, Thm. 4.5] and Torelli's theorem. Second, $\deg_{B'/k}(\underline{\omega}_{B'}) > 0$ implies $\deg_{B'/k}(\underline{\omega}_{B'}) \geq 1$ because it is an integer.

With the claim, it suffices to find K' such that [K':K] is small enough for the bound. Let $N \ge 3$ be an integer non-divisible by $\operatorname{char}(K)$, and set K'to be the smallest subfield of \overline{K} such that all points of $J(\overline{K})[N]$ are defined over K'. Here J is the Jacobian variety of X over K. By Raynaud's theorem (cf. [Gro, Prop. 4.7]), J has semistable reduction over K'. By [DM, Thm. 2.4], C has semistable reduction over K'. So K' satisfies the requirement.

It remains to bound [K':K]. Note that $\operatorname{Gal}(K'/K)$ has a natural injection to $\operatorname{GSp}(J(\overline{K})[N]) \simeq \operatorname{GSp}_{2g}(\mathbb{Z}/N\mathbb{Z})$. This has a very rough upper bound N^{4g^2} .

4.4 The uniform Bogomolov-type theorem: proof

Now we prove Theorem 4.7. Our proof consists of three parts, which treat respectively the number field case, the function field case, and the uniformity of the constants c_1, c_2 on K. It is possible to merge them into a single part, but we introduce them case by case for the sake of readability.

4.4.1 Part 1: number field

In this part, we treat the number field case. Fix an integer $N \geq 3$, and denote by $M_{g,N,\mathbb{Q}}$ the (fine) moduli space of smooth curves of genus g over \mathbb{Q} with a full level-N structure. As before, $M_{g,N,\mathbb{Q}}$ is a smooth quasi-projective variety over \mathbb{Q} , which follows from the GIT construction in [MFK, §7.4]. Set $S = M_{g,N,\mathbb{Q}}$ and let $\pi : X \to S$ be the universal curve.

As above, consider the situation of Theorem 2.10(3). Then we have a morphism

$$\tau: J \times_S X \longrightarrow J \times_S J, \quad (y, x) \longmapsto (y, y + (2g - 2)x - \omega_{X/S}).$$

Rewrite it as a J-morphism

$$\tau: X_J \longrightarrow J_J.$$

Here we write $X_J = J \times_S X$ and $J_J = J \times_S J$, viewed as J-schemes via the first projections $q_1 : J \times_S X \to J$ and $p_1 : J \times_S J \to J$.

Denote

$$\overline{L} = \tau^*(\overline{\Theta}_J), \quad \overline{\Theta}_J = q_2^*\overline{\Theta}.$$

We claim that for any adelic line bundle \overline{M} on J, there are constants $c_1, c_2 > 0$ such that for any $y \in J(\overline{K})$,

$$#\{z \in X_J(\overline{K}) : q_1(z) = y, \ h_{\overline{L}}(z) \le c_1 h_{\overline{M}}(y)\} \le c_2.$$

To prove the claim, by Theorem 4.5(3), $\overline{L} = \tau^*(\overline{\Theta}_J)$ is potentially big on X_J/J . Apply Theorem 4.2 to the family $q_1 : X_J \to J$. Then there are a non-empty Zariski open subvariety $U \subset J$ and constants $c_1, c_2 > 0$ such that the claim holds for all $y \in U(\overline{K})$. This is already very close to the claim, except that it restricts y to be in the open subset U of J. To cover all algebraic points of J, we we need to apply a similar result to every irreducible component of $J \setminus U$, and repeat the process finitely many times. For that, it suffices to prove that, for any (non-empty) closed subvariety Y of J, there is a non-empty open subvariety V of Y, and constants $c_1, c_2 > 0$ such that for any $y \in V(\overline{K})$,

$$#\{z \in X_J(\overline{K}) : q_1(z) = y, \ h_{\overline{L}}(z) \le c_1 \ h_{\overline{M}}(y)\} \le c_2.$$

This is again a consequence of Theorem 4.2, applied to the base change $X_Y \to Y$ of $q_1 : X_J \to J$ by $Y \to J$. Here the potential bigness condition is obtained by Theorem 4.5(4). This proves the claim.

Now we verify that the claim implies the theorem for number fields. In fact, denote by $\tau_1 : X_J \to J$ the composition $X_J \xrightarrow{\tau} J_J \xrightarrow{q_2} J$. This gives $\tau_1^* \overline{\Theta} = \overline{L}$. Under the identification

$$X_J(\overline{K}) = (J \times_S X)(\overline{K}) = \{(y, x) \in J(\overline{K}) \times X(\overline{K}) : \pi_J(y) = \pi(x)\},\$$

 $\tau_1: X_J \to J$ maps a point $z = (y, x) \in X_J(\overline{K})$ with $s = \pi(x) \in S(\overline{K})$ to the point of $J(\overline{K})$ corresponding to the divisor $y + (2g - 2)x - \omega_{X_s}$ on X_s . The projection formula for $\tau_1: X_J \to J$ gives

$$h_{\overline{L}}(z) = h_{\overline{\Theta}}((2g-2)x - (\omega_{X_s} - y)) = 2\widehat{h}((2g-2)x - (\omega_{X_s} - y)).$$

Then the claim implies for any $y \in J(K)$ and $s = \pi_J(y) \in S(K)$,

$$#\{x \in X_s(\overline{K}) : 2\widehat{h}((2g-2)x - (\omega_{X_s} - y)) \le c_1 h_{\overline{M}}(y)\} \le c_2.$$

We claim that there is an adelic line bundle M on J such that for any $y \in J(\overline{K})$ with $s = \pi_J(y) \in S(\overline{K})$,

$$h_{\overline{M}}(y) \ge c_3 \big(\max\{h_{\operatorname{Fal}}(X_s), 1\} + \widehat{h}(y) \big)$$

for some constant $c_3 > 0$.

If this holds, then for any $s \in S(\overline{K})$ and $y \in J_s(\overline{K})$,

$$\#\left\{x \in X_{s}(\overline{K}) : 2\,\widehat{h}((2g-2)x - (\omega_{X_{s}} - y)) \le c_{1}c_{3}\big(\max\{h_{\mathrm{Fal}}(X_{s}), 1\} + \widehat{h}(y)\big)\right\}$$

is less than or equal to c_2 . For any $\alpha \in \operatorname{Pic}(X_s)$ of degree 1, set

$$y = \omega_{X_s} - (2g - 2)\alpha.$$

It gives the theorem for number fields.

For the construction of M, set

$$\overline{M} = \overline{\Theta} + \pi_J^* \overline{\lambda}_S + \mathcal{O}(c).$$

Here c > 0 and $\mathcal{O}(c)$ is the trivial line bundle on \mathbb{Z} with metric given by $||1|| = e^{-c}$, and viewed as an adelic line bundle on J by pull-back, and $\overline{\lambda}_S$ is the Hodge bundle associated to $J \to S$, endowed with the Faltings metric. Note that $\overline{\lambda}_S$ is an adelic line bundle on S by [YZ2, §2.6.2], and the current notation is justified by Lemma 3.4. This gives

$$h_{\overline{M}}(y) = 2 \widehat{h}(y) + h_{\operatorname{Fal}}(X_s) + c$$

By a result of Bost [Bos] (cf. [GR, App.] or [JS1, $\S1.3$]), we have an explicit uniform lower bound

$$h_{\mathrm{Fal}}(X_s) \ge -\frac{g}{2}\log(2\pi)$$

Note that the constant is different from those in some references due to different normalization of the metric defining the Faltings height. Then it suffices to take

$$c = \frac{g}{2}\log(2\pi) + 1.$$

This proves the theorem for number fields.

4.4.2 Part 2: function fields

In this part, we prove Theorem 4.7 in the case that K is a function field of one variable over k. The proof is similar to the number field case, so we sketch it here and emphasize on the difference.

Fix an integer $N \geq 3$ invertible in k, and denote by $M_{g,N,k}$ the (fine) moduli space of smooth curves of genus g over k with a full level-N structure. Set $S = M_{g,N,k}$ and let $\pi : X \to S$ be the universal curve. By [GO, Thm. 2.1] again, $\pi : X \to S$ has a stable compactification $\overline{\pi} : \overline{X} \to \overline{S}$.

As in the number field case, we still have a J-morphism

$$\tau: X_J \longrightarrow J_J, \quad (y, x) \longmapsto (y, y + (2g - 2)x - \omega_{X/S}).$$

Denote $\overline{L} = \tau^*(\overline{\Theta}_J)$ as an element of $\widehat{\operatorname{Pic}}(X_J/k)$.

We claim that for any adelic line bundle \overline{M} on J/k, there are constants $c_1, c_2 > 0$ such that for any 1-dimensional point $y \in J$,

$$#\{z \in (X_J)_y(\overline{k(y)}) : h_{\overline{L}}(z) \le c_1 \widehat{\deg}(\overline{M}|_y)\} \le c_2.$$

Here $(X_J)_y$ is the fiber of $q_1 : X_J \to J$ above y. This is similar to the number field case and is obtained by successively applying Theorem 4.5(4) and Theorem 4.2 to the family $q_1 : X_J \to J$ and the adelic line bundle $\overline{L} = \tau^*(\overline{\Theta}_J)$.

Denote $s = \pi_J(y) \in S$, viewed as a schematic point. Denote by X_s and J_s the fibers of $\pi : X \to S$ and $\pi_J : J \to S$ above s. As z lies in the fiber $J \times_S X \to S$ of above $s \in S$, we can write z = (y, x) with $y \in J_s(\overline{k(y)})$ and $x \in X_s(\overline{k(y)})$. Similarly to the number field case, the claim implies that for any 1-dimensional point $y \in J$ with $s = \pi_J(y) \in S$,

$$\#\{x \in X_{s,k(y)}(\overline{k(y)}) : 2\,\widehat{h}((2g-2)x - (\omega_{X_s} - y)) \le c_1\,\widehat{\deg}(\overline{M}|_y)\} \le c_2.$$

Note that $s = \pi_J(y)$ is either 1-dimensional or 0-dimensional in S, but $X_{s,k(y)} = X_s \times_s y$ is viewed as a curve over the function field k(y) such that the Néron–Tate height is defined with respect to k(y)/k.

Now we take the adelic line bundle M on J by

$$\overline{M} = \overline{\Theta} + \pi_J^* \overline{\lambda}_S$$

Here $\overline{\lambda}_S$ is the Hodge bundle $\lambda_{\overline{S}}$ on \overline{S} defined in in §3.1.2, viewed as an adelic line bundle on S/k. It remains to compute

$$\widehat{\operatorname{deg}}(\overline{M}|_y) = \widehat{\operatorname{deg}}(\overline{\Theta}|_y) + \widehat{\operatorname{deg}}((\pi_J^* \overline{\lambda}_S)|_y).$$

For this, resume the above notations $s = \pi_J(y)$ and z = (y, x) with $y \in J_s(\overline{k(y)})$ and $x \in X_s(\overline{k(y)})$.

First, $\overline{\Theta}|_y = (\overline{\Theta}|_{J_s})|_y$ is the pull-back of the adelic line bundle $\overline{\Theta}|_{J_s}$ to $y \in J_s$, and its arithmetic degree is just $2\hat{h}(y)$ for $y \in J_{s,k(y)}(k(y))$ over the function field k(y).

Second, $(\pi_J^*\overline{\lambda}_S)|_y = \pi_y^*((\overline{\lambda}_S)|_s)$. Here $\pi_y : y \to s$ denotes the natural morphism. If s is a 0-dimensional point of S, then $\pi_y^*((\overline{\lambda}_S)|_s)$ has arithmetic degree 0. Otherwise, s is a 1-dimensional point of S, and thus

$$\widehat{\operatorname{deg}}((\pi_J^*\overline{\lambda}_S)|_y) = \operatorname{deg}(\pi_y)\widehat{\operatorname{deg}}((\overline{\lambda}_S)|_s) = \operatorname{deg}(\pi_y)h_{\operatorname{Fal}}(X_s) = h_{\operatorname{Fal}}(X_{s,k(y)}).$$

Hence, for any 1-dimensional point $y \in J$ with $s = \pi_J(y) \in S$,

$$\widehat{\deg}(\overline{M}|_y) = \widehat{\deg}(\overline{\Theta}|_y) + \widehat{\deg}((\pi_J^* \overline{\lambda}_S)|_y) = 2\,\widehat{h}(y) + h_{\operatorname{Fal}}(X_{s,k(y)}).$$

Then we have proved that there are constants $c_1, c_2 > 0$ such that for any 1-dimensional point $y \in J$ with $s = \pi_J(y) \in S$,

$$\#\{x \in X_{s,k(y)}(\overline{k(y)}) : \widehat{h}((2g-2)x - (\omega_{X_s} - y)) \le c_1(h_{\text{Fal}}(X_{s,k(y)}) + \widehat{h}(y))\} \le c_2.$$

We can further modify the statement as follows. For any function field K of one variable over k, and for any non-isotrivial k-morphism $y' : \operatorname{Spec} K \to J$ with image $s' = \pi \circ y' : \operatorname{Spec} K \to S$, we have

$$\#\{x \in X_{s'}(\overline{K}) : \widehat{h}((2g-2)x - (\omega_{X_{s'}} - y')) \le c_1(h_{\text{Fal}}(X_{s'}) + \widehat{h}(y'))\} \le c_2.$$

Here y': Spec $K \to J$ is said to be *non-isotrivial* if its image is a 1dimensional point of J. The heights are normalized over K/k, and this statement is a consequence of the original one by the relation y = Im(y'). It allows K to be any arbitrary finite extension of k(y) (via y'), which does not change the truth of the inequality, since a finite extension replaces the heights by multiplying the same constant.

By the moduli property, the above result further implies that for any function field K of one variable over k, and for any non-isotrivial triple (C, η, y'') of degree 0 and level N over K,

$$#\{x \in C(\overline{K}) : \widehat{h}((2g-2)x - (\omega_C - y'')) \le c_1(h_{\text{Fal}}(C) + \widehat{h}(y''))\} \le c_2.$$

We refer to §4.3.2 for the equivalence of the non-isotriviality conditions. By Lemma 4.8, we can remove η from the non-isotriviality condition, so the result

holds for any non-isotrivial pair (C, y'') of degree 0 over K. Moreover, by the relation $y'' = \omega_C - (2g - 2)\alpha$, the result implies that for any non-isotrivial pair (C, α) of degree 1 over K,

$$\#\{x \in C(\overline{K}) : (2g-2)^2 \hat{h}(x-\alpha) \le c_1 (h_{\text{Fal}}(C) + \hat{h}(\omega_C - (2g-2)\alpha)) \} \le c_2.$$

We can further allow $\alpha \in \operatorname{Pic}^{1}(C_{\overline{K}})$ (instead of $\alpha \in \operatorname{Pic}^{1}(C)$) by extending K.

Finally, by Lemma 4.9,

$$h_{\text{Fal}}(C) > 4^{-2g} \max\{h_{\text{Fal}}(C), 1\}$$

Thus we can replace the term $h_{\text{Fal}}(C)$ by $\max\{h_{\text{Fal}}(C), 1\}$ in the above result. This proves the theorem for function fields.

4.4.3 Part 3: uniformity of constants

The constants c_1, c_2 obtained above a priori depend on (g, K), but we are going to prove that they can be chosen uniformly for all K. It suffices to treat the uniformity for K varying as a function field. The key is the following uniform version of Theorem 4.2.

Theorem 4.10. Let S be a flat and quasi-projective integral scheme over \mathbb{Z} . Let $\pi : X \to S$ be a smooth relative curve of genus g > 1. Let \overline{L} be a nef adelic line bundle on X/\mathbb{Z} , and \overline{M} be an adelic line bundle on S/\mathbb{Z} . If \overline{L} is potentially big on X/S, then there is a non-empty open subscheme U of S, and constants $c_1, c_2 > 0$, such that for any function field K of one variable over a field k, and for any non-isotrivial morphism $y : \operatorname{Spec} K \to U$,

$$\#\{x \in X_y(\overline{K}) : h_{\overline{L}|_{X_y}}(x) \le c_1 \operatorname{\widehat{deg}}(\overline{M}|_y)\} \le c_2.$$

We first explain many terms of the statement. Let K be a function field of one variable over a field k as in the theorem. Denote by k' the algebraic closure of k in K. The morphism y: Spec $K \to U$ is said to be *non-isotrivial* if it does not factor through the natural morphism Spec $K \to$ Spec k'.

In the following, we refer to [YZ2, §2.5.5] for various functorial maps on the groups (or categories) of adelic line bundles. Denote p = char(k). If p > 0, the restriction $\overline{M}|_y$ denotes the image via the composition

$$\widehat{\operatorname{Pic}}(S/\mathbb{Z}) \longrightarrow \widehat{\operatorname{Pic}}(S_{\mathbb{F}_p}/\mathbb{F}_p) \longrightarrow \widehat{\operatorname{Pic}}(S_k/k) \xrightarrow{y^*} \widehat{\operatorname{Pic}}(K/k)$$

Here y': Spec $K \to S_k = S \times_{\mathbb{Z}} k$ is induced by y: Spec $K \to S$ via the fiber product. Similarly, if p = 0, the restriction $\overline{M}|_y$ denotes the image via the composition

$$\widehat{\operatorname{Pic}}(S/\mathbb{Z}) \longrightarrow \widehat{\operatorname{Pic}}(S_{\mathbb{Q}}/\mathbb{Q}) \longrightarrow \widehat{\operatorname{Pic}}(S_k/k) \xrightarrow{y'^*} \widehat{\operatorname{Pic}}(K/k).$$

In both cases, $\widehat{\deg}(\overline{M}|_y)$ is the image of the degree map $\widehat{\deg} : \widehat{\operatorname{Pic}}(K/k) \to \mathbb{R}$ normalized by multiplicity functions given by degrees over k.

The term $X_y = X \times_S (\operatorname{Spec} K, y)$ is a smooth projective curve over K. If p > 0, then $\overline{L}|_{X_y}$ denotes the image via the composition

$$\widehat{\operatorname{Pic}}(X/\mathbb{Z}) \longrightarrow \widehat{\operatorname{Pic}}(X_{\mathbb{F}_p}/\mathbb{F}_p) \longrightarrow \widehat{\operatorname{Pic}}(X_k/k) \longrightarrow \widehat{\operatorname{Pic}}(X_y/k).$$

If = 0, then $\overline{L}|_{X_y}$ denotes the image via the composition

$$\widehat{\operatorname{Pic}}(X/\mathbb{Z}) \longrightarrow \widehat{\operatorname{Pic}}(X_{\mathbb{Q}}/\mathbb{Q}) \longrightarrow \widehat{\operatorname{Pic}}(X_k/k) \longrightarrow \widehat{\operatorname{Pic}}(X_y/k).$$

In both cases, the height function $h_{\overline{L}|_{X_y}}: X_y(\overline{K}) \to \mathbb{R}$ is normalized by K/k.

Proof of Theorem 4.10. The proof is similar to that of Theorem 4.2(2). In fact, we still have that $\overline{L}_m = m_{\boxtimes}\overline{L}$ is big on $X_m = X_{/S}^m$ for some $m \ge 1$. Then $\overline{L}_m - \epsilon \pi^* \overline{M}$ is big for some positive rational number $\epsilon > 0$, and thus some multiple $n(\overline{L}_m - \epsilon \overline{M})$ of $\overline{L}_m - \epsilon \overline{M}$ is an (integral) adelic line bundle on X_m/\mathbb{Z} with a nonzero effective section s. Denote $Z = \operatorname{div}(s)$. Similarly, for any non-isotrivial point y: Spec $K \to S$,

$$\{x \in (X_m)_y(\overline{K}) : h_{\overline{L}_m|_{(X_m)_y}}(x) \le \epsilon \widehat{\deg}(\overline{M}|_y)\} \subset Z_y(\overline{K}).$$

The remaining part of the proof is also similar.

Now we prove that we can choose (c_1, c_2) uniformly for all K/k in Theorem 4.2. Fix an integer $N \geq 3$, and denote by $M_{g,N}$ the (fine) moduli space of smooth curves of genus g over $\mathbb{Z}[1/N]$ with a full level-N structure. Set $S = M_{g,N}$ and let $\pi : X \to S$ be the universal curve. As in the proof of the number field case, we have data $(X, S, J, X_J, J_J, \overline{\Theta}, \overline{\Theta}_J, \overline{L})$ over $\mathbb{Z}[1/N]$. For example, $\overline{L} = \tau^*(\overline{\Theta}_J)$ now lies in $\widehat{\operatorname{Pic}}(X_J/\mathbb{Z})$.

Let M be the adelic line bundle over J/\mathbb{Z} by

$$\overline{M} = \overline{\Theta} + \pi_J^* \overline{\lambda}_S$$

Here $\overline{\lambda}_S$ is the Hodge bundle associated to $J \to S$ over \mathbb{Z} , endowed with the Faltings metric. This is essentially the one used in the number field case, but the metrics at archimedean places will not play an essential role here.

Apply Theorem 4.5(4) and Theorem 4.10 successively to the family $q_1 : X_J \to J$ and the adelic line bundles \overline{L} and \overline{M} . As in the proof in the function field case, we conclude that there are a closed subscheme Z of S which is disjoint with $S_{\mathbb{Q}}$, and constants $c_1, c_2 > 0$, such that for any function field K of one variable over k, and for any non-isotrivial point $y : \operatorname{Spec} K \to J$ whose image $s = \pi \circ y : \operatorname{Spec} K \to S$ lies in $S \setminus Z$, we have

$$#\{x \in X_s(\overline{K}) : \widehat{h}((2g-2)x - (\omega_{X_s} - y)) \le c_1(h_{\operatorname{Fal}}(X_s) + \widehat{h}(y))\} \le c_2.$$

The heights are normalized over K/k.

Note that Z lies in finitely many fibers of S over Spec Z. Then we conclude that there is a positive integer N' such that the constants (c_1, c_2) in Theorem 4.2 are uniform for all K/k with $\operatorname{char}(k) \nmid N'$.

It remains to treat the finitely many characteristics given by $\operatorname{char}(k) \mid N'$. Then we can fix a prime number p, and treat all K/k with $\operatorname{char}(k) = p$. This is proved similarly, except that we work over a fine moduli space $S = M_{g,N'',\mathbb{F}_p}$ over \mathbb{F}_p (with $p \nmid N''$). Accordingly, Theorem 4.10 can be modified to fit the setting that S is quasi-projective over \mathbb{F}_p and \overline{L} is adelic over X/\mathbb{F}_p . We omit the details here.

4.5 Uniform fiberwise bigness

Now we prove Theorem 1.4. Due to different settings, we divide the treatment into the number field case (Theorem 4.11) and the function field case (Theorem 4.12). We start with the number field case.

Theorem 4.11 (Theorem 1.4: number field case). Let g > 1 be an integer. Then there is a constants $c_3 > 0$ depending only on g such that for any geometrically connected, smooth and projective curve C of genus g over a number field K, one has

$$[\overline{\omega}_{C/K,a}^2] > c_3 \cdot \max\{h_{\operatorname{Fal}}(C), 1\}.$$

Proof. As mentioned after Theorem 1.4, it is still a consequence of Theorem 1.3 (or Theorem 3.1, Theorem 3.2), and the proof is similar to but much easier than that of Theorem 1.1 (or equivalently Theorem 4.7).

As in §4.4.1, take S to be a fine moduli space $M_{g,N,\mathbb{Q}}$ over \mathbb{Q} with $N \geq 3$, and take $\pi : X \to S$ to be the universal curve. By Theorem 3.2,

$$\overline{N} := \pi_* \langle \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a} , \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a} \rangle$$

is big on S. By the height inequality in [YZ2, Thm. 5.3.5], for any adelic line bundle \overline{M} on S/\mathbb{Z} , there are a Zariski closed subset $Z \subsetneq S$ and a constant $\epsilon > 0$ such that

$$h_{\overline{N}}(s) \ge \epsilon h_{\overline{M}}(s), \quad \forall s \in (S \setminus Z)(\overline{K}).$$

Applying the height inequality to $(\overline{M}|_Z, \overline{N}|_Z)$ repeatedly, and decrease ϵ if necessary, we can assume that

$$h_{\overline{N}}(s) \ge \epsilon h_{\overline{M}}(s), \quad \forall s \in S(\overline{K}).$$

Now we convert the inequality to the inequality of the theorem. For the left-hand side of the inequality, we claim that

$$h_{\overline{N}}(s) = [\overline{\omega}_{X_s,a}^2], \quad \forall s \in S(\overline{K}).$$

In fact, denote by $s' \in S$ the closed point corresponding to s. Then the functoriality of the Deligne pairing (cf. [YZ2, Thm. 4.1.3]) gives

$$\begin{split} h_{\overline{N}}(s) &= \frac{1}{[\mathbb{Q}(s'):\mathbb{Q}]} \widehat{\deg}(\pi_* \langle \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a}, \overline{\omega}_{X/S,a} \rangle |_{s'}) \\ &= \frac{1}{[\mathbb{Q}(s'):\mathbb{Q}]} \widehat{\deg}(\langle \overline{\omega}_{X_{s'}/s',a}, \overline{\omega}_{X_{s'}/s',a} \rangle) \\ &= \frac{1}{[\mathbb{Q}(s'):\mathbb{Q}]} \overline{\omega}_{X_{s'}/s',a}^2 \\ &= [\overline{\omega}_{X_{s,a}}^2]. \end{split}$$

For the right-hand side, similarly to §4.4.1, choose the adelic line bundle \overline{M} on S by

$$\overline{M} = \overline{\lambda}_S + \mathcal{O}(c), \quad c = \frac{g}{2}\log(2\pi) + 1.$$

Then for any point $t \in S(\overline{K})$, we have

$$h_{\overline{M}}(t) = h_{\operatorname{Fal}}(X_t) + c \ge \max\{h_{\operatorname{Fal}}(X_t), 1\}.$$

This finishes the proof of the arithmetic case.

Now we prove the following explicit version of the function field case of Theorem 1.4.

Theorem 4.12 (Theorem 1.4: function fields). Let K be a function field of one variable over a field k. Let C be a geometrically integral, smooth and projective curve of genus g > 1 over K. Assume that $C_{\overline{K}}$ is non-isotrivial over \overline{k} . Then

$$\overline{\omega}_{C/K,a}^2 \ge \frac{3}{5(2g-1)(3g-1)} h_{\text{Fal}}(C) > \frac{3}{5(2g-1)(3g-1) \cdot 4^{2g}} \max\{h_{\text{Fal}}(C), 1\}.$$

Proof. The second inequality follows from Lemma 4.9. The first inequality follows from the case dim S = 1 of Theorem 3.9. In this situation, the proof only requires Zhang's theory of adelic line bundles on projective curves over function fields of one variable, and is a direct consequence of the inequalities in [Zha1, Zha3, Cin1, dJo2].

Remark 4.13. The constants in the theorem can be improved by a more careful analysis of Lemma 4.9 and by applying [LSW, Prop. 6.1] and [Cin2].

4.6 Non-degeneracy and relative Bogomolov conjecture

The goal of this subsection is to introduce the consequences of our potential bigness on the non-degeneracy problem and relative Bogomolov conjecture related to the three examples in §4.2. These results are key ingredients in the approaches of [Gao1, GH, DGH1, DGH2, Kuh] to uniform Bogomolov-type results, but we do not use them directly in our approach.

4.6.1 Generality on non-degeneracy

Let k be a field. Let S be a quasi-projective normal variety over k. Let $\psi : A \to S$ be an abelian scheme over S of relative dimension g, with identity section $e : S \to A$. Let Y be a quasi-projective variety over k with a generically finite morphism $\iota : Y \to A$ over k. Let us first review the notion of non-degeneracy of Y in A. For convenience, we do not assume that ι is a closed immersion.

Let L be a symmetric and ψ -ample line bundle on A, rigidified by an isomorphism $e^*L \simeq \mathcal{O}_S$. Let \overline{L} be the unique adelic line bundle on A extending L and satisfying $[2]^*\overline{L} \simeq 4\overline{L}$ as constructed in [YZ2, Thm. 6.1.1]. Following [YZ2, §6.2.2], we say that the morphism $\iota : Y \to A$ is nondegenerate if $\overline{L}|_Y = \iota^* \overline{L}$ is a big adelic line bundle on Y. The definition is independent of the choice of L, as any two ample line bundles can bound each other up to positive multiples. As explained in the loc. cit., if there is an embedding $k \to \mathbb{C}$, the definition is equivalent to the definition of [DGH1, Def. 1.5], which requires the Betti map $Y(\mathbb{C})_V \to (\mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z})^{2g}$ to have a full rank at some point of $Y(\mathbb{C})_V$ for some simply connected open subset V of $S(\mathbb{C})$.

As an easy consequence of Lemma 4.1, we have the following quick criterion.

Proposition 4.14. Assume that $Y \to S$ is projective and flat with a geometrically integral generic fiber. If L|Y is big on the generic fiber of $Y \to S$, and $(\pi|_Y)_*\langle \overline{L}|_Y, \cdots, \overline{L}|_Y \rangle$ is big on S/k, then $\iota^m : Y_{/S}^m \to A_{/S}^m$ is non-degenerate for all $m \ge \dim S$.

4.6.2 Three non-degeneracy examples

Let k be a field. Let S be a quasi-projective normal variety over k. Let $\pi: X \to S$ be a smooth relative curve over S of genus g > 1. Let α be a line bundle on X of degree d > 0 on fibers of $\pi: X \to S$.

Recall from $\S4.2$ that we have the following three natural morphisms:

- (1) the S-morphism $i_{\alpha}: X \to J$,
- (2) the X-morphism $i_{\Delta}: X_X \to J_X$,
- (3) the *J*-morphism $\tau = i_{\omega-Q} : X_J \to J_J$.

Note that the definition of Q requires a section of $X \to S$, but the definition of the morphism τ does not. We explain this discrepancy slightly. In fact, we usually require a section of $X \to S$ to rigidify Q and thus determine Qas a unique class in $\operatorname{Pic}(J \times_S X)$. However, without the section, Q can be considered a unique class in $\operatorname{Pic}(J \times_S X)/\operatorname{Pic}(J)$, which still gives a welldefined $i_{\omega-Q}$.

The morphisms induce for $m \ge 1$ three natural morphisms:

(a) the S-morphism

$$i^m_{\alpha} = (i_{\alpha}, \cdots, i_{\alpha}) : X^m_{/S} \longrightarrow J^m_{/S},$$

(b) the X-morphism

$$i_{\Delta}^{m} = (i_{\Delta}, \cdots, i_{\Delta}) : (X_{X})_{/X}^{m} \longrightarrow (J_{X})_{/X}^{m},$$

(c) the *J*-morphism

$$i_{\omega-Q}^m = (i_{\omega-Q}, \cdots, i_{\omega-Q}) : (X_J)_{/J}^m \longrightarrow (J_J)_{/J}^m$$

The morphism in (b) is closely related to the Faltings–Zhang morphism

$$i_{\mathrm{FZ},m}: X_{/S}^{m+1} \longrightarrow J_{/S}^m, \quad (x_0, \cdots, x_m) \longmapsto (x_1 - x_0, \cdots, x_m - x_0).$$

The morphism in (c) is closely related to the morphism

$$\begin{aligned} \tau_m &: (X_{/S}^m) \times_S J &\longrightarrow J_{/S}^m, \\ (x_1, \cdots, x_m, y) &\longmapsto ((2g-2)x_1 - \omega_{X/S} + y, x_2 - x_1, \cdots, x_m - x_1). \end{aligned}$$

Again, the definition of $i_{\omega-Q}^m$ does not require a section of $X \to S$.

Now we have the following theorem, whose parts (1), (2), (4) in the case char(k) = 0 were proved in [Gao1, Thm. 1.2(i), Thm 1.2'].

Theorem 4.15. Let k be a field. Let S be a quasi-projective variety over k. Let $\pi : X \to S$ be a smooth relative curve over S of genus g > 1 with maximal variation. Let α be a line bundle on X of positive degree on fibers of $\pi : X \to S$. Then the following morphisms are non-degenerate:

- (1) the S-morphism $i^m_{\alpha}: X^m_{/S} \to J^m_{/S}$ for any $m \ge \dim S$,
- (2) the X-morphism $i_{\Delta}^m : (X_X)_{/X}^m \to (J_X)_{/X}^m$ for any $m \ge \dim S + 1$,
- (3) the J-morphism $i_{\omega-Q}^m : (X_J)_{/J}^m \to (J_J)_{/J}^m$ for any $m \ge \dim S + g$,
- (4) the S-morphism $i_{\mathrm{FZ},m}: X^{m+1}_{/S} \to J^m_{/S}$ for any $m \ge \dim S + 1$,
- (5) the S-morphism $\tau_m : (X^m_{/S}) \times_S J \to J^m_{/S}$ for any $m \ge \dim S + g$.

Proof. We can assume that S is normal by replacing it by an open subscheme. Parts (1)-(3) follow from Theorem 4.5 and Proposition 4.14. We will see that (2) and (4) are equivalent, and (3) and (5) are equivalent. For (4), we need to interpret $i_{\text{FZ},m}: X^{m+1}_{/S} \to J^m_{/S}$ in terms of the morphism in (2). For this purpose, let us recall the X-morphism

 $i_{\Delta}: X_X \longrightarrow J_X, \quad (x_0, x_1) \longmapsto (x_0, x_1 - x_0).$

Under the identifications $(X_X)_{/X}^m = X_{/S}^{m+1}$ and $(J_X)_{/X}^m = X \times_S J_{/S}^m$, the morphism $i_{\Delta}^m : (X_X)_{/X}^m \to (J_X)_{/X}^m$ becomes

$$i_{\Delta}^m : X_{/S}^{m+1} \longrightarrow X \times_S J_{/S}^m, \quad (x_0, \cdots, x_m) \longmapsto (x_0, x_1 - x_0, \cdots, x_m - x_0).$$

In the notation, $X \times_S (J_{/S}^m)$ is viewed as an abelian scheme over X via projection to the first component. By forgetting the first component, we obtain the non-degeneracy of $i_{\text{FZ},m}$.

For (5), taking a generically finite base change $S' \to S$ if necessary, we can assume that $X \to S$ has a section. Then we have a universal line bundle Q on $J \times_S X$. Consider the morphism

$$i_{\omega-Q}: X_J \longrightarrow J_J, \quad x \longmapsto (2g-2)x - (\omega_{X_J/J} - Q).$$

The morphism $i_{\omega-Q}^m : (X_J)_{/J}^m \to (J_J)_{/J}^m$ is just

$$i^m_{\omega-Q}: J \times_S (X^m_{/S}) \longrightarrow J \times_S (J^m_{/S}),$$

 $(y, x_1, \cdots, x_m) \longmapsto (y, (2g-2)x_1 - \omega_{X/S} + y, \cdots, (2g-2)x_m - \omega_{X/S} + y).$

In the notation, $J \times_S (J^m_{/S})$ is viewed as an abelian scheme over J via projection to the first component. By forgetting the first component, we obtain a non-degenerate morphism

$$(i_{\omega-Q}^m)': J \times_S (X_{/S}^m) \longrightarrow J_{/S}^m,$$
$$(y, x_1, \cdots, x_m) \longmapsto ((2g-2)x_1 - \omega_{X/S} + y, \cdots, (2g-2)x_m - \omega_{X/S} + y).$$

Compose it further with the endomorphism

$$\iota: J_{/S}^m \to J_{/S}^m, \quad (y_1, \cdots, y_m) \longmapsto (y_1, y_2 - y_1, \cdots, y_m - y_1).$$

We obtain a non-degenerate morphism

$$(i_{\omega-Q}^m)'': J \times_S (X_{/S}^m) \longrightarrow J_{/S}^m,$$
$$(y, x_1, \cdots, x_m) \longmapsto ((2g-2)x_1 - \omega_{X/S} + y, (2g-2)(x_2 - x_1) \cdots, (2g-2)(x_m - x_1)).$$

Removing the factors 2g - 2 in the last m - 1 components, we end up with the morphism τ_m . This finishes the proof.

4.6.3 Generality on the relative Bogomolov conjecture

Let k be either \mathbb{Z} or a field. Let K be a global field over k. Namely, K is a number field if $k = \mathbb{Z}$; K is a function field of one variable over k if k is a field.

Let S be a quasi-projective normal variety over K. Let $\psi : A \to S$ be an abelian scheme over S of relative dimension g, with identity section $e: S \to A$. Let Y be a quasi-projective variety over K with a generically finite morphism $\iota : Y \to A$ over K. Assume that the composition $Y \to S$ is surjective, $Y_{\bar{\eta}}$ is irreducible and generates the algebraic group $A_{\bar{\eta}}$, where $\bar{\eta}$ is the geometric generic point of S. Recall that the relative Bogomolov conjecture of [DGH2, Conj.1.2] asserts that, if dim Y < g, then there is a constant $\epsilon > 0$ such that

$$Y(L,\epsilon) = \{ y \in Y(\overline{K}) : \widehat{h}_L(\iota(y)) \le \epsilon \}$$

is not Zariski dense in Y.

Here L is a symmetric and ψ -ample line bundle on A, rigidified by an isomorphism $e^*L \simeq \mathcal{O}_S$. The canonical height $\hat{h}_L : A(\overline{K}) \to \mathbb{R}$ is defined fiberwise over S, which is also the height function associated to the adelic line bundle \overline{L} in $\widehat{\operatorname{Pic}}(A/k)$ (instead of $\widehat{\operatorname{Pic}}(A/K)$) extending L and satisfying $[2]^*\overline{L} \simeq 4\overline{L}$ as constructed in [YZ2, Thm. 6.1.1].

The validity of the relative Bogomolov conjecture is independent of the choice of L. In fact, if L' is another such line bundle on A, then there is a positive integer n such that nL' - L and nL - L' are again such line bundles on A. Then $\hat{h}_{nL'-L} \geq 0$ and $\hat{h}_{nL-L'} \geq 0$, and thus $n^{-1}\hat{h}_L \leq \hat{h}_{L'} \leq n\hat{h}_L$.

By the height inequality in [YZ2, Thm. 5.3.5(1)], if $L|_Y$ is big on Y, then Y satisfies the relative Bogomolov conjecture. As an easy consequence of Lemma 4.1, we have the following result on the relative Bogomolov conjecture.

Proposition 4.16. Assume that $Y \to S$ is projective and flat with a geometrically integral generic fiber. If L|Y is big on the generic fiber of $Y \to S$, and $(\pi|_Y)_*\langle \overline{L}|_Y, \cdots, \overline{L}|_Y \rangle$ is big on S/k, then $\iota^m : Y^m_{/S} \to A^m_{/S}$ satisfies the relative Bogomolov conjecture for all $m \ge \dim S + 1$.

The proposition needs the bigness of adelic line bundles over k instead of over K. Projective models of S over k have dimension dim S + 1, which explains the bound of m in the proposition.

4.6.4 Three examples of the relative Bogomolov conjecture

The following theorem is analogous to Theorem 4.15.

Theorem 4.17. Let K be either a number field or a function field of one variable. Let S be a quasi-projective variety over K. Let $\pi : X \to S$ be a smooth relative curve over S of genus g > 1 with maximal variation. Let α be a line bundle on X of positive degree on fibers of $\pi : X \to S$. Then the following morphisms satisfy the relative Bogomolov conjecture:

- (1) the S-morphism $i_{\alpha}^m: X_{/S}^m \to J_{/S}^m$ for any $m \ge \dim S + 1$.
- (2) the X-morphism $i_{\Delta}^m : (X_X)_{/X}^m \to (J_X)_{/X}^m$ for any $m \ge \dim S + 2$.
- (3) the J-morphism $i_{\omega-Q}^m : (X_J)_{/J}^m \to (J_J)_{/J}^m$ for any $m \ge \dim S + g + 1$.
- (4) the S-morphism $i_{\mathrm{FZ},m}: X^{m+1}_{/S} \to J^m_{/S}$ for any $m \ge \dim S + 2$.
- (5) the S-morphism $\tau_m : (X^m_{/S}) \times_S J \to J^m_{/S}$ for any $m \ge \dim S + g + 1$.

Proof. The proof is very similar to Theorem 4.15. In fact, parts (1)-(3) follow from Theorem 4.5 and Proposition 4.16. We also have that (2) and (4) are equivalent, and (3) and (5) are equivalent. Similar to Proposition 4.16, we need the bigness of the adelic line bundles over k instead of over K, where $k = \mathbb{Z}$ if K is a number field and k is the field of constants if K is a function field of one variable. As a consequence, the bounds for m are increased by 1 from those in Theorem 4.15.

A Admissible metrized line bundles

The goal of this appendix is to review the theory of Zhang [Zha1] on admissible pairings on curves, and we will use the terminology of adelic line bundles and metrized line bundles introduced in [Zha2]. Note that the treatment of [Zha1] was written before [Zha2] and was based on graph theory, so we think it is necessary to survey a detailed transfer of the terminology. We will use Berkovich spaces of [Ber] for metrics on line bundles, and our approach of the main result (Theorem A.1) works for both the archimedean case and the non-archimedean case.

A.1 Arakelov metrics in the complex case

We first recall the complex case introduced in Arakelov's original work [Ara]. Let C be a compact Riemann surface of genus g > 0.

Define a natural hermitian pairing on $\Gamma(C, \omega_C)$ by

$$\langle \alpha, \beta \rangle = i \int_C \alpha \wedge \overline{\beta}.$$

Let $\alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_g$ be an orthonormal basis of this pairing. The Arakelov Kähler form on C is defined by

$$d\mu_{\rm Ar} = \frac{i}{g} \sum_{j=1}^g \alpha_j \wedge \overline{\alpha}_j.$$

The definition is independent of the choice of the orthonormal basis.

A smooth hermitian metric $\|\cdot\|$ on a line bundle L on C is called *admissible* if the Chern form

$$c_1(L, \|\cdot\|) = \deg(L) \, d\mu_{\operatorname{Ar}}.$$

A smooth Green's function $g_D : C \setminus |D| \to \mathbb{R}$ of a divisor D on C is called admissible if the hermitian metric on $\mathcal{O}(D)$ defined by $||1|| = \exp(-g_D)$ is admissible. The condition is equivalent to

$$\frac{i}{\pi}\partial\overline{\partial}g_D = d\mu_{\rm Ar} - \delta_D$$

as currents on C.

A smooth hermitian metric on a line bundle on $C^2 = C \times C$ is called *admissible* if for any point $x \in C$, the pull-back metrics of the metric to $C \times x$ and $x \times C$ are both admissible.

Any line bundle on C (resp. C^2) admits an admissible metric, which is unique up to multiplicative constants.

The Arakelov Green's function on C^2 is the unique symmetric and smooth Green's function

$$g_{\operatorname{Ar}}: C^2 \setminus \Delta \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$$

of the diagonal Δ in C^2 satisfying the following properties:

(1) For any point $x_0 \in C$, the Green's function $g_{Ar}(x_0, \cdot)$ of x_0 on C is admissible.

(2) For any point $x_0 \in C$, the total integral

$$\int_C g_{\rm Ar}(x_0,\cdot)d\mu_{\rm Ar} = 0$$

The Green's function gives a hermitian metric $\|\cdot\|_{\Delta,\operatorname{Ar}}$ of $\mathcal{O}(\Delta)$ on C^2 by $\|1\| = \exp(-g_{\operatorname{Ar}})$. It is actually admissible.

Finally, the Arakelov metric $\|\cdot\|_{Ar}$ of ω_C on C is the unique smooth metric such that the residue map

$$(\omega_C \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_C} \mathcal{O}(x_0))|_{x_0} \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}$$

is an isometry. Here \mathbb{C} is endowed with the usual absolute value, and $\mathcal{O}(x_0)$ is endowed with the metric given by $||1|| = \exp(-g_{\mathrm{Ar}}(x_0, x))$.

The choice of $d\mu_{Ar}$ implies that the metric $\|\cdot\|_{Ar}$ is admissible. This is the reason to choose $d\mu_{Ar}$, and determines $d\mu_{Ar}$ uniquely.

A.2 Zhang metrics in the non-archimedean case

Let K be a non-archimedean field, i.e. a complete field with a non-trivial non-archimedean valuation $|\cdot|$.

For any projective variety X over K, denote by X^{an} the Berkovich analytic space of X over K. We refer to [YZ1, App. 1] for the notion of continuous (resp. semipositive, integrable) *metrics* of line bundles of X over K.

Let C be a smooth projective curve of genus g > 0 over K. As a convention, all curves are assumed to be geometrically integral in this appendix.

We start with some terminology of metrics on C^2 . Denote by Δ the diagonal divisor of C^2 . A metric $\|\cdot\|_{\Delta}$ of $\mathcal{O}_{C^2}(\Delta)$ on $(C^2)^{\mathrm{an}}$ is called *symmetric* if the Green's function

$$g_{\Delta} = -\log \|1\|_{\Delta} : (C^2)^{\mathrm{an}} \setminus \Delta^{\mathrm{an}} \to \mathbb{R}$$

is symmetric in the sense that it is invariant under the action on $(C^2)^{an}$ induced by the transposition action on C^2 by switching the two components.

The Green's function induces a function

$$g_\Delta: C(\overline{K})^2 \setminus \Delta(\overline{K}) \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$$

by the natural maps

$$C(\overline{K})^2 \longrightarrow |C^2|_0 \longrightarrow (C^2)^{\mathrm{an}}.$$

Here $|C^2|_0$ denotes the set of closed points of C^2 . Then the symmetry can also be understood in the usual sense.

For any finite extension K' of K and any point $x \in C(K')$, denote

$$(\mathcal{O}(x), \|\cdot\|_x) := i_x^*(\mathcal{O}(\Delta), \|\cdot\|_\Delta)$$

as metrized line bundles on $C_{K'}$. Here we view x as a closed point of $X_{K'}$, $\mathcal{O}(x)$ is the line bundle on $X_{K'}$ corresponding to $x \in X_{K'}$, and

$$i_x = (x, \mathrm{id}) : \operatorname{Spec} K' \times C \longrightarrow C \times C$$

is the natural morphism. It follows that

$$g_x = -\log \|1\|_x : (C_{K'})^{\mathrm{an}} \setminus \{x\} \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$$

is equal to the pull-back of g_{Δ} via the map $i_x^{\mathrm{an}} : (C_{K'})^{\mathrm{an}} \to (C^2)^{\mathrm{an}}$. We may also write $g_x = g_{\Delta}(x, \cdot)$ by abuse of notations. Finally, we re-organize the construction of [Zha1] as the following statement.

Theorem A.1. Let K be a non-archimedean field, and C be a smooth projective curve of genus g > 0 over K. There is a unique pair $(\|\cdot\|_{\Delta,a}, \|\cdot\|_a)$, where

(a) $\|\cdot\|_a$ is an integrable metric of $\omega_{C/K}$ on C^{an} ,

(b) $\|\cdot\|_{\Delta,a}$ is a symmetric integrable metric of $\mathcal{O}_{C^2}(\Delta)$ on $(C^2)^{\mathrm{an}}$,

satisfying the following properties for all finite extensions K'/K and all points $x, y \in C(K')$:

(1) the equalities

$$c_1(\mathcal{O}(x), \|\cdot\|_x) = c_1(\mathcal{O}(y), \|\cdot\|_y)$$

and

$$(2g-2)c_1(\mathcal{O}(x), \|\cdot\|_x) = c_1(\omega_{C_{K'}/K'}, \|\cdot\|_a),$$

hold as Chambert-Loir measures on $(C_{K'})^{an}$;

(2) the integral

$$\int_{(C_{K'})^{\mathrm{an}}} g_{\Delta,a}(x,\cdot) \, c_1(\mathcal{O}(x), \|\cdot\|_x) = 0.$$

(3) the residue map

$$(\omega_{C/K} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_C} \mathcal{O}(x))|_x \longrightarrow K'$$

is an isometry, where K' is endowed with the absolute value extending that of K.

Here the Chambert-Loir measure $c_1(\omega_{C_{K'}/K'}, \|\cdot\|_a)$ uses the base change of the metric $\|\cdot\|_a$ from to $\omega_{C/K}$ to $\omega_{C_{K'}/K'}$. Note that if g > 1, the first two properties are equivalent to the following:

(1) the equality

$$(2g-2)c_1(\mathcal{O}(x), \|\cdot\|_x) = c_1(\omega_{C_{K'}/K'}, \|\cdot\|_a)$$

holds as Chambert-Loir measures on $(C_{K'})^{\mathrm{an}}$;

(2) the integral

$$\int_{(C_{K'})^{\mathrm{an}}} g_{\Delta,a}(x,\cdot) c_1(\omega_{C_{K'}/K'}, \|\cdot\|_a) = 0.$$

We call $\|\cdot\|_a$ the *Zhang metric* of $\omega_{C/K}$ on C^{an} , and call $\|\cdot\|_{\Delta,a}$ the *Zhang metric* of $\mathcal{O}(\Delta)$ on $(C^2)^{\mathrm{an}}$. We also call them the *canonical admissible metrics*.

Note that the statement of the theorem also works for archimedean K, which concerns the Arakelov metrics recalled in the previous subsection. Moreover, our proof of the theorem in the following works in both the archimedean case and the non-archimedean case. For simplicity, we will still assume that K is non-archimedean in the following.

We provide two approaches of the uniqueness in the theorem. For the first approach, by base change, we can assume $C(K) \neq \emptyset$ and take a point $x_0 \in X(K)$. Assume that there is another pair $(\|\cdot\|'_{\Delta,a}, \|\cdot\|'_a)$ of metrics satisfying the properties, and denote $\|\cdot\|'_x$ similarly. Write $\|\cdot\|'_{x_0} = \|\cdot\|_{x_0}e^{\varphi}$ for a continuous function $\varphi: C^{\mathrm{an}} \to \mathbb{R}$. By property (1),

$$c_1(\mathcal{O}_C, \|\cdot\|_a'/\|\cdot\|_a) = (2g-2)c_1(\mathcal{O}_C, \|\cdot\|_{x_0}'/\|\cdot\|_{x_0}) = c_1(\mathcal{O}_C, e^{(2g-2)\varphi})$$

and

$$c_1(\mathcal{O}_{C_{K'}}, \|\cdot\|'_x/\|\cdot\|_x) = c_1(\mathcal{O}_{C_{K'}}, \|\cdot\|'_{x_0}/\|\cdot\|_{x_0}) = c_1(\mathcal{O}_{C_{K'}}, e^{\varphi}).$$

By the non-archimedean Calabi theorem in [YZ1, Cor. 2.2],

$$\|\cdot\|'_a/\|\cdot\|_a = e^{(2g-2)\varphi+c}$$

over C^{an} for some constant $c \in \mathbb{R}$, and

$$\|\cdot\|'_x/\|\cdot\|_x = e^{\psi(x)}e^{\varphi}$$

over $C_{K'}^{\mathrm{an}}$ for some function $\psi: C(\overline{K}) \to \mathbb{R}$. This gives

$$g_{\Delta}(x,y) - g'_{\Delta}(x,y) = \psi(x) + \varphi(y), \quad x, y \in C(\overline{K}).$$

Since g'_{Δ} and g_{Δ} are symmetric, we have $\psi = \varphi + c'$ for a constant $c' \in \mathbb{R}$. By property (3),

$$\frac{\|\cdot\|'_a(x)}{\|\cdot\|_a(x)} \cdot \frac{\|\cdot\|'_x(x)}{\|\cdot\|_x(x)} = 1, \qquad \frac{\|\cdot\|'_a(x)}{\|\cdot\|_a(x)} \cdot e^{\psi(x)} e^{\varphi(x)} = 1,$$

and thus

$$\|\cdot\|'_{a} = \|\cdot\|_{a}e^{-2\varphi-c'}.$$

Compare with $\|\cdot\|'_a/\|\cdot\|_a = e^{(2g-2)\varphi+c}$ (for g > 0). We see that φ is a constant on C^{an} . It follows that $\|\cdot\|'_x/\|\cdot\|_x$ is a constant. Then

$$c_1(\mathcal{O}(x), \|\cdot\|'_x) = c_1(\mathcal{O}(x), \|\cdot\|_x).$$

Property (2) implies $\|\cdot\|'_x = \|\cdot\|_x$, and property (3) implies $\|\cdot\|'_a = \|\cdot\|_a$. This proves the uniqueness.

Our second proof of the uniqueness in the theorem follows from [Zha1, Thm. 4.6]. This also gives the connection to the construction in the loc. cit. In fact, for any $D, E \in \text{Div}(C_{\overline{K}})$ with disjoint supports, define

$$(D, E)_a = g_{\Delta,a}(D, E),$$

by bi-linearity. We can check that this pairing satisfies all properties of [Zha1, Thm. 4.6], and thus the pairing $g_{\Delta,a} : C(\overline{K})^2 \setminus \Delta(\overline{K}) \to \mathbb{R}$ is unique up to additive constants. By continuity, the function $g_{\Delta,a} : (C^2)^{\mathrm{an}} \setminus \Delta^{\mathrm{an}} \to \mathbb{R}$ is unique to additive constants. This determines $c_1(\omega_{C/K}, \|\cdot\|_a)$ uniquely by property (1). Then g_x is uniquely determined by property (2), and $\|\cdot\|_a$ is uniquely determined by property (3). Note that [Zha1, Thm. 4.6] assumes that K has a discrete valuation, but it also holds for non-discrete valuations.

There are also two approaches of the existence in the literature. The first one is in terms of reduction graphs, which is worked out in details by Zhang [Zha1]. The second one is in terms of admissible metrics of line bundles on the Jacobian variety, which is outlined in [Zha1], and worked out partially by Heinz [Hei]. The first approach has the advantage of being explicit, while the second approach has the advantage of being functorial and includes all (non-classical) points of the Berkovich spaces. We will prove the theorem by the second approach, and then relate it to the first approach.

A.3 Admissible metrics

Let K be a non-archimedean field. As in [Hei, §3], we introduce admissible metrics of line bundles on curves (resp. square of curves) by means of Jacobian varieties.

Let A be an abelian variety over K, and M be a line bundle on A. Let $\|\cdot\|$ be a continuous metric of M on A^{an} , and denote $\overline{M} = (M, \|\cdot\|)$. Define admissibility in the following three cases:

- (1) If M is even in the sense that $[-1]^*M \simeq M$, there is an isomorphism $[2]^*M \otimes M^{\otimes (-4)} \simeq \mathcal{O}_A$. The metric $\|\cdot\|$ is called *admissible* if there is a constant metric on \mathcal{O}_A such that the isomorphism is an isometry.
- (2) If M is odd in the sense that $[-1]^*M \simeq M^{\otimes (-1)}$, there is an isomorphism $[2]^*M \otimes M^{\otimes (-2)} \simeq \mathcal{O}_A$. The metric $\|\cdot\|$ is called *admissible* if there is a constant metric on \mathcal{O}_A such that the isomorphism is an isometry.
- (3) In general, the metric $\|\cdot\|$ of M is called *admissible* if the induced metrics on the even line bundle $M \otimes [-1]^* M$ and the odd line bundle $M \otimes [-1]^* M^{\otimes (-1)}$ are both admissible.

By Tate's limiting argument in [Zha2], any line bundle on A has an admissible metric, which is unique up to multiplicative constants. Note that all these arguments were originally written for metrics on $A(\overline{K})$ instead of on A^{an} , but they can be modified to A^{an} without essential difficulty. Moreover, admissible metrics are integrable for general L and semipositive for ample L.

Let C be a smooth projective curve of genus g > 0 over K. Let $\alpha \in \operatorname{Pic}^{1}(C)$ be a line bundle of degree 1 on C. If α does not exist, we will

need to pass to a finite extension of K, and we will come back to this issue later. Denote by $J = \operatorname{Pic}_{C/K}^{0}$ the Jacobian variety of C over K. Denote the canonical embedding

$$i_{\alpha}: C \longrightarrow J, \quad x \longmapsto (x) - \alpha.$$

The theta divisor $\theta_{\alpha} \subset J$ is the image of the morphism

$$C^{g-1} \longrightarrow J, \quad (x_1, \cdots, x_{g-1}) \longmapsto i_{\alpha}(x_1) + \cdots + i_{\alpha}(x_{g-1}).$$

Let L be a line bundle on C. Following [Hei, §4], a continuous metric $\|\cdot\|$ of L on C^{an} is called *admissible* if there exist a line bundle M on J, and an admissible metric $\|\cdot\|_M$ of M on J^{an} , such that M is algebraically equivalent to an integer multiple of θ_{α} on J, and such that $(L, \|\cdot\|)^{\otimes m}$ is isometric to $i_{\alpha}^*(M, \|\cdot\|_M)$ for some positive integer m.

This definition looks very random, but any line bundle L on C has an admissible metric, which is unique up to multiplicative constants. Moreover, the definition is independent of the choice of α and stable under base change.

In the case $\operatorname{Pic}^{1}(C) = \emptyset$, we say that a metric $\|\cdot\|$ of L on C^{an} is *admissible* if the induced metric of $L_{K'}$ on $(C_{K'})^{\operatorname{an}}$ is admissible for some finite extension K'/K over K with $\operatorname{Pic}^{1}(C_{K'}) \neq \emptyset$. Then in this general case, any line bundle L on C still has an admissible metric, unique up to multiplicative constants.

We have the following interpretation in terms of Monge–Ampère equations, where an explicit form of $d\mu_a$ will be given in Proposition A.5.

Proposition A.2. There exists a unique probability measure $d\mu_a$ on C^{an} such that for any metrized line bundle $(L, \|\cdot\|)$ on C, the metric $\|\cdot\|$ is admissible if and only if it is integrable and satisfies

$$c_1(L, \|\cdot\|) = \deg(L) d\mu_a$$

for the Chambert-Loir measure on C^{an} .

Proof. It is easy to reduce the problem to the case $\operatorname{Pic}^1(C) \neq \emptyset$. Then we take $\alpha \in \operatorname{Pic}^1(C)$.

Denote $(L, \|\cdot\|) = i_{\alpha}^*(\mathcal{O}(\theta_{\alpha}), \|\cdot\|_{\alpha})$, where $\|\cdot\|_{\alpha}$ is an admissible metric of $\mathcal{O}(\theta_{\alpha})$ on J^{an} . Define the measure $d\mu_a$ by the equation

$$c_1(L, \|\cdot\|) = \deg(L) \, d\mu_a.$$

To prove the equation for any admissible $(L, \|\cdot\|)$, it suffices to prove that if M is a line bundle on J algebraically equivalent to 0, then the measure $c_1(i^*_{\alpha}(M, \|\cdot\|_M)) = 0$ for any admissible metric $\|\cdot\|_M$ of M on J^{an} . This is exactly [YZ1, Thm. 5.16], which is essentially a result of Gubler.

It remains to prove that any metric satisfying the equation is admissible. Note that admissible metrics already satisfy the equation, so it suffices to prove that the equation determines the metric up to a constant multiple. This follows from the non-archimedean Calabi theorem in [YZ1, Cor. 2.2]. We only need the theorem for curves, in which case the ampleness assumption can be removed by additivity.

Let L be a line bundle on C^2 . A continuous metric of L on $(C^2)^{\text{an}}$ is called *admissible* if its pull-back metrics to $(C_{K'})^{\text{an}}$ via all morphisms (x, id): $C_{K'} \to C \times C$ and $(\text{id}, x) : C_{K'} \to C \times C$, for all points $x \in C(K')$ over all finite extensions K'/K, are admissible. This definition follows from [Hei, Def. 4.2], except that the loc. cit. used the term "bi-admissible" instead of "admissible".

Any line bundle on C^2 admits an admissible metric, unique up to multiplicative constants. The uniqueness is an easy consequence of the definition. For the existence, it suffices to assume that C(K) contains an element x_0 by extending K if necessary. Note that admissible metrics of line bundles in $p_1^*\operatorname{Pic}(C)$ and $p_2^*\operatorname{Pic}(C)$ can be obtained as pull-back of admissible metrics. One is reduced to treat the subgroup $\operatorname{Pic}^-(C^2)$ of $\operatorname{Pic}(C^2)$ consisting of line bundles on C^2 whose restrictions to $C \times \{x_0\}$ and $\{x_0\} \times C$ are both trivial. Denote by $\operatorname{Pic}^-(J^2)$ the subgroup of $\operatorname{Pic}(J^2)$ consisting of line bundles on J^2 whose restrictions to $J \times \{0\}$ and $\{0\} \times J$ are both trivial. It turns out that the canonical map $\operatorname{Pic}^-(J^2) \to \operatorname{Pic}^-(C^2)$ is an isomorphism, and thus elements of $\operatorname{Pic}^-(C^2)$ have admissible metrics by pull-back of admissible metrics from J^2 . See [Zha3, Lem. 2.2.1, Lem. 2.2.2, Lem. 2.2.3] for all details in this construction.

By our construction below, we will see that in Theorem A.1, the metrics $\|\cdot\|_a$ and $\|\cdot\|_{\Delta,a}$ are both admissible.

A.4 Construction of the Zhang metrics

The goal is to construct the Zhang metrics in Theorem A.1 in terms of Jacobian varieties.

For the existence in the theorem, we remark that for any finite Galois extension K'/K, if a pair $(\|\cdot\|_{\Delta,a}, \|\cdot\|_a)$ exists over K', then it is Galois invariant by the uniqueness, and thus descends to K. Therefore, by replacing K by a finite Galois extension, we can assume that C has some convenient properties. For example, we can assume that $C(K) \neq \emptyset$.

We will need the following lemma here, and it will also be used in the main part of this article. For clarity, we will state all the notations and conditions of this lemma separately.

Lemma A.3. Let K be any field, and C be a smooth projective curve of genus g > 0 over K. Denote by J the Jacobian variety of C over K. Let α be a divisor on C of degree 1. Let i_{α} be the canonical embedding

$$i_{\alpha}: C \longrightarrow J, \quad x \longmapsto (x) - \alpha.$$

Let $\theta_{\alpha} \subset J$ be the theta divisor, i.e., the image of the morphism

$$C^{g-1} \longrightarrow J, \quad (x_1, \cdots, x_{g-1}) \longmapsto i_{\alpha}(x_1) + \cdots + i_{\alpha}(x_{g-1})$$

Denote by P the Poincaré line bundle on $J \times J$. Then the following are true:

(1) There are isomorphisms

$$i_{\alpha}^* \mathcal{O}([-1]^* \theta_{\alpha}) \longrightarrow g\alpha,$$

 $i_{\alpha}^* \mathcal{O}(\theta_{\alpha}) \longrightarrow \omega_{C/K} + (2-g)\alpha.$

(2) Denote by $(i_{\alpha}, i_{\alpha}) : C \times C \to J \times J$ the natural morphism. Then there is an isomorphism

$$(i_{\alpha}, i_{\alpha})^* P \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}(\Delta) - p_1^* \alpha - p_2^* \alpha.$$

(3) Denote by $\Delta_J : J \to J \times J$ the diagonal morphism. Then there is an isomorphism

$$\Delta_J^* P \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}(-(\theta_\alpha + [-1]^* \theta_\alpha)).$$

Proof. The first isomorphism of (1) is a special case of the first equation in [Ser, p. 75], and the second isomorphism is derived from the first one by [Ser, p. 74, eq. (1)]. Note that our $(\theta_{\alpha}, [-1]^*\theta_{\alpha})$ is (Θ, Θ') in [Ser]. The isomorphism in (2) is [Ser, p. 76, eq. (4)], which assumes $(2g-2)\alpha = \omega_{C/K}$,

but the proof works without this assumption by some extra computation using the first equation in [Ser, p. 75]. The result can also be checked using the universal property of P. For (3), by [Ser, p. 76, eq. (3)], there is an isomorphism

$$P \simeq m^* \mathcal{O}(-\theta_\alpha) \otimes p_1^* \mathcal{O}(\theta_\alpha) \otimes p_2^* \mathcal{O}(\theta_\alpha).$$

It follows that

$$\Delta_J^* P \simeq [2]^* \mathcal{O}(-\theta_\alpha) \otimes \mathcal{O}(2\theta_\alpha)$$

The result follows from the basic formula

$$[2]^*\mathcal{O}(\theta_{\alpha}) \simeq \mathcal{O}(3\theta_{\alpha} + [-1]^*\theta_{\alpha}).$$

See the corollary in [Ser, p.33].

Part (1) of the lemma gives a concrete way to construct admissible metrics of α and $\omega_{C/K}$ on C^{an} . Part (2) gives a concrete way to construct admissible metrics of $\mathcal{O}(\Delta)$ on $(C^2)^{\text{an}}$.

Now we are ready to prove the existence in Theorem A.1. We will prove that there is a unique admissible metric $\|\cdot\|_a$ of $\omega_{C/K}$ and a unique admissible metric $\|\cdot\|_{\Delta,a}$ of $\mathcal{O}(\Delta)$ satisfying the requirements. For that purpose, fix an admissible metric $\|\cdot\|'_a$ of $\omega_{C/K}$ and an admissible metric $\|\cdot\|'_\Delta$ of $\mathcal{O}(\Delta)$. We will find scalar multiples of these two metrics to satisfy the conditions. By Lemma A.2, part (1) of the theorem holds for $(\|\cdot\|'_\Delta, \|\cdot\|'_a)$. It suffices to prove that (2) holds for $(\|\cdot\|'_\Delta, \|\cdot\|'_a)$ up to an additive constant independent of x, and that (3) holds for $(\|\cdot\|'_\Delta, \|\cdot\|'_a)$ up to a multiplicative constant independent of x. Then we can easily modify $\|\cdot\|'_\Delta$ to satisfy (2) and modify $\|\cdot\|'_a$ to satisfy (3).

We first prove that (3) holds for $(\|\cdot\|'_{\Delta}, \|\cdot\|'_{a})$ up to a constant. By definition, there is a canonical isomorphism

$$\omega_{C/K} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_C} (\mathcal{O}(\Delta)|_{\Delta}) \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_C.$$

We claim that the isomorphism is an isometry up to constants under the metrics $(\|\cdot\|'_{\Delta}, \|\cdot\|'_{a})$ and the trivial metric of \mathcal{O}_{C} . By uniqueness of admissible metrics, it suffices to prove that $(\mathcal{O}(\Delta)|_{\Delta}, \|\cdot\|'_{\Delta})$ is admissible on C. This is [Hei, Prop. 4.3]. It is also easy to prove it in our setting. In fact, construct an admissible metric on $\mathcal{O}(\Delta)$ by Lemma A.3(2). Note that the composition

$$C \xrightarrow{\Delta} C^2 \xrightarrow{(i_\alpha, i_\alpha)} J^2$$

is equal to the composition

$$C \xrightarrow{i_{\alpha}} J \xrightarrow{\Delta_J} J^2$$
,

where $\Delta_J : J \to J^2$ is the diagonal morphism. Thus it suffices to check that $\Delta_J^* P$ is algebraically equivalent to a multiple of θ_{α} , but this follows from Lemma A.3(3).

Therefore, the isomorphism

$$\omega_{C/K} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_C} (\mathcal{O}(\Delta)|_{\Delta}) \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_C$$

is an isometry up to a constant multiple. Take the pull-back of this isometry via $x : \operatorname{Spec} K' \to C$, we get an isomorphism

$$x^*\omega_{C/K}\otimes_{K'} x^*(\mathcal{O}(\Delta)|_{\Delta}) \longrightarrow K',$$

which is an isometry up to a constant independent of x. Note that the composition

Spec
$$K' \xrightarrow{x} C \xrightarrow{\Delta} C^2$$

is equal to the composition

Spec
$$K' \xrightarrow{x} C_{K'} \xrightarrow{(x, \mathrm{id})} C^2$$
,

which induces canonical isomorphisms

$$x^*(\mathcal{O}(\Delta)|_{\Delta}) \longrightarrow x^*\mathcal{O}((x, \mathrm{id})^*\Delta) \longrightarrow x^*\mathcal{O}(x)$$

Under this composition, the above isomorphism becomes exactly the residue map. This proves that (3) holds for $(\|\cdot\|'_{\Delta}, \|\cdot\|'_{a})$ up to a constant.

It remains to prove that (2) holds for $(\|\cdot\|'_{\Delta}, \|\cdot\|'_{a})$ up to constants. Let *L* be a line bundle on *C* endowed with an admissible metric. There are canonical isomorphisms

$$p_{1*}\langle \mathcal{O}(\Delta), p_2^*L \rangle \longrightarrow \Delta^* p_2^*L \longrightarrow L,$$

where the left-hand side is the Deligne pairing with respect to the morphism $p_1: C^2 \to C$. The metrics of $\mathcal{O}(\Delta)$ and p_2^*L induce a canonical continuous metric of the Deligne pairing. In the complex case, this process is explicitly treated in [Del, Elk] and [YZ2, §4.2]. The non-archimedean case is written in [YZ2, §4.6.2].

With the natural metric of the Deligne pairing, we claim that the isomorphism

$$p_{1*}\langle \mathcal{O}(\Delta), p_2^*L \rangle \longrightarrow L$$

is an isometry up to a constant. If this holds, taking the base change of $p_1 : C^2 \to C$ by the morphism $x : \operatorname{Spec} K' \to C$, we have the structure morphism $\pi' : C_{K'} \to \operatorname{Spec} K'$. The Deligne pairing under this base change gives an isomorphism

$$\pi'_* \langle \mathcal{O}(x), L_{K'} \rangle \longrightarrow L(x)_*$$

which is an isometry up to a constant. By definition of the metrics, the logarithm of the norm of this isomorphism is actually

$$-\int_{(C_{K'})^{\mathrm{an}}}g'_{x}c_{1}(L,\|\cdot\|_{L}).$$

The constancy of this integral with $L = \omega_{X/K}$ is exactly what we need for (2) of Theorem A.1.

It remains to prove the claim that the isomorphism

$$p_{1*}\langle \mathcal{O}(\Delta), p_2^*L \rangle \longrightarrow L$$

is an isometry on C up to a constant. By the uniqueness of admissible metrics, it suffices to prove that the metric of the left-hand side is admissible.

As a consequence of [YZ2, Thm. 4.6.2], the Deligne pairings and the metrics are compatible with base change. To apply this compatibility, denote by $q_1: J \times C \to J$ and $q_2: J \times C \to C$ the projections. View $p_1: C^2 \to C$ as the base change of $q_1: J \times C \to J$ by $i_{\alpha}: C \to J$. Denote by $Q = (\mathrm{id}, i_{\alpha})^* P$ the pullback of the Poincaré bundle P via $(\mathrm{id}, i_{\alpha}): J \times C \to J \times J$. By Lemma A.3(2), there are isomorphisms

$$(i_{\alpha}, \mathrm{id})^* Q \longrightarrow (i_{\alpha}, i_{\alpha})^* P \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}(\Delta) - p_1^* \alpha - p_2^* \alpha.$$

Then the compatibility with base change gives an isometry (up to a constant)

$$p_{1*}\langle \mathcal{O}(\Delta) - p_1^*\alpha - p_2^*\alpha, \ p_2^*L \rangle \longrightarrow i_\alpha^* (q_{1*}\langle Q, q_2^*L \rangle),$$

where α is endowed with an admissible metric, and $Q = (\mathrm{id}, i_{\alpha})^* P$ is endowed with the pull-back of an admissible metric of P.

On the other hand, by a local version of [YZ2, Lem. 4.6.1(2)], $p_{1*}\langle p_1^*\alpha, p_2^*L\rangle$ is isometric to $\alpha^{\otimes \deg(L)}$, and thus admissible. Moreover, $p_{1*}\langle p_2^*\alpha, p_2^*L\rangle$ is isometric to \mathcal{O}_C with a constant metric. To see this, by additivity and base change, we can assume that $\alpha = \mathcal{O}(x_0)$ for a point $x_0 \in C(K)$. Then we can apply the integration formula in [YZ2, §4.6.2] to get the result.

Therefore, it suffices to prove that $M = q_{1*}\langle Q, q_2^*L \rangle$ is algebraically equivalent to 0, and its metric is admissible on J. Consider the base change of $q_1: J \times C \to J$ by [2]: $J \to J$. This gives an isometry of Deligne pairings

$$[2]^*q_{1*}\langle Q, q_2^*L\rangle \longrightarrow q_{1*}\langle [2]_C^*Q, [2]_C^*q_2^*L\rangle.$$

Here $[2]_C : J \times C \to J \times C$ is the base change of $[2] : J \to J$. Note that there is a natural isometry $[2]_C^* q_2^* L \simeq q_2^* L$. We also have an isometry (up to constant) $[2]_C^* Q \simeq Q^{\otimes 2}$, which can be obtained by the argument right before [YZ2, Lem. 6.5.3]. It follows that there is an isometry (up to constant) $[2]^* M \simeq M^{\otimes 2}$ on J. This proves that M is algebraically equivalent to 0, and its metric is admissible on J.

Therefore, part (2) of Theorem A.1 also holds up to multiplicative constants. Then the proof of the theorem is complete.

A.5 Zhang's construction by graph theory

Now we review the construction of [Zha1] to give explicit descriptions of the metrics in Theorem A.1.

Let K be a non-archimedean field with a discrete valuation. Denote $e_K = |\varpi|^{-1}$, where ϖ is a generator of the maximal ideal of the valuation ring O_K .

Let C be a smooth projective curve of genus g > 0 over K. As before, we can replace K by a finite Galois extension in the definitions. Then we assume that $C(K) \neq \emptyset$, and C has *split semistable reduction* over O_K , i.e., the minimal regular model C of C over O_K has a semistable special fiber C_s over the residue field κ of O_K , every node x of C_s is defined over κ , and the two tangent lines of C_s at every node x are also defined over κ .

Denote by $\|\cdot\|_{\mathrm{Ar}}$ the metric of $\omega_{C/K}$ on C^{an} induced by the integral model $(\mathcal{C}, \omega_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{O}_K})$. In the following, we will modify $\|\cdot\|_{\mathrm{Ar}}$ to get $\|\cdot\|_a$.

Denote by $\Gamma = \Gamma(C)$ the reduction graph of C, which is the dual graph of \mathcal{C}_s . Then every irreducible component D of \mathcal{C}_s is represented by a vertex v(D) of $\Gamma(C)$; every node N of \mathcal{C}_s is represented by an edge e(N) of length 1 in $\Gamma(C)$ connecting the vertices $v(D_1), v(D_2)$, where D_1, D_2 are the (possible equal) irreducible components of C_s containing N. This is a metrized graph. We refer to [BF] and [Bak, §4.1] for some basics of metrized graphs.

The canonical divisor K_C of Γ is the formal linear combination

$$K_C = \sum_{\xi \in V(\Gamma)} \deg(\omega_{\mathcal{C}/O_K}|_{F_{\xi}}) \,\xi_{\xi}$$

where $V(\Gamma)$ denotes the vertex set of Γ , and F_{ξ} denotes the irreducible component of C_s corresponding to ξ . It is easy to see that $\deg(K_C) = 2g - 2$.

Following [Zha1, Def. a.3], denote by $F(\Gamma)$ the space of continuous and piecewise smooth functions $f: \Gamma \to \mathbb{R}$ such that all the one-sided directional derivatives $d_{\vec{v}}f(P)$ of f exist. The Laplacian operator Δ sends each $f \in F(\Gamma)$ to a signed measure on Γ given by

$$\Delta f = -f''(x)dx - \sum_{P \in \Gamma} \sum_{\vec{v} \in T_P(\Gamma)} d_{\vec{v}} f(P) \,\delta_P.$$

Here x represents a canonical coordinate on each edge of Γ , which is uniquely defined up to a sign, and $T_P(\Gamma)$ denotes the (finite) set of tangent directions of Γ at P. The summation for $P \in \Gamma$ on the right-hand side has only finitely many nonzero terms. See also [BF, Def. 5] and [Bak, Prop. 4.2.6].

By [Zha1, Thm. 3.2, Lem. 3.7], there is a unique positive measure $\mu = \mu_{K_C}$ on Γ of total volume 1, which is a finite linear combination of the uniform measures on the edges of Γ and the Dirac measures supported on the vertices of Γ , such that the function $g_{\mu} : \Gamma^2 \to \mathbb{R}$ uniquely defined by

$$g_{\mu}(x,\cdot) \in F(\Gamma), \quad \forall x \in \Gamma,$$

 $\Delta g_{\mu}(x,\cdot) = \delta_x - \mu,$
 $\int_{\Gamma} g_{\mu}(x,\cdot)\mu_{K_C} = 0,$

satisfies the condition that

$$c + g_{\mu}(K_C, x) + g_{\mu}(x, x) = 0$$

for a constant c independent of $x \in \Gamma$. The function is $g_{\mu} : \Gamma^2 \to \mathbb{R}$ is actually continuous and symmetric.

By $[Ber, \S4.3]$, there is a canonical injection

$$i: \Gamma(C) \longrightarrow C^{\operatorname{ar}}$$

and a canonical retraction map

$$r: C^{\mathrm{an}} \longrightarrow \Gamma(C).$$

By composition, it induces a retraction map

$$r: C(\overline{K}) \longrightarrow \Gamma(C).$$

In terms of this map, we can view $g_{\mu}(K_C, x)$ and $g_{\mu}(x, x)$ as functions of $x \in C^{\mathrm{an}}$.

Finally, we have explicit formulas for the metrics $\|\cdot\|_a$ and $\|\cdot\|_{\Delta,a}$ in Theorem A.1. Following [Zha1, (4.1)], we have

$$\|\cdot\|_{a}(x) = \|\cdot\|_{\operatorname{Ar}}(x) \cdot e_{K}^{-c-g_{\mu}(K_{C},r(x))} = \|\cdot\|_{\operatorname{Ar}}(x) \cdot e_{K}^{g_{\mu}(r(x),r(x))}, \quad x \in C^{\operatorname{an}}$$

and

$$g_{\Delta,a}(x,y) = i(x,y)\log e_K + g_\mu(r(x),r(y))\log e_K, \quad x,y \in C(\overline{K}), \ x \neq y.$$

Here for $x, y \in C(\overline{K})$, if K' is a finite extension of K such that $x, y \in C(K')$, then i(x, y) is the intersection number of the corresponding sections in the minimal regular model of C over $O_{K'}$, divided by the normalizing factor [K':K].

Note that the above expression for $\|\cdot\|_a$ is already defined over C^{an} , but the expression for $g_{\Delta,a}$ is defined over the \overline{K} -points, which determines its value over $(C^2)^{\mathrm{an}}$ by continuity.

To verify the above expressions, we first reduce to the case that $e_K = |\varpi|^{-1}$ is equal to e (the base of the natural logarithm). In fact, if we replace the absolute value $|\cdot|$ of K by $|\cdot|^a$ for some a > 0, then the canonical admissible metrics are changed to their powers of exponent a by the uniqueness of the metrics.

For the standard case $e_K = e$, it suffices to apply the last statement of [Zha1, Thm. 4.6], which has also been used to prove the uniqueness part of Theorem A.1. In translating the measure between the graph and the Berkovich space, it is helpful to have the following result, which is compatible with [Zha1, Thm. 2.3]. **Proposition A.4.** For any $f \in F(\Gamma)$, denote by $\mathcal{O}_C(f)$ the trivial line bundle \mathcal{O}_C endowed with the metric on C^{an} given by $||1|| = e_K^{-r^*f}$. Then

$$c_1(\mathcal{O}_C(f)) = -i_*(\Delta f)$$

as measures on C^{an} .

Proof. We only sketch the idea here. The base case is when $\mathcal{O}(f)$ is induced by an integral model $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{C}}(V)$ of \mathcal{O}_{C} for an irreducible component V of the special fiber of the minimal regular model \mathcal{C} . In this case, both the Chambert-Loir measure and Laplacian operator are easy to compute. By linear combination, this gives the case that f is linear on edges of Γ . Note that the edges of Γ have rational lengths, and the division points of the edges are called rational points of Γ . By taking finite extensions of K, we can realize all rational points of Γ as irreducible components of the special fibers of the minimal regular models. Then the equality holds for all piecewise linear function f on Γ whose critical points are rational points. Such functions are uniformly dense in $F(\Gamma)$. Then the result is extended by approximation. \Box

Finally, the measure $d\mu_a$ on C^{an} defined in Proposition A.2 has the following explicit expression.

Proposition A.5. The measure

$$d\mu_a = \frac{1}{g} i_* \left(\sum_{v \in V(\Gamma(C))} g_v \delta_v + \sum_{e \in E(\Gamma(C))} \frac{1}{r_e + 1} \delta_e \right),$$

where

- V(Γ(C)) is the vertex set of Γ(C) (corresponding to irreducible components of the special fiber C_s);
- g_v is the genus of the normalization of the irreducible component of C_s corresponding to v;
- δ_v is the Dirac measure supported at v;
- E(Γ(C)) is the edge set of Γ(C) (corresponding to nodes of the special fiber C_s);

- r_e is the resistance of the endpoints p, q of e in $\Gamma(C) \setminus e^0$ with $e^0 = e \setminus \{p, q\};$
- δ_e is the Lebesgue measure on the edge e of total integral 1.

Proof. It suffices to compute

$$c_1(\omega_{C/K}, \|\cdot\|_a) = c_1(\omega_{C/K}, \|\cdot\|_{\operatorname{Ar}}) + c_1(\mathcal{O}(c + g_\mu(K_C, \cdot))).$$

By the definition of the Chambert-Loir measure in [CL],

$$c_1(\omega_{C/K}, \|\cdot\|_{\operatorname{Ar}}) = i_*\delta_{K_C}.$$

By Lemma A.4,

$$c_1(\mathcal{O}(c+g_{\mu}(K_C,\cdot))) = -i_*\Delta g_{\mu}(K_C,\cdot) = i_*((2g-2)\mu - \delta_{K_C}).$$

It follows that

$$c_1(\omega_{C/K}, \|\cdot\|_a) = i_*((2g-2)\mu).$$

Apply the explicit formula for $\mu = \mu_{K_C}$ and $D = K_C$ in [Zha1, Lem. 3.7]. \Box

Remark A.6. The result is compatible with the abstract result in [Gub, Thm. 1.1].

A.6 General valuation fields

Let C be a smooth projective curve of genus g > 0 over a complete valuation field K (instead of a non-archimedean field). In this generality, we will still have a canonical admissible metric $\|\cdot\|_a$ of $\omega_{C/K}$ on C^{an} , and a canonical admissible metric $\|\cdot\|_{\Delta,a}$ of $\mathcal{O}(\Delta)$ on $(C^2)^{\mathrm{an}}$ satisfying Theorem A.1 in suitable senses.

In fact, if K is a non-archimedean field, then $\|\cdot\|_a$ and $\|\cdot\|_{\Delta,a}$ are the Zhang metrics introduced in Theorem A.1.

If K is an archimedean field, then $\|\cdot\|_a = \|\cdot\|_{Ar}$ and $\|\cdot\|_{\Delta,a} = \|\cdot\|_{\Delta,Ar}$ are the Arakelov metrics in §A.1. Note that if K is real, there should be a minor process to descend $\|\cdot\|_{Ar}$ from $C(\overline{K})$ to

$$C^{\operatorname{an}} = C(\overline{K})/\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{K}/K).$$

A similar process is also needed for $\|\cdot\|_{\Delta,Ar}$. Our statement and proof of Theorem A.1 also work in the archimedean case.

If K is a trivially valued field, then we set the metrics $\|\cdot\|_a$ and $\|\cdot\|_{\Delta,a}$ to be the *canonical metrics* of the line bundles. Recall that for a projective variety X over K and a line bundle L on X, the line bundle L induces a metric of itself on X^{an} by the usual way, called the *canonical metric* or the *admissible metric*; see [YZ2, §3.4.1] for example. Note that in this case, any line bundle L has a *unique* admissible metric (instead of unique up to multiplicative constants).

Let K be either a number field or the function field of one variable over a base field. With the above metrics over the complete fields, we have an adelic line bundle

$$\overline{\omega}_{C/K,a} = (\omega_{C/K}, \{\|\cdot\|_{a,v}\}_v)$$

over C, and an adelic line bundle

$$\overline{\mathcal{O}}(\Delta)_a = (\mathcal{O}(\Delta), \{\|\cdot\|_{\Delta,a,v}\}_v)$$

over C^2 .

To check the metrics are adelic, we need to check that in Theorem A.1, if C has good reduction over O_K , then the metrics $\|\cdot\|_a$ and $\|\cdot\|_{\Delta,a}$ are induced by the natural integral models $\omega_{\mathcal{C}/O_K}$ and $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{C}^2}(\Delta_{\mathcal{C}})$ of $\omega_{C/K}$ and $\mathcal{O}(\Delta)$. Here \mathcal{C} is the smooth projective model of C over O_K , and $\Delta_{\mathcal{C}}$ denotes the diagonal morphism $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{C}^2 = \mathcal{C} \times_{O_K} \mathcal{C}$. By uniqueness, it suffices to check that the induced metrics satisfy the properties of the theorem. We omit it here.

References

- [AC] E. Arbarello, M. Cornalba, The Picard groups of the moduli spaces of curves, Topology 26 (1987), no. 2, 153–171.
- [Ara] S. J. Arakelov, Intersection theory of divisors on an arithmetic surface, Math. USSR Izvest. 8 (1974), 1167–1180.
- [Ber] V.G. Berkovich, Spectral theory and analytic geometry over nonarchimedean fields, Math. Surv. Monogr. 33, American Mathematical Society, 1990.
- [Bak] M. Baker, An introduction to Berkovich analytic spaces and non-Archimedean potential theory on curves. In *p*-adic geometry, volume 45 of Univ. Lecture Ser., pages 123–174. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2008.

- [BF] M. Baker, X. Faber, Metrized graphs, Laplacian operators, and electrical networks. Quantum graphs and their applications, 15–33, Contemp. Math., 415, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2006.
- [BLR] S. Bosch, W. Lütkebohmert, M. Raynaud, Néron models, Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete (3) [Results in Mathematics and Related Areas (3)], 21. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1990.
- [Bom] E. Bombieri, The mordell conjecture revisited. Annali della Scuola Normale Superiore di Pisa-Classe di Scienze, 17(4), 615–640, 1990.
- [Bos] J.-B. Bost, Arakelov geometry of abelian varieties, Proceedings of a conference on arithmetic geometry, technical report, Max-Planck Institut für Mathematik, Bonn, 1996.
- [BV] A. Buium, J. Voloch, Lang's conjecture in characteristic *p*: an explicit bound. Compositio Math. 103 (1996), no. 1, 1–6.
- [Car] A. Carney, Arithmetic heights and dynamics over finitely generated fields, preprint, 2020.
- [CH] M. Cornalba and J. Harris, Divisor classes associated to families of stable varieties, with application to the moduli space of curves, Ann. Scient. Ec. Norm. Sup., 21 (1988), 455–475.
- [Cin1] Z. Cinkir, Zhang's conjecture and the effective Bogomolov conjecture over function fields. Invent. Math. 183 (2011), no. 3, 517–562.
- [Cin2] Z. Cinkir, Admissible invariants of genus 3 curves. Manuscripta Math. 148 (2015), no. 3-4, 317–339.
- [CL] A. Chambert-Loir, Mesures et équidistribution sur les espaces de Berkovich. J. Reine Angew. Math. 595, 215–235 (2006).
- [CLM] R. Cheng, C. Lian, T. Murayama, Projectivity of the moduli of curves. (English summary) Stacks Project Expository Collection (SPEC), 1–43, London Math. Soc. Lecture Note Ser., 480, Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 2022.
- [CHM] L. Caporaso, J. Harris, B. Mazur, Uniformity of rational points. J. Amer. Math. Soc., 10(1): 1–35, 1997.

- [dDi] T. de Diego. Points rationnels sur les familles de courbes de genre au moins 2. J. Number Theory, 67(1): 85–114, 1997.
- [dJo1] R. de Jong, Point-like limit of the hyperelliptic Zhang-Kawazumi invariant. Pure Appl. Math. Q. 11 (2015), no. 4, 633–653.
- [dJo2] R. de Jong, Néron-Tate heights of cycles on Jacobians. J. Algebraic Geom. 27 (2018), no. 2, 339–381.
- [Del] P. Deligne, Le déterminant de la cohomologie. Current trends in arithmetical algebraic geometry (Arcata, Calif., 1985), 93–177, Contemp. Math., 67, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1987.
- [DM] P. Deligne, D. Mumford, The irreducibility of the space of curves of given genus, Inst. Hautes Etudes Sci. Publ. Math. No. 36 (1969), 75–109.
- [DGH1] V. Dimitrov, Z. Gao, P. Habegger, Uniformity in Mordell-Lang for curves, Ann. of Math. (2) 194 (2021), no. 1, 237–298.
- [DGH2] V. Dimitrov, Z. Gao, P. Habegger, A consequence of the relative Bogomolov conjecture, J. Number Theory 230 (2022), 146–160.
- [Elk] R. Elkik, Métriques sur les fibrés d'intersection. Duke Math. J. 61 (1990), no. 1, 303–328.
- [Fal1] G. Faltings, Endlichkeitssätze für abelsche Varietäten über Zahlkörpern. Invent. Math. 73 (1983), no. 3, 349–366.
- [Fal2] G. Faltings, Diophantine approximation on abelian varieties. Ann. of Math. (2), 133(3), 549–576, 1991.
- [FC] G. Faltings, C. Chai, Degeneration of abelian varieties, Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete (3) [Results in Mathematics and Related Areas (3)], vol. 22, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1990. With an appendix by David Mumford.
- [Gao1] Z. Gao, Generic rank of Betti map and unlikely intersections. Compos. Math., 156 (2020), no. 12, 2469–2509.
- [Gao2] Z. Gao, Recent developments of the Uniform Mordell-Lang Conjecture, arXiv:2104.03431.

- [GH] Z. Gao, P. Habegger, Heights in Families of Abelian Varieties and the Geometric Bogomolov Conjecture, Ann. of Math., 189 (2), 527– 604, 2019.
- [GO] B. van Geemen, F. Oort, A compactification of a fine moduli space of curves. Resolution of singularities (Obergurgl, 1997), 285–298, Progr. Math., 181, Birkhäuser, Basel, 2000.
- [GR] E. Gaudron, G. Rémond, Théorème des périodes et degés minimaux d'isogénies, Comment. Math. Helv. 89 (2014), no. 2, 343–403.
- [GS] H. Gillet, C. Soulé, Arithmetic intersection theory, Publ. Math. IHES, 72 (1990), 93-174.
- [Gro] A. Grothendieck, Modèles de Néron et monodromie, in Groupes de monodromie en géometrie algébrique, SGA7 I, A. Grothendieck, ed., Lecture Notes in Math. 288, Springer, BerlinHeidelberg-New York, 1972, pp. 313–523.
- [Gub] W. Gubler, Non-archimedean canonical measures on abelian varieties, Compos.Math. 146 (2010), 683–730.
- [Hei] N. Heinz, Admissible metrics for line bundles on curves and abelian varieties over non- Archimedean local fields. Arch. Math. (Basel) 82 (2004), no. 2, 128–139.
- [Knu] F. F. Knudsen, The projectivity of the moduli space of stable curves. III. The line bundles on $M_{g,n}$ and a proof of the projectivity of $M_{g,n}$ in characteristic 0. Math. Scand. 52 (1983), no. 2, 200–212.
- [JS1] R. de Jong, F. Shokrieh, Faltings height and Néron-Tate height of a theta divisor, arXiv:1810.02637v2.
- [JS2] R. de Jong, F. Shokrieh, Jumps in the height of the Ceresa cycle, arXiv:2104.10060.
- [KR] D.J. Klein, M. Randić, Resistance distance, J. Math. Chem. 12 (1993) 81–95.
- [Kuh] L. Kühne, Equidistribution in Families of Abelian Varieties and Uniformity, arXiv:2101.10272v2.

- [Liu] Q. Liu, Algebraic geometry and arithmetic curves. Translated from the French by Reinie Erné. Oxford Graduate Texts in Mathematics,
 6. Oxford Science Publications. Oxford University Press, Oxford, 2002.
- [LMB] G. Laumon, L. Moret-Bailly, Champs algébriques. Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete. 3. Folge. A Series of Modern Surveys in Mathematics, 39. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2000.
- [LSW] N. Looper, J. Silverman, R. Wilms, A uniform quantitative Manin-Mumford theorem for curves over function fields, arXiv:2101.11593.
- [Maz] B. Mazur. Arithmetic on curves. Bulletin of the American Mathematical Society, 14(2):207–259, 1986.
- [MB] L. Moret-Bailly, Pinceaux de variét'es abéliennes. Astérisque No. 129 (1985).
- [MFK] D. Mumford, J. Fogarty, F. Kirwan, Geometric invariant theory. Third edition. Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete (2) [Results in Mathematics and Related Areas (2)], 34. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1994.
- [MG] E. Munoz Garcia, Fibrés d'intersection. Compositio Math. 124 (2000), no. 3, 219–252.
- [Mum] D. Mumford, Stability of projective varieties, L'Enseignement Math., 23 (1977), 39–110.
- [Rem] G. Rémond. Décompte dans une conjecture de Lang. Invent. Math., 142(3):513–545, 2000.
- [Ser] J. -P. Serre, Lectures on the Mordell-Weil theorem. Aspects of Mathematics, E15. Friedr. Vieweg & Sohn, Braunschweig, 1989.
- [Siu] Y. -T. Siu, An effective Mastusaka Big Theorem, Annales de l'institut Fourier, 43 no. 5 (1993), p. 1387–1405.
- [SUZ] L. Szpiro, E. Ullmo, S. Zhang, Équidistribution des petits points, Invent. Math. 127 (1997) 337–348.

- [Ull] E. Ullmo, Positivité et discrétion des points algébriques des courbes, Ann. of Math. (2), 147 (1998), 167–179.
- [Voj] P. Vojta. Siegel's theorem in the compact case. Ann. of Math. (2), 133(3), 509–548, 1991.
- [Wil1] R. Wilms, On arithmetic intersection numbers on self-products of curves, J. Algebraic Geom. 31 (2022), no. 3, 397–424.
- [Wil2] R. Wilms, Degeneration of Riemann theta functions and of the Zhang–Kawazumi invariant with applications to a uniform Bogomolov conjecture, arXiv:2101.04024.
- [Yua] X. Yuan, Big line bundles on arithmetic varieties, Invent. Math. 173 (2008), no. 3, 603–649.
- [YZ1] X. Yuan, S. Zhang, The arithmetic Hodge index theorem for adelic line bundles, Math. Ann. 367 (2017), no. 3-4, 1123–1171.
- [YZ2] X. Yuan, S. Zhang, Adelic line bundles on quasi-projective varieties, arXiv:2105.13587v5.
- [YZ3] X. Yuan, S. Zhang, The arithmetic Hodge index theorem for adelic line bundles II: finitely generated fields, preprint.
- [Zha1] S. Zhang, Admissible pairing on a curve. Invent. Math. 112 (1993), 171–193.
- [Zha2] S. Zhang, Small points and adelic metrics, J. Alg. Geometry 4 (1995), 281–300.
- [Zha3] S. Zhang, Gross-Schoen cycles and dualising sheaves. Invent. Math. 179 (2010), 1–73.